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AYRES, Ms Robyn, Chief Executive Officer, Arts Law Centre of Australia 

Evidence was taken via teleconference— 

Committee met at 10:03 

CHAIR (Senator McCarthy):  I declare open this public hearing of the Senate Select Committee on the 

Aboriginal Flag. I acknowledge the Ngunawal and Ngambri people, the traditional custodians of the land on 

which we meet here in Canberra, as well as the traditional custodians of the lands from which senators and 

witnesses are participating remotely. I pay my respects to their elders past, present and emerging. These are public 

proceedings being broadcast live via the web and in Parliament House. 

I remind witnesses that in giving evidence to the committee they are protected by parliamentary privilege. It is 

unlawful for anyone to threaten or disadvantage a witness on account of giving evidence to a committee, and such 

action may be treated by the Senate as a contempt. It is also a contempt to give false or misleading evidence to the 

committee. 

The committee prefers evidence to be given in public, but under the Senate's resolutions, witnesses have the 

right to request to be heard in confidence, described as being 'in camera'. If you are a witness today and intend to 

request to give evidence in camera, please bring this to the attention of the secretariat as soon as possible. If a 

witness objects to answering a question the witness should state the ground upon which the objection is taken, and 

the committee will determine whether it will insist on an answer, having regard to the ground which is claimed. If 

the committee determines to insist on an answer, a witness may request that the answer be given in camera. Such 

a request may, of course, also be made at any other time. Mobile phones and other electronic devices should be 

switched off or turned to silent mode. 

With the formalities over, I sincerely welcome everyone here today. In particular, I'd like to put on the public 

record a welcome to Senator Lidia Thorpe, the Victorian senator who's joining us for the first time in a public 

committee hearing. Welcome, Senator. 

Senator THORPE:  Thank you. 

CHAIR:  Our first witness today is from the Arts Law Centre. Welcome and thank you for taking the time to 

give evidence here today. Information about parliamentary privilege has been provided to you and is available 

from the secretariat. Would you like to make a brief opening statement before we go to questions? 

Ms Ayres:  Thank you. I'd like to start by acknowledging the traditional owners of the land where I'm located 

today, which is Lane Cove in Sydney, and they are the Cammeraygal people of the Eora nation, and I pay my 

respects to elders past and present. 

The Arts Law Centre welcomes the opportunity to provide evidence to this inquiry today. I thought it might be 

useful to provide you with a little bit of information about the Arts Law Centre and our background. We're the 

national community legal centre for the arts, and we've been actively protecting the rights of Aboriginal artists 

since 1983. We've also operated a dedicated service for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander artists, called Artists 

in the Black, for over 16 years. In that time we've consulted with a huge number of Aboriginal artists and 

communities across Australia. Last year alone the Arts Law Centre provided legal advice to over 900 Aboriginal 

and Torres Strait Islander artists and their organisations across the country, and we also provided 40 dedicated 

educational sessions to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander artists, and there were about 500 people who 

participated in those sessions. We also do a lot of outreach to regional and remote Australia, and last year we did 

20 such trips. Unfortunately, this year those efforts have been somewhat hampered. 

One of the subjects that we provide a great deal of education and legal advice about to both Aboriginal and 

Torres Strait Islander artists and non-Indigenous artists is copyright. What we do is help artists to understand their 

rights and encourage them to make efforts to protect what is theirs and make sure that others do that too. For 

many artists, in addition to their physical artwork, copyright may be the only asset that they own. We also explain 

how contracts work and encourage artists to use written agreements, including licensing arrangements when 

people want to reproduce their artworks. We also have a website with a huge range of educational resources—

information sheets, contract templates and those sorts of things. Last year we produced an information sheet on 

getting permission to use the Aboriginal flag because we were getting quite a lot of requests about it. We also 

recently published an article about the flag. 

It's not directly relevant but it is important that I mention the work that we've done on the Fake Art Harms 

Culture campaign. We did that in collaboration with the Indigenous Art Code and the Copyright Agency. We 

started that campaign four years ago, and a number of things were highlighted during the campaign. One was the 

need for stronger laws to protect Indigenous culture and intellectual property and the other was the extent of 



Page 2 Senate Monday, 14 September 2020 

 

ABORIGINAL FLAG SELECT COMMITTEE 

misappropriation of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander cultural expressions on a wide range of souvenir 

products like didgeridoos, boomerangs, clap sticks, ceramics and T-shirts. We estimated that 80 per cent of the 

product that was available in souvenir shops was fake. The campaign resulted in a House of Representatives 

inquiry and two private members' bills being introduced into parliament, one by Mr Bob Katter and the other by 

Senator Hanson-Young. 

One of the things that the fake art campaign highlighted was the number of unfair licensing arrangements that 

Aboriginal artists have entered into. In fact, people saw these as being just as big a problem as the fake art itself. 

That was so much so that we're currently running a campaign, or a project, to encourage artists to get advice about 

licensing arrangements before they enter into them. Another result of the campaign was that, with the spotlight 

being shone on the fake art industry, the ACCC brought action against Birubi. You're probably all aware of the 

case, because it's been in the media, but I just thought it might be worthwhile highlighting that the ACCC took 

action against the non-Indigenous company, Birubi Art Pty Ltd, for misleading and deceptive conduct and false 

and misleading representation in relation to 18,000 items of Aboriginal-style merchandise it had wholesaled but 

which were in fact made in Indonesia. 

The Federal Court ordered Birubi Art to pay a $2.3 million fine for making those misleading and false 

representations which were in breach of the Australian Consumer Law. At the same time, Birubi Art was also the 

licensee for some Aboriginal flag products. Subsequently, Birubi Art went into voluntary liquidation and the 

managing director of Birubi Art is now a director of both Gifts Mate and WAM Clothing, which have exclusive 

licenses for reproducing the Aboriginal flag on clothing and merchandise. I just thought that background was 

important. 

As an organisation which serves to protect artists' rights, we fully acknowledge and respect that the copyright 

in the design of the Aboriginal flag belongs to Mr Harold Thomas, as was determined by a Federal Court decision 

in 1997. As it is his personal property right, he is totally within his rights to decide how the copyright in the 

design is to be used or not used. This right lasts for his life, plus 70 years, after which time it will go into the 

public domain and be available for anyone to use. Given the efforts that the Arts Law Centre puts into educating 

the Australian arts community, and particularly Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander artists, it would be very 

hypocritical for us to take any other position. I also think it's worthwhile noting that the recognition of copyright 

that Aboriginal artists have in their artwork has not always been a given. It wasn't until the Carpet case in 1997 

that the Federal Court decided that it was clear that Aboriginal people did have copyright in their art, even if it 

was based on traditional designs. 

I think it's a testament to Mr Thomas's ability as an artist that he has created a design which has become such a 

powerful symbol for Aboriginal people and which has for many years united them in pride and unity. Having said 

that, it's also clear that there's a great deal of disquiet and distress about the fact that the Aboriginal flag is 

privately owned and that under our copyright laws it's not free for anyone to use as they wish—not even for 

Aboriginal people themselves or for their organisations. This issue is raised regularly by Aboriginal people 

participating in Arts Law Centre's educational workshop and, no doubt, this distress is exacerbated by the fact that 

two of the companies that Mr Thomas has given licenses to to reproduce the flag are under the control of the 

former director of Birubi Art. 

I could go on and talk about the options to resolve the situation, but you might like to ask some questions. 

CHAIR:  Yes, thank you very much. I think senators would have a lot to ask. I'll kick it off, before I go around 

to the senators. Clearly, just listening to your statement there, Ms Ayres, you still have concerns, through the Arts 

Law Centre, in terms of the campaign around fake art, about where we're at now with the Aboriginal flag. 

Ms Ayres:  I have concerns because I can see a huge distress, I suppose, and disquiet across the Aboriginal 

community about this issue. I think also, to be fair, there are many non-Indigenous people who also have concerns 

about, particularly, the lack of access. Having said that, I'm also very respectful of the artists' right to control the 

use of their copyright. 

CHAIR:  But do you think it's important for us to examine—is this a conundrum, is this a frustration, is this 

unique—where we're at with the Aboriginal flag and these concerns that you've raised? 

Ms Ayres:  I think the situation with the Aboriginal flag is very unique. I think it's very unusual to have a flag 

that's been declared a flag of Australia that is privately owned. Perhaps it's a little surprising that at that time—I 

don't know if efforts were made at that time to do something, to ensure that the flag could be used more freely 

than it is at the moment, but it is very unusual. I haven't found any other examples of a flag where it's privately 

controlled by an individual, the designer of the flag, of the image. 

CHAIR:  I might come back to questions later.  
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Senator DAVEY:  Thanks very much for your introduction, Ms Ayres, and the brief outline about the 

licensing arrangements and the copyright. As you say, it is highly unusual for an official flag to have private 

copyright ownership. Can you explain to us how that eventuated? What process occurred that saw the Aboriginal 

flag, the artwork as designed by Mr Thomas, become an official flag? 

Ms Ayres:  I'm not sure what the process was. I do know that it was declared a flag in 1995 under the Flags 

Act. I don't know what the process was that led up to that declaration being made, but that's what's happened. It's 

interesting also because it was subsequent to 1995 that Mr Thomas's case was heard, in the Federal Court, around 

the ownership of the flag. It was contested and the court found in his favour, that he was the copyright owner of 

the flag. I'm sorry, I haven't done any background research on what led to the flag becoming a declared flag in 

1995. 

Senator DAVEY:  That's fine. We'll investigate that as the inquiry proceeds. Further to that, on the issue of the 

licensing and copyright arrangements, we have seen public statements from WAM Clothing and Gifts Mate. They 

have said that where people use the image of the flag for private or personal use—so for themselves—that doesn't 

concern them. However, where it is for a commercial purpose or merchandising, that is of concern. Is that how 

you have seen things play out or have you seen instances where you believe there may be overreach of that 

image? 

Ms Ayres:  I'm only aware of the cases that have been in the media, where there have been some Aboriginal 

health organisations—who I understand will be giving evidence—who were unable to use it without paying a 

licensing fee. I don't have any insight into the private contractual arrangements that are in place, so I'm probably 

none the wiser than anyone else, apart from the people who are party to those contracts. 

Senator DAVEY:  Obviously, the licensing arrangements are commercial-in-confidence. However, WAM 

Clothing, Gifts Mate and Flagworld assert that they pay royalties to Mr Thomas, which I presume you, as the Arts 

Law Centre, think is fair and reasonable when he's the copyright holder. If the use of the image of the flag were 

open to all and sundry, how would you protect Mr Thomas's right, as the copyright holder, to those royalty 

payments? What sort of process could you put in place to ensure his rights as the artist and the copyright holder 

are protected and he is given the due value of his image? 

Ms Ayres:  I suppose it depends on the arrangement that was entered into which would enable people to freely 

use the flag. If you could negotiate an outcome with Mr Thomas and the licensees, and if it was going to be for 

the duration of the copyright—that is, Mr Thomas's life plus 70 years—you would have to consider what would 

be a fair payment for the value of the copyright for that duration. If it was to be an arrangement from now into the 

future then consideration would need to be given to what a fair payment for that would be. And I suppose, 

flowing from that, the question is: would he still retain the copyright or would it somehow be transferred to 

someone else—to the government or an appropriate body—to hold the copyright, the rights, for the rest of the life 

of the copyright? 

Senator DAVEY:  I note that, as you've said, most national flags, or official flags, are not owned by an 

individual copyright holder. The images of the Australian national flag, for example, can be reproduced and 

printed freely. How would you ensure the protection of the integrity of the image, if you didn't have a single 

copyright holder? The Australian national flag can be printed and produced anywhere and appears on all manner 

of merchandise with no control over the ownership in the countries producing that merchandise. If, 

hypothetically, we were to purchase the copyright of the Aboriginal flag, how would we ensure the integrity of 

the use of that image, going forward? 

Ms Ayres:  As I understand it, there are some guidelines, which emanate from the offices of Prime Minister 

and Cabinet, which do set out some protocols around the use of the Australian flag, the national flag. There are 

some specific requirements. You can't reproduce it with text across the flag itself. There are some controls over 

importing, from overseas, merchandise which has the flag on it. So there are definitely guidelines and protocols 

around the use of the national flag. 

It's probably worthwhile mentioning the situation with the Torres Strait Islander flag as well, because that's a 

different situation again. The flag itself came out—the design came from a competition that was run. A Torres 

Strait Islander artist, the late Mr Bernard Namok, won the competition. He designed the flag, but the rights were 

subsequently obtained by the Torres Strait Island Regional Council, and they control the rights to use the flag. 

They don't have any limitations on flying the flag, but, if anybody wants to use the flag for a commercial purpose, 

they need to get permission from the council to do that. They have some specific requirements around—and I 

think this might be for commercial and non-commercial purposes—recognising Mr Namok as the creator of the 

design in appropriate circumstances. On the integrity issue, they have some requirements around using the correct 

colours—the Pantone requirements. There's also a third requirement: prior to its use, you have to get written 
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permission from the council. So that's a different situation, because it's a recognised flag under the Flags Act, 

similar to the Aboriginal flag, but the copyright is held by the Torres Strait council. 

CHAIR:  I'll have to jump in now; sorry, Senator Davey. I'm going to move to the Greens, if that's okay, in the 

interests of time. 

Senator THORPE:  Thank you, Ms Ayres, for coming in today. I'm interested in how Aboriginal people can 

maintain control over the flag and also how we can make sure Aboriginal people benefit from any commercial use 

of it. In your view, what arrangements might be made with the copyright owner to have community control over 

any reproductions? 

Ms Ayres:  Again, I suppose it hinges on the question of whether the copyright stays with Mr Thomas or 

whether there's a view that the government wishes to acquire the copyright. In those circumstances, it could vest 

the copyright in a body, like for the Torres Strait flag, which has the council, which ensures that the flag is used 

appropriately and looks after applications to use the flag. They could make decisions about how any royalties or 

payments that are made for the use of the flag are to be used. It certainly would be possible to set up some sort of 

arrangement. I can see that it might not be very appealing for the government to hold the copyright of the 

Aboriginal flag, because it could be seen as another act of colonisation. But if it were given to a body in trust to 

ensure that the flag is used appropriately and that any payments are then applied to Aboriginal causes, you could 

definitely put in place guidelines and protocols around the use of the flag and the integrity of the flag, and an 

application process in terms of it being used. 

Senator THORPE:  I have one more question. Could the flag's licence be held by a community controlled 

organisation temporarily, and then transferred to an independent Aboriginal body, if one were established? 

[inaudible] caretaker mode, go to a community controlled organisation until such time as there is an independent 

body established, such as in the Torres Strait Islander example. 

Ms Ayres:  It depends on how it was going to be done, but I suppose it could be given an exclusive licence. 

Once you transfer the ownership of copyright to a body, basically, you've transferred the ownership. For all 

intents and purposes, an exclusive licence is like ownership of the flag because they have the control over the flag 

to the exclusion of everyone else, so I suppose it would be possible to do it that way, and you revisit that on a 

regular basis. I'd have to give that a little bit more thought about how that might be done. Certainly, you could put 

in some arrangement which would, in effect, do what you're wanting it to do. 

CHAIR:  Senator Siewert, would you like to take on the remainder of the time for the Greens? 

Senator SIEWERT:  Could I just ask what level of involvement have you had with the government on this 

issue? Have you been consulted about any thoughts on the current situation? 

Ms Ayres:  Not really, no. 

Senator SIEWERT:  What do you mean, 'Not really'? 

Ms Ayres:  Well, I have had one discussion with one official from one politician's office, but I wouldn't really 

call that a consultation. I suppose the one thing that I would say—I've already said it, but I think it is important—

is that in any of these arrangements, and I've got no idea what Mr Thomas's situation is, it's incredibly important 

that he has independent legal advice about his rights and gets that separately from anyone else who might have an 

interest in this matter. I just think that it's really important that he understands fully, separate to the interests of 

any of the licensees, about his rights and that someone is there for him, personally. 

CHAIR:  Senator Bragg—and we also have Senator O'Sullivan on the line as well. Do either of you have 

questions, or Senator Stoker?  

Senator STOKER:  You go, Senator Bragg. I'll take the next opportunity. 

Senator BRAGG:  Thank you Ms Ayers for your time and evidence today. As you've alluded to, the 

government is engaging with Mr Thomas and some of the other entities with a view to, I assume, making the flag 

more widely available. Do you have a view beyond this particular transaction, as it may be, about any other policy 

issues in this space that we should be looking at? 

Ms Ayres:  That's a very broad question. 

Senator BRAGG:  I figured that you're here now, so we should ask you. 

Ms Ayres:  I suppose the one that I mentioned right at the start of my opening statement was the issue around 

better protection of Indigenous culture and intellectual property—it's tangentially related. I do understand that the 

government said, in its response to the House of Representatives inquiry, that they were going to do a scoping 

exercise which hopefully will lead into a consultation on Indigenous culture and intellectual property laws. But 

that seems like a fairly lengthy process. And it should be a lengthy process, because there's lot of interest and it's a 
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big issue; it's important that people are properly consulted. But that doesn't get rid of all that fake, look-alike 

Aboriginal product, that's got nothing to do with Aboriginal people, that's in the market place. We've been strong 

advocates for an amendment to the Australian Consumer Law which would actually prohibit the sale and 

distribution of that fake Aboriginal style product. Government hasn't endorsed that position. I still think it's a very 

big issue because I don't think all the proposals to address this issue will actually result in getting rid of that fake 

product out of the marketplace. That's a big concern still for us. 

Senator BRAGG:  Thank you. 

CHAIR:   Senator Stoker. 

Senator STOKER:  I wanted to canvass this with you, Ms Ayres. The thing that I think is interesting about 

this is that we have a situation where this flag was given a special status by government at a point in the past. 

Why wasn't its ownership made clear at that point in time? Do you know? 

Ms Ayres:  I'm sorry; I can't answer that question. I think it's very surprising that that issue wasn't addressed at 

the time. 

Senator STOKER:  Are you aware of any circumstance before where copyright or intellectual property rights 

have been taken from an Indigenous person essentially against their will? 

Ms Ayres:  There have been examples which were not against their will. There have certainly been examples 

where it has been used without permission and that was subsequently realisation that the wrong thing was done, 

so some payment was made to remedy the situation. But the acquisition of copyright—for example, under section 

51(xxxi) of the Constitution, which does allow the acquisition of property on just terms—certainly would be 

available at least as far as copyright was concerned. I'm not sure whether that would also cover the situation for 

the licensees and whether those licences would fall within that provision of the constitution. I'm not an expert. 

Probably one of the esteemed counsel who are addressing you next might be able to answer that. It could be done, 

of course, if that was what the parliament determined was the best thing to do. 

Senator STOKER:  It is really interesting that the flag was given a special status in circumstances where no 

effort had been made for the rights of the artist responsible for producing it to be taken into account, 

acknowledged and protected in many ways. I'm interested in what you said at the start of your submission about 

the significance of the protection of intellectual property rights as often the key asset that belongs to many 

Indigenous people. How significant is it, given the prominence of Indigenous art, that that we are fully and 

meaningfully protecting their right to use their intellectual property as they wish? 

Ms Ayres:  It's an extremely important issue. The reason why we persevered with the campaign around the 

fake art is that it's an opportunity for Aboriginal people and Torres Strait Islander people across the country to 

earn an income from the work. If you've got a marketplace that's full of fake Aboriginal stuff then that's a lost 

opportunity for Aboriginal people and for us as a nation, I think, because instead of presenting authentic work, 

even on our souvenir merchandise, we've got all this stuff that is made-up Aboriginal art coming in from overseas. 

I think that is really harmful. Many Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people gave to the House of 

Representatives committee evidence about how harmful that was to them culturally. It's also obviously harmful to 

income streams. 

In terms of potential to make an income, in addition to the physical artworks that people create, the copyright is 

incredibly important and lasts for 70 years after the artist passes away. We've been working really hard to help 

artists make sure they've wills to make sure there is a proper pathway for making sure the right people get that 

copyright after the artist dies. 

Senator STOKER:  That's a really good point. I hadn't thought about the wills and estates aspect, but that's 

meaningful work. Well done. 

The final thing I might canvass with you is this. In the context of intellectual property perhaps in the scientific 

sphere, we talk about the importance of good legal protection, because it provides incentives for people to keep 

investing in work of this kind. If we fail to sufficiently protect the intellectual property of artists, including 

Indigenous artists, a subject of this inquiry, what does that do the incentives that exist for quality, culturally 

significant works to be produced and for people to keep investing in this aspect of culture into the future? 

Ms Ayres:  The copyright for artists is so important not just for visual artists but for all artists. It's a potential 

income stream. It's very hard in Australia to make a living as an artist, and yet we're all enriched every day by our 

creative communities, so any erosion of artists' rights and income streams is going to have a negative effect across 

the arts community. I think it's fundamental for artists' rights to maintain a strong system of copyright protection. 
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Senator STOKER:  You alluded to it earlier, but I want to confirm this to make sure it's clear in my mind. 

Have you spoken to the copyright holder for the Indigenous flag? 

Ms Ayres:  I couldn't even tell you if I had. I have no knowledge of those contractual arrangements between 

Mr Thomas and the licensees. 

Senator STOKER:  Beautiful. Thank you, Ms Ayres. I'll leave it there. 

CHAIR:  I will just finish up with a couple of questions to Ms Ayres to follow up on a few things that you've 

said to senators. In your answer to Senator Bragg you were talking about amendments to consumer law. I take 

you back to your opening statement, where you said that the flag has a unique place. In terms of the campaign that 

you held against fake art, in your view, when you make reference to the consume laws, are the current laws 

around it not strong enough? 

Ms Ayres:  It's my view that the current laws are not strong enough, because you can import Aboriginal-style 

art from Indonesia and, as long as you put a 'made in Indonesia' sticker on it, making it clear that it wasn't made 

by an Aboriginal artist in Australia, that's fine. That's fine under the Australian Consumer Law. The problem that 

Birubi Art had was that it misled people into believing it was made by Aboriginal Australian artists and 

craftspeople in Australia. But, as long as you're clear—it is almost like the worse it is, the better it is under the 

Australian Consumer Law. If it's really inauthentic art from Indonesia and you've made that clear then that's okay. 

As far as all of the consultation work that we've done with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people across the 

country, in their view, that's not okay. They don't want that product to be available here in Australia. 

CHAIR:  When you say it's not strong enough, that would include the penalties around fake art and the pursuit 

of those penalties? 

Ms Ayres:  There's nothing to make it illegal to import, distribute and sell the fake art in Australia as long as 

it's correctly labelled and people aren't misled. The reason it's not strong enough is that you don't have any 

specific laws which actually prohibit the sale and distribution of that product. Of course, penalties would go with 

that. I think it was great that the ACCC brought that case against Birubi, but I don't think it actually resolves the 

problem. 

CHAIR:  To Senator Stoker's reference to the 1995 acknowledgement of the Aboriginal flag and the decisions 

that were made at that time, where we are now is obviously a complex point in the life of the Aboriginal flag and, 

obviously, with respect to the creator of the flag. Do you want the government to step in to resolve this issue 

now? 

Ms Ayres:  I would love it if we had a situation where Mr Thomas's rights were respected but also where 

people were more freely able to use the flag than they are at the moment. 

CHAIR:  Would that be like other flags? You mentioned in your response to me the uniqueness of it. Would 

you like to see it brought to the same kind of use as other flags? 

Ms Ayres:  It would be great if it could at least be brought to use in the same way as perhaps the Torres Strait 

Islander flag. But I wouldn't want to ever see any denigration of Mr Thomas's rights. 

CHAIR:  Terrific. Thank you very much, Ms Ayres, for your time this morning and your evidence to the 

committee. 

Ms Ayres:  Thank you. Great to have this opportunity. 
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AOUN, Dr Fady, Private capacity 

GREEN, Mr Michael, SC, Private capacity 

HEEREY, Mr Edward (Ed), QC, Private capacity 

McCUTCHEON, Associate Professor Jani, Private capacity 

ST JOHN, Ms Frances, Private capacity 

WEATHERALL, Professor Kimberlee, Private capacity 

Evidence from Dr Aoun, Mr Heerey, Associate Professor McCutcheon, Ms St John and Professor Weatherall 

was taken via teleconference— 

[10:45] 

CHAIR:  Welcome. Thank you all for taking the time to give evidence today. Information on parliamentary 

privilege has been provided to you and is available from the secretariat. I invite each of you to make a brief 

opening statement before I go to questions from senators. I might start with you, Professor Weatherall. 

Prof. Weatherall:  Thank you for the opportunity to present to the committee. I would like to make a brief 

statement, if that is okay. I assume I should go ahead now. 

CHAIR:  Yes. I will just ask everyone to keep it brief. As you can see, we've got quite a lot of senators who 

want to ask a lot of questions. Sorry, Professor, go ahead. 

Prof. Weatherall:  That's fine. I don't have a lot to say at the start. I'm a copyright expert. The issues before the 

committee are not especially complex in copyright, complex as they might be across every other dimension. I 

think it's really important to be quite precise about what copyright law does and doesn't do, in the circumstance. 

Copyright is one of those things that is often poorly understood in the broader community. It is confined to giving 

copyright owners specific exclusive rights to reproduce and communicate their works. In this case, copyright law 

does direct that people can't make new copies in material form—for example, incorporating the image into 

clothing, jewellery or flags, or making new flags—without permission from the owner. Importantly, copyright 

does not prevent people from waving flags, draping themselves in flags or carrying flags at protests. It doesn't 

prevent people from using the three colours of red, black and yellow in other configurations that don't look like 

the flag. 

I will make the comment—I'm sure it's obvious already, and obvious in the evidence that Ms Ayres has 

given—that copyright is an entirely inadequate and inappropriate system for addressing the competing interests 

here. Indigenous organisations and advocates have long known that copyright law provides a poor vehicle for 

addressing Indigenous culture. More generally, copyright law is extremely poorly formulated to recognise or 

accommodate deep attachments people might have to something like the flag or other important symbols. 

Copyright law imposes very few real obligations or responsibilities on the owner of copyright and how they 

choose to exercise their rights, no matter how important or symbolic the object is. There is no general observation 

under the act that licences have to be reasonable, fair or freely offered to anyone who wants them. The copyright 

exceptions don't give people the right to use symbols simply because they're important or for their meaning. 

I suspect solutions to the current dilemmas are going to need to be found beyond copyright law and beyond my 

expertise. But I will say one thing: whoever is crafting a solution to the current dilemma needs to be mindful of 

certain key features of copyright. One feature is its extraordinarily long duration, given that copyright will exist 

for as long as Mr Thomas is alive and 70 years beyond. Any solution needs to work with that term in mind. With 

that, I indicate I'm open to receiving any questions from the committee. 

CHAIR:  Thank you very much. Mr Green, would you like to go next? 

Mr Green:  Thank you for the opportunity to contribute to this important discussion. I'm a barrister. I practise 

in intellectual property and other areas of the New South Wales bar, but I appear today in a personal capacity 

seeking to help the committee's deliberations on this important topic. 

As Professor Weatherall said, the problem is not one of copyright but a more difficult question of cultural 

appropriation. Although the solution needs to take into account copyright considerations, of course the challenges 

are much wider. For the committee's benefit, there was a useful PhD written at the University of Sydney—I will 

provide these details to the committee secretary—by Dr Galloas in 2017 that talks about the history of the flag as 

art and as a cultural symbol. I found that very useful in thinking about the dimensions of the flag. 

The second aspect in answering the committee's question is that it was former Prime Minister Keating who, in 

1995, sought to give effect to what was said to be the unanimous recommendation of the Council for Aboriginal 
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Reconciliation. That led to the inclusion of the flag as declared under the Flags Act, and then it was declared later. 

The question of Mr Thomas's ownership of the flag was determined by the Federal Court, by Justice Sheppard, in 

a decision of 9 April 1997; I will send a copy of that to the committee secretary as well. That detailed in many 

ways a history of the flag and the background to Mr Thomas's own struggle and the struggle of other Indigenous 

peoples in Australia, and entailed the challenges by others to the flag. So it was fair to say at the time that the 

former Prime Minister had declared that the question of ownership of the flag had not been determined, but of 

course it now has been determined. 

Lastly, the reason the Thomas v Brown decision came to be was that Justice Sheppard was the president of the 

Copyright Tribunal, and Mr Thomas had foreshadowed that he wished to bring proceedings before the Copyright 

Tribunal, but, as far as I can tell, those proceedings never took place. The proceedings in the Copyright Tribunal 

were to seek to obtain remuneration for use by the government of the art work comprising the flag. That's what I 

wish to say in opening. 

CHAIR:  Thank you, Mr Green. Ms St John, I understand you and Mr Heerey are appearing together. Would 

you like to provide a statement to the committee before we go to questions? 

Mr Heerey:  Yes, very briefly, just to explain who we are. We are both barristers. Like Mr Green, we both 

specialise in intellectual property. I would start by endorsing everything that Professor Weatherall said—I think 

that is a very useful background to the situation—and I would also endorse Mr Green's comments. 

Copyright law is probably an inappropriate framework to protect a design which is thought to be used by the 

Aboriginal population as a whole to represent them and their aspirations. That seems to be the crux of the problem 

we have, where traditional copyright law protects [inaudible]. There are a number of people who identify with 

this particular artwork, which is used to represent the aspirations as a group. That seems to be the crux of the 

problem. Copyright law on many occasions tries to provide exceptions and exclusions to the available public use 

of private copyright, but, as Professor Weatherall pointed out, those exceptions are generally piecemeal and 

operate against a background where copyright has this extraordinarily long duration. These are issues that might 

need to be taken into account. One idea that we would raise and that ought to be considered is that sometimes you 

have certain copyright works which receive special legislative treatment. For example, in 1987 there was the 

Olympic Insignia Protection Act. That act, as a piece of legislation, has its own problems. We don't recommend it 

as a model that you would copy, but it's an example of how sometimes there is a certain type of artistic work 

which doesn't fit neatly into the copyright paradigm, and they deserve special treatment so that the people 

interested in using that art work can deploy it. I'll throw to Ms St John for any further comments. 

Ms St John:  I second that. What we have in mind is that the legislature needn't feel itself shackled on 

copyright in thinking of ways to deal with this particular situation. There are issues that come up—social, cultural 

and economic in that process [inaudible]. It will be very different [inaudible] of artistic works that can be treated 

primarily under copyright law. Our point [inaudible]. 

CHAIR:  Thank you. I might go to Associate Professor McCutcheon next, please.  

Prof. McCutcheon:  Thank you very much for the opportunity to participate in the hearing. I was basically 

going to say pretty much what Professor Weatherall said. She's appropriated my opening statement, and I'm very 

grateful to her! I wanted to stress that copyright is just one piece of the puzzle here. Contract law has a major part 

to play in this. Any push to free the flag, in copyright speak, would demand an augmentation of the list of fair 

dealings that we currently entertain under the Copyright Act—something like a fair dealing for cultural 

expression, or something like that. But, of course, that will always have a corresponding effect on Mr Thomas's 

rights, because what he was able to demand monetary compensation for he no longer will be, once that new 

exception comes into place. So any augmentation of the list of fair-dealing exceptions would need to be carefully 

thought through and would have serious implications for the rights of the licensees as well. There are also, 

arguably, some constitutional issues which might need to be carefully considered if we start talking about 

compulsory acquisition of either the copyright or even if we introduce some legislative changes which would 

have the effect of annihilating the contractual rights that the licensees might have under their licences. So 

copyright's a tiny piece of the puzzle. It kind of causes the problems, in the ways that we're all aware of as a result 

of this, but whether it can solve the problem is another question entirely. That's really all I want to say. I also want 

to clarify that I do appear here in my personal capacity. Although I'm an associate professor at the University of 

Western Australia Law School, I'm not speaking on their behalf. I'm happy to answer any questions.  

CHAIR:  Thank you very much. I will go now to Dr Fady Aoun. 

Dr Aoun:  I am pleased to address the Senate on this very important matter. At the risk of repetition—I don't 

want to add to the repetition—further to what my colleagues Professor Weatherall and Jani McCutcheon have 
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said, this issue transcends copyright issues. It goes to social, political and moral issues. By way of an opening 

statement, I will say that any comments or responses to questions asked of me I offer with humility. I recognise 

I'm a non-Indigenous person speaking on very important matters that affect Indigenous peoples. The voices of 

Indigenous people should be paramount and, in particular, the voice of Harold Thomas, who is the creator, author 

and owner of the flag and thus entitled to exploit it in a way he sees fit. I understand that a flag goes well beyond 

and transcends the notion of an artistic work. For Harold Thomas, it is an extension of his cultural expression as a 

proud Luritja and Wambaya man. We will no doubt learn about the granularity of copyright law and the 

complications with exclusive licenses and so on. As I've said, that's the vehicle we have to deal with, but I'm also 

cognisant that there are broader sociopolitical issues which need to be addressed. Many may be in favour of 

freeing the flag, but I'm just conscious that we avoid any instance where it seems that we're fleecing the flag and 

that it may be viewed as a form of colonisation. 

CHAIR:  Thank you. I will now go to our senators for questions. Senator Dodson. 

Senator DODSON:  It's a bit hard to hear some of the presenters, but thanks very much for their contributions. 

My question will probably be open to any of the professors to answer. I must declare that I was the chair of the 

reconciliation council that wrote to Prime Minister Keating at the time seeking the registration of the flag under 

the Flags Act. I say that at the start. The question that follows from there is: what impact, if any, did that 

registration have on Mr Thomas's commercial rights or any other rights? 

Prof. Weatherall:  My understanding is that declaring it an official flag of Australia had zero impact on 

ownership rights, as is certainly indicated by Justice Sheppard's decision which followed from that. In fact, as I 

understand it from reading Justice Sheppard's decision in 1997, one of the reasons why Mr Thomas came forward 

and asserted his copyright was because of that official declaration as a flag. I think he was concerned about the 

impact that would have and did see it as some kind of imposition on his rights as the original creator. But, in 

terms of formal legal impact, it didn't have an impact. I should note that Justice Sheppard was president of the 

Copyright Tribunal and was an outstanding copyright and intellectual property judge and wrote a very careful 

decision in the Harold Thomas case. That's all I really had to say on that. 

Senator DODSON:  And in relation to his capacity to contract his right? 

Prof. Weatherall:  Just to follow up, no, it wouldn't have had any impact on that. His right to form contracts 

and exclusive licences flows from his copyright ownership, which, as I said, was unaffected by that declaration. 

Senator DODSON:  Can you give us a clear understanding of what rights Mr Thomas holds, under law, 

currently? 

Prof. Weatherall:  Certainly. Mr Thomas is the copyright owner of the flag. That means he holds the 

exclusive rights of the copyright owner. He has the exclusive right to make copies, in material form, of the flag—

make new flags or incorporate the flag into clothing, for example. He has the exclusive right to communicate that 

flag to the public—he has the exclusive right to, say, put it on a website—and there are a couple of other rights. 

But they're the key ones that come for a copyright owner.  

There are very important qualifications on that. There are exceptions in copyright. There are exceptions, for 

example, for reporting news. When the news shows films of the flag, that's no difficulty. Fair dealing for news is 

fine. There's fair dealing for parody or satire. There's fair dealing for criticism or review or for research. So there 

are many circumstances where people still can make copies of the flag. There's no specific exception for political 

speech. There's no specific exception for, 'This is an important symbol to me,' but there are some exceptions. As I 

said in my introduction, the other thing that's really important to appreciate is that it doesn't mean that he has 

exclusive rights to deal with those copies of the flag once they are made. He doesn't have control over flags that 

have been made with permission. So people can drape themselves in flags, wave flags, all of those things. It's the 

making of the new copies that is impacted by copyright.  

The other thing I would say is that as the owner of copyright he does have the right to give others permission to 

do these things. As I understand it, he has given exclusive licences to certain companies for certain kinds of 

uses—making flags, putting the flag on clothing. I hope that helps. I'll stop there in case there are other questions. 

Senator DODSON:  That was very helpful. If there's a scenario where the federal government could negotiate 

and arrive at an accommodation with Mr Thomas's interests, the nature of that negotiation is what will determine 

his future rights, is it not? 

Prof. Weatherall:  Yes, that is correct—subject, I should say, to any agreements that he's already made with 

the exclusive licensees. I haven't seen those agreements and I'm not clear on the terms. As Jani McCutcheon 

mentioned, it is possible for the Commonwealth to either acquire copyright or, potentially, buy out the exclusive 

licensees. At the moment, the Commonwealth could certainly negotiate with Mr Thomas, reach an agreement, 
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whether that was a licence or some other kind of arrangement, a voluntary agreement. Then there are the perhaps 

less-voluntary options, which I think we'd all be very concerned about, things like acquisition or buying out of the 

exclusive licensees. 

Senator DODSON:  Are there options available to Mr Thomas to maintain his rights yet the flag could be used 

freely by others? 

CHAIR:  Professor McCutcheon, I'll go to you. 

Prof. McCutcheon:  Thanks. Yes, this is the very difficult tension that needs to be mediated here, and in some 

respects it might be very difficult to solve the problem. The maintenance of his rights would require him to retain 

the copyright that he owns and the exclusive rights that attach to that copyright. On the other hand, you want—

and I think that the words you used were something along these lines—Australians to be able to use the flag 

freely. As I mentioned in my opening statement, there is an inherent contradiction there. If we free up use of the 

flag we are effectively taking away or reducing Mr Thomas's rights. So these exceptions that Professor Weatherall 

and I have been talking about are the so-called 'fair dealing' exceptions. If you can satisfy the conditions of the 

exception—and I remind everyone that they are 'fair' dealings, so you need to identify the focus that you're 

arguing your use falls under; it might be reporting news, it might be for [inaudible] review or it might be for 

comedy or satire—there is also an overlaying requirement that the purpose be fair. 

There is very poor case law in Australia about what that means—when something will be fair or not. Arguably, 

we need a bit more judicial guidance on that. For example, excessive commercial use might take it out of the 

boundaries of fair use but, again, it also depends on the particular purpose. So if we want to allow Mr Thomas to 

retain his rights, yes, we don't wrench his copyright from him; but if we introduce, say, a new fair-dealing 

exception for the purposes of cultural expression we are effectively reducing his rights, because what he used to 

be able to claim a licence fee for would then be for free use by the Australian community. I think that if we were 

to introduce something like that we would have to think carefully about the nature of that exception. My argument 

would be that it wouldn't really be enough to respect Mr Thomas's existing rights; it would reduce his income 

stream. 

My argument would be that we would actually need to look at this much more holistically and to craft some 

kind of bespoke scheme after sitting down and talking to all of the stakeholders. You can already tell that this is 

going to be a big deal and a difficult process. But, hopefully, smart people with good intentions should be able to 

mediate a fair outcome. But that process would need to start, there would need to be willing participants in that 

process and careful consideration of their very complex interests. I hope that helps. 

CHAIR:  Thanks, Professor. I'll quickly go to Mr Michael Green, who Senator Dodson would also like to 

answer that question. 

Mr Green:  You can slice copyright in a number of ways. It's possible for copyright to be granted in respect of 

various specific acts, not in the general sense. If Mr Thomas wanted to do this, and it's really a matter for him to 

do this, and if he could do it having regard to the other agreements that he has with other holders that he has 

granted licenses to, it would be possible for the Commonwealth to do something to create a licence in relation to 

reproducing the flag as a flag, or to broadcast images of the flag as a flag. So it's possible, without the need to 

create new categories of copyright concepts or bespoke systems, to adapt the grant to quite a specific grant. 

Again, it entails a conversation that needs to be had with the owner, Mr Thomas, and to respect his wishes, but it's 

possible to do it in that way without need to go through some heavy-handed creation of a new law and the like. 

But it does require a negotiation and, as the other speakers have mentioned, it does require some awareness of the 

existing arrangements in place. If a copyright owner has granted a licence to someone else exclusively, they can't 

retract that licence without, of course, breaching that exclusive licence, and that can be a difficulty as well. So it 

needs careful thought and it needs to have the participation of all those that may have an interest, including those 

to whom Mr Thomas has granted licences already. But it's possible to do something quite specifically, and you 

can divide copyright by location or all other manner of things within the Commonwealth. 

CHAIR:  Thank you, Mr Green. Professor Weatherall, did you want to add something there? I thought I saw 

your hand up. 

Prof. Weatherall:  Yes, very quickly. I was basically going to say what Michael Green said, so thank you. But 

I will say that it's not uncommon these days for copyright works to be placed under an open licence, where people 

are given permission by the copyright owner to do certain things without having to actively come and ask the 

copyright owner. Creative commons licences are an example of that. There are other examples of open licences, 

and I can send some examples to the committee if that would help. So it would be possible, subject to the 

exclusive licences that currently exist, for Mr Thomas to choose to say to people generally, 'These are the things 
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that it's okay to do,' and to publish that and give that permission without having to have everyone come and speak 

to him every time, if he so chose. 

CHAIR:  Thank you, Professor. Senator Bragg? 

Senator BRAGG:  I have one question on context and one question on where to go from here. I have to say 

that I was surprised to learn—perhaps I'm showing my naivety here—that this significant national symbol wasn't 

held by the Commonwealth and wasn't made available to everyone in every context. I think it is accurate to say 

that the flag can be used by people but can't be used for commercial purposes. But it seems to me—I wanted to 

get your views on the record on this—that Mr Thomas has done the right thing, hasn't he? He's an Indigenous 

artist, he's created a flag which a wide variety of people in our community think is very important, and so he has 

sought and been able to establish that he is the owner of the copyright. He's done the right thing, hasn't he? 

CHAIR:  Mr Heerey, I saw your hand come up at the last minute. Would you like to respond to this question 

by Senator Bragg and add any other thought to the previous question? 

Mr Heerey:  Yes. It goes back to what Senator Dodson was asking as well. On the one hand, we certainly have 

the copyright interests held by Mr Thomas as an individual, but, weighing against that, we also have the 

recognition of an implied constitutional right of political communication. I'm interested—I think Senator Dodson 

and others with background and experience in the Indigenous community want to take into account and bring into 

this debate what it is that Indigenous people seek to communicate by their use of this flag, because those rights 

are relevant and ought to be taken into account. They have really a different legal source which is quite 

independent of copyright. As legislators, I encourage all senators to consider that aspect of it as well. Ms St John 

wishes to add something as well. 

Ms St John:  To your point that Mr Thomas did the right thing, absolutely. There's no suggestion Mr Thomas 

has done something wrong. It seems to me as though he designed the flag as a flag, to be used as a flag. I 

[inaudible] Mr Thomas, but it seems to me that his intention was [inaudible] which is the value of the flag to 

Aboriginal people, used by [inaudible]. So although there are questions now about his private rights in the flag. I 

think one would say [inaudible] I would say that this is exactly the situation that a flag designer would have hoped 

to create when designing a flag, to have that flag become [inaudible] 

Senator BRAGG:  I'm finding this very hard to hear, sorry. 

CHAIR:  I'm sorry, Ms St John, we're having a lot of trouble hearing you, unfortunately. I'm not sure why. 

Ms St John:  Could you hear Mr Heerey better than me? 

CHAIR:  Yes, we could. 

Ms St John:  Maybe you could speak for me. Your voice must carry better. 

Mr Heerey:  Very briefly, what Ms St John was trying to communicate is that this particular design was 

designed to be used by many people across the Indigenous community to represent their common aspirations. So 

to that extent, while, as a copyright owner, Mr Thomas has certain rights, looking at it from another angle, he has 

achieved what he set out to achieve at the outset, which was to create a flag which would be embraced by many 

people and used by many people to represent their common membership of that community. That's another way to 

look at it, which provides a different perspective from his individual position. 

CHAIR:  Thank you, Mr Heerey. I'll go to Dr Aoun. 

Dr Aoun:  In response to Senator Bragg's question, Mr Thomas absolutely has done the right thing. It's worth 

pointing out that, very early on, he allowed various Indigenous organisations, such as legal organisations and 

medical organisations servicing Indigenous people to have free access to the flag, and to a large extent that 

continues to this day. He is recognised as the author and owner of the flag, and thus he's entitled to exploit the 

commercial interests that adhere in that work. It's also worth pointing out that he's very concerned about ensuring 

that the flag is treated in a respectful manner, that the integrity of the flag is maintained and that if anything is to 

be considered in terms of acquiring the flag, setting up a regime similar to the Torres Strait Island Regional 

Council trust arrangement, then Mr Thomas should have a say in that, perhaps sit on any council, and set out the 

parameters in which the flag can be used more generally. 

Senator BRAGG:  Thank you very much. Did you want to jump in Professor McCutcheon? 

Prof. McCutcheon:  I just want to say a couple of brief things about the idea of an implied licence. It is 

arguable that because he created it for the purposes of function as a flag or a symbol he impliedly licensed uses to 

that effect and for that purpose, but implied licences can also be revoked pretty reasonably. I think that's what he's 

done through his court case and his subsequent legitimate behaviour in exploiting his exclusive rights. 
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Senator BRAGG:  In terms of establishing that Mr Thomas is an Indigenous man who's established his rights 

under Australian law, and having done the right thing, as you would know, there are discussions happening 

between the National Indigenous Australians Agency and Mr Thomas and other parties. Given that you're aware 

of this, my question to this group, drawing on your extensive legal and commercial experience is: how can this 

particular process help Mr Thomas? 

CHAIR:  Who would like to go first? Can I see any hands up? Professor McCutcheon? 

Prof. McCutcheon:  I think both Kimberley and I made the comment at the beginning that this is a tiny piece 

of the puzzle, and to a certain extent, no, this actually can't solve the problem that we're addressing the problem at 

the moment. I reiterate that it's going to take willing people with an objective of fairness to sit down and nut this 

out and unravel the complex constitutional, contractual and copyright issues as a result of that. But I think that 

this session can certainly help in explaining some of the perhaps more complex copyright issues and even some of 

the broader commercial issues. Sorry, if that's maybe not the answer that you'd like to hear. 

CHAIR:  Is there anyone else who would like to answer that question?  

Ms St John:  What I was going to say, when you're thinking about Mr Thomas, Mr Thomas actually, as the 

law is currently, is in the driver's seat. He's the copyright owner. He has the exclusive right to control and to 

monetise [inaudible]. I would respectfully suggest that what needs to be developed is other people's right to use 

this flag and to express themselves using the flag. At the moment, Mr Thomas is completely in control of this. I 

don't say that critically; that's the way the Copyright Act is. But I think the process needs to think about how to 

mediate Mr Thomas's interests and the interests of other people who want to use this flag for other purposes. 

Senator THORPE:  Can you outline any precedents or examples from other jurisdictions where First Nations 

people hold the ownership and control over their flag or other key symbols without government or colonial 

control? 

Dr Aoun:  In a different species of intellectual property, Maori people in New Zealand are entitled to make 

recommendations against the registrations of any Maori symbols that reference Maori culture or beliefs. So they 

have a positive role to play in the registration of trademark, which again is a separate species of intellectual 

property. But there are certainly precedents, and one could draw inspiration from those kinds of models. 

Senator THORPE:  Finally, we've heard in the opening statements that white law in Australia, the copyright 

laws, is not set up in a way that can resolve the issues we are seeing now with the Aboriginal flag. Do you think 

there is any way to meaningfully involve grassroots Aboriginal views and ensure Aboriginal community control 

when copyright is involved in this way? 

Mr Heerey:  I would say that that's exactly what needs to happen and, as senators, I would encourage this 

committee to obtain the views of as many Indigenous people and Indigenous groups as possible so that you can 

have the benefit of their input. Because, ultimately, copyright, makes exceptions and seeks to address specific acts 

that might be permitted, as Mr Green, Professor McCutcheon and Professor Weatherall mentioned. What are the 

acts that really matter to Indigenous groups? What uses do they wish to preserve and not have monopolised 

against them? Absolutely, they have a role to play. They are the most important stakeholders in this issue. 

Prof. McCutcheon:  I was really about to say something very similar, so there's no point in repetition. 

Senator DAVEY:  As Professor Weatherall has said, the copyright does not preclude people from using the 

flag as a symbol, from waving the flag or from flying the flag. Once duly purchased, they can use it. 

Notwithstanding that, what it prevents is the on-selling of imagery or commercialisation—putting it on 

merchandise and selling it—without paying due royalties to the copyright holder. Or, if he's given a licence to 

people, and then when they sell the merchandise, on my understanding, royalties are paid recognising his 

ownership of the copyright. What sort of precedent may it set for Indigenous artists and owners of copyright, if 

the government were to step in to expunge the copyright of the Aboriginal flag to free up its use more entirely? I 

have concerns about the precedent we may be setting for other Indigenous artists or other owners of symbolic 

copyright. 

Prof. Weatherall:  Because it's come up a few times, I think it's important to emphasise that copyright law 

gives the copyright owner the exclusive right to make copies, whether that is commercial or non-commercial. Just 

to make sure that we're all on the same page: even if I were making a flag at home with material, on my own 

sewing machine, that would still fall within the copyright owner's exclusive rights—just so that we're really clear 

about that. Once the copy is made, then waving it around, or draping it around yourself or whatever you want to 

do with it, is outside the copyright owner's control, subject to moral rights, which are an important qualification 

on that. 
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But your question was specifically directed to the precedent. I think we heard from all of the members of the 

panel today that there's there is genuine concern on all of our parts about the idea of, effectively, expropriating or 

removing copyright—appropriating Indigenous property. That is absolutely, undoubtedly a bad precedent. And I 

think what you're hearing from every member of the panel is what everyone wants to see is some sort of deal, 

effectively—an agreement that, as was mentioned before, appropriately recognises that there are a lot of people 

with interests in the flag. Because of the nature of the way it has been used and the way it has developed as a 

symbol, there are other people with other interests. He's not the only one with an interest in the flag. Ideally, what 

you need to find is some sort of accommodation of all of that. Michael Green has emphasised this: there are ways 

of splitting up copyright and licensing in it so that everyone can have some sort of piece of the pie. You can 

separate rights of control from rights of remuneration and have remuneration without the right to give permission. 

You could have Mr Thomas set out what are the things that he will freely permit without having to have people 

ask for permission. So there are ways of doing this. Copyright is a very flexible instrument. But appropriation 

would be problematic. 

Senator DAVEY:  But, as I think you've said before, Professor Weatherall, there is nothing stopping Mr 

Thomas doing that as is. It does not require government intervention for that to happen. Mr Thomas is the sole 

arbiter—it's up to him as the copyright holder how he chooses to use that copyright and whether he wants to split 

it up or whether he wants to license it. 

Prof. Weatherall:  Yes, subject to two things. One is, he has granted some exclusive licences. We haven't seen 

the terms of those. I don't know what implications it would have if he did want to, say, change the way that people 

can use the flag or reproduce the flag under those agreements. I can't comment on that, because I haven't seen the 

agreements. Again, second, he's not the only one with an interest. So, at the moment, as it was put earlier, he's in 

the driver's seat. Yes, he gets to decide how it's used. As a general conversation amongst all sorts of Indigenous 

people and government, there's a question about how we resolve everyone else's interests as well as his. But I take 

your point about how appropriation is hopefully not the answer. I don't think anyone wants that to be the answer. 

Prof. McCutcheon:  I wanted to make the point that there has been some discussion about sending the flag 

into the public domain, which means, basically, once you strip it of its copyright, it enters the public domain and 

then everyone in the world can do whatever they want with it. Even moral rights would evaporate then too, 

because moral rights are conditioned on copyright still being in existence. We have to ask seriously whether we 

want that. Copyright, as we've seen just because we're having this conversation now, is a very robust property 

right that gives the copyright owner powerful tools to control what happens in certain defined circumstances with 

that copyrighted work. If you send it into the public domain, that evaporates completely, and I'm not sure that we 

want a scenario where there is no longer any control over what happens to this important symbol. We can all 

think of horrible things that might be done in relation to it that would be incredibly harmful to a number of 

interests here, so I don't think that's the answer either. 

Mr Heerey:  There is one answer to this. This committee is considering only one design: the Aboriginal flag 

design. We can draw a very clear line between that particular design and all other Aboriginal artworks. Clearly, 

the question of cultural appropriation of other Aboriginal artworks would be a very serious question, but I think 

that we can satisfy ourselves that what we're talking about today is only the Aboriginal flag, and the specific 

regime that you might envisage for that particular design need not have any consequences at all for other 

Aboriginal artworks. They will retain their copyright, and the artists will retain their position under the Copyright 

Act. I think probably the best answer to your question, Senator Davey, is that whatever decisions are made in this 

committee they will only deal with that one design, and it can be made perfectly clear that copyright entitlement 

for all other Indigenous artists remains entirely unaffected for their artworks. 

Senator DAVEY:  We are specifically talking about the Aboriginal flag in this instance, but, if we did 

anything at the moment to undermine the rights of the copyright holder for that artwork based on, as I think 

you've said, symbols of great public interest, it may set a framework for a future claim against a future artist of 

some piece of work that may also become highly symbolic and have a level of public interest around it. I know I 

might be clutching at straws and hypotheticals, but it does set a legal precedent—or it may. 

Mr Heerey:  Yes, theoretically. The reason we've got to this debate where we are now is that this is one design 

that has been embraced by many as a flag that represents the Indigenous community directly. As a flag it is a 

special [inaudible] of representation. 

Senator DAVEY:  I have one final question to Mr Green. He raised in his opening statement the fact that the 

flag had been in use for many years prior to 1995 when it was declared an official flag. Mr Green said it was on 

the recommendation of the council for reconciliation. I'm wondering, Mr Green, if you're aware whether that 
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council had discussions with Mr Thomas or did any work to ascertain the authorship of the flag prior to that 

recommendation. 

Mr Green:  When I was preparing for today, I did some research. As I said in my opening remarks, I found 

that there was a PhD thesis by Dr Mathieu Gallois at the University of Sydney. His thesis very carefully records 

the history of the flag as art and as cultural property, and, of course, as copyright property. It deals with that 

whole complex interplay between those different themes. I, of course, don't speak for Mr Thomas, but, from what 

was said there, one of the appendices to that thesis is an interview on Koori Radio with Mr Thomas. The author of 

the thesis uses that to work out Mr Thomas's intentions and also spoke with Mr Thomas at some length when he 

visited him at Humpty Doo. It's fair to say that I think Mr Thomas is a little bit ambivalent about the popularity of 

the flag, according to this thesis. But I think he's tried to navigate that, from what is said in the thesis. I speak, of 

course, second-hand. 

The thesis itself, I think, is a very useful starting point. It talks about the importance of symbolism and, of 

course, of the very fact that declaring the flag in the first place was seen by some as a form of cultural 

appropriation. A flag that was seen as a flag of struggle was then appropriated under the Flags Act, and that was 

seen as a potentially undesirable thing by some. But it shows how the flag engages, and it shows how symbols are 

important in our community. As all the other speakers have said, it's very important to disentangle a copyright 

problem from a wider social problem and a wider symbolic problem—and there are different answers to each of 

those questions. 

CHAIR:  Thank you, Mr Green. I'm going to go to Senator Siewert for the last question to complete the panel 

discussion. 

Senator SIEWERT:  Professor Weatherall, I think it was you who spoke about this, but excuse me if I get this 

wrong, because you've all made really interesting comments. I want to follow up the issue around the existing 

agreement that's been signed with WAM, for example, and others. You made the comment that, with any 

differing arrangements, you'd have to look at what the existing arrangements are. In what respect could it affect 

any future decision-making? My understanding is that—I've got to admit that I don't know all the details from a 

legal perspective—at one stage, ATSIC had permission to use the flag as well. I'm wondering if anybody has had 

a look at that. 

Prof. Weatherall:  Thank you for the question. I'll preface this by saying that I'm not a constitutional expert, 

by any stretch of the imagination. But the short point is: the exclusive licensees have contractual rights, and those 

contractual rights have value. So any move by Mr Thomas to change the nature of that agreement would be a 

breach of that agreement and would have implications for him. If the Commonwealth were to wish to acquire or 

change the arrangements, I understand it would be under obligations to compensate. That's the basic point that it 

references there. I'm afraid you broke up, at least at my end, when you said there was an agreement with 

'someone'— 

Senator SIEWERT:  The old ATSIC. 

Prof. Weatherall:  Right. I'm not aware of the terms of any such agreement. As a number of the speakers have 

said, various people have been given permission at various times. If Mr Thomas had given permission to someone 

to use the flag without them entering into a contract or paying royalties or the like, that would be what is known 

as a bare licence. Bare licences are fine. Any use under a bare licence is not an infringement of copyright, but a 

bare licence can be revoked at any time. If there had been a bare licence in existence, it could well have been 

revoked by subsequent conduct. With these sorts of things, you always have to investigate the particular facts. 

CHAIR:  Thank you, Professor. 

Senator SIEWERT:  Chair, could I ask a question on notice. Following up what you said about what would 

happen if the Commonwealth made moves to acquire the flag or change the agreement with WAM, what would 

happen if Mr Thomas chose to change the agreement? Would payment still be required? If that's complicated, 

maybe take it on notice. 

Prof. Weatherall:  I can tell you: I won't be able to answer that, because it would depend entirely on the terms 

of the contract. 

Senator SIEWERT:  Fair point, thank you. 

CHAIR:  Professor Weatherall, Professor McCutcheon, Dr Aoun, Mr Green, Mr Heerey and Ms St John, 

thank you all for your time this morning in joining the senators and giving us a better understanding of copyright 

and other issues. Can I just add that, if you, Professor Weatherall, or any of you, wish to respond to Senator 

Siewert's question on notice in more detail, you have until 18 September to lodge any written response. Thank 

you very much for your time.   
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MOORE, Ms Semele, Director, WAM Clothing 

WOOSTER, Mr Benjamin, Director, WAM Clothing; and Director, Gifts Mate Pty Ltd 

Evidence was taken via teleconference—  

[11:47] 

CHAIR:  I welcome representatives from WAM Clothing and Gifts Mate Pty Ltd, who are giving evidence via 

teleconference. Thank you for taking the time to give evidence today. Information on parliamentary privilege has 

been provided to you and is available from the secretariat. The committee has received your submissions as 

submission Nos 2 and 3 respectively. If you wish to make any corrections, please let us know this morning. I 

invite you to make an opening statement. 

Ms Moore:  Thank you for the invitation to provide submissions to the Select Committee on the Aboriginal 

Flag. This submission is on behalf of WAM Clothing, Benjamin Wooster and me. WAM Clothing is controlled 

by directors Benjamin Wooster and me. Ben and I are both passionate supporters of the Aboriginal flag and 

recognise the unique unifying effect of the flag for all Australians.  

WAM Clothing is the exclusive licensee for a range of clothing and apparel, towels, and digital and physical 

media products featuring the Aboriginal flag, but it's pursuant to licence agreements granted by the copyright 

owner and artist who designed the flag, being Mr Harold Thomas, and those agreements are for an agreed period 

of time. WAM Clothing paid licence fees and pays ongoing royalties to Harold in accordance with the terms of 

our confidential licence agreement. As is intended by Harold, the Aboriginal flag may presently be freely flown 

by all Australians. The copyright issues that are being examined by this committee are in relation to other uses for 

the Aboriginal flag.  

Regarding our discussions with the Australian government, WAM has entered into discussions with the NIAA 

in relation to the acquisition of the copyright in the Aboriginal flag. Those discussions are ongoing. Harold has 

specifically requested those discussions remain confidential and we respect Harold's request. We acknowledge 

Harold's significant and valuable contribution to the advancement of the interest of the Aboriginal people and the 

unifying effect his design of the Aboriginal flag has had over the course of nearly 50 years. We acknowledge that 

the Aboriginal flag is of significant and unique value to all Australians. 

Finally, WAM Clothing regularly provides charitable support to the Aboriginal community. On that note, I 

would like to take this opportunity to share some of those examples with you. WAM Clothing continues to 

support a small local organisation based in Alice Springs for the operation of a keyboard application, which 

features the Aboriginal flag. When the organisation first approached us, seeking our support, we, together with 

Harold, felt it was a wonderful concept and one we all agreed to support. With limited funding available to them, 

it has been a pleasure to assist them with the implementation of their keyboard application. We continue to 

provide them with a sublicense without fees attached. 

Another example was when a department on the New South Wales central coast approached us earlier this 

year, seeking permission to reproduce the flag on a small footy for Indigenous students to be gifted as part of a 

football program aiming to reward a select group of students for good attendance at school and otherwise. WAM 

felt the program was such a positive one that it offered whatever support and assistance it could to the program. 

As a starting point, we offered to donate a gift pack to each student participating in the program. 

In 2019, we invited applications for a grant aimed at funding for grassroots programs and organisations, which 

we would support in sharing a portion of our profits to. We worked tirelessly to bring Indigenous owned and 

operated manufacturers on board, particularly to work towards an Australian main brand of clothing featuring the 

flag. 

Working with the flag fits in much further than the business. We respect the flag, its history and how people 

identify with it. We spend a lot of time answering questions about flag rights, clearing up untruths and alleviating 

people's concerns, whilst also providing permission for free, for which they may have misunderstood they may 

need to pay for, or offering them support to assist them with understanding the nature of our agreement and what 

its primary focus is on. We continue to support Aboriginal people in the community in using the flag. That's on 

behalf of WAM. If you'd like to move on to Gifts Mate Pty Ltd, Ben will make a statement. 

CHAIR:  Can I clarify, Mr Wooster, does that include your statement as well? 

Mr Wooster:  For WAM, it does, yes. I elect to make a separate statement for Gifts Mate, if I may. 

CHAIR:  Yes, please. Go ahead. 
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Mr Wooster:  Gifts Mate is the manufacturer and wholesaler of a range of souvenir products featuring the 

Aboriginal flag. Gifts Mate has permission from the exclusive licensee for use of the flag on the products being 

Wooster Holdings Pt Ltd. Wooster Holdings was granted an exclusive licence for the use of the flag on products 

from the copyright owner and artist who designed the flag, Mr Harold Thomas, for an agreed period of time. 

Wooster Holdings paid a licence fee and pays ongoing royalties to Harold in accordance with the terms of the 

confidential licence agreement. Wooster Holdings and Gifts Mate respect Harold's wishes to maintain 

confidentiality in the terms of the licence agreement. 

As is intended by Harold, the Aboriginal flag may presently be freely flown by all Australians. The copyright 

issues that are being examined by this committee are in relation to other uses for the Aboriginal flag. Regarding 

discussions with the Australian government, Wooster Holdings have entered discussions with the NIAA in 

relation to the acquisition of the copyright. Those negotiations are ongoing. Harold has specifically requested the 

discussions remain confidential, and I, of course, respect this request. 

I acknowledge Harold's significant and valuable contribution to the advancement of the interests of the 

Aboriginal people and the unifying effect his design of the Aboriginal flag has had over the course of approaching 

50 years. I acknowledge that the Aboriginal flag is significant and of unique value to all Australians. 

Having listened to the discussion this morning, I would like to say something about Birubi. There has been a 

lot of media attention on the relationship of Gifts Mate, WAM Clothing and myself to Birubi. I thank the 

committee for the opportunity to make this submission and set the record straight in relation to Birubi. I am a 

former director of Birubi Art. Birubi was prosecuted by the ACCC in the Federal Court in 2018 for making 

implied representations that certain products were handmade, painted by an Aboriginal person or made in 

Australia when they were not. There has never been any suggestion that Birubi or myself were dishonest or 

expressly represented that art was made by an Aboriginal person when it was not. Birubi defended the proceeding 

on the basis that the implied representations were not made. 

In support of that, I wish to quote to you an excerpt from Justice Perry's reasons for judgement: 

It is important also to emphasise that in making these findings, I have not found that Birubi had any intention to mislead 

potential purchasers of the Products. … Nor was there any challenge to the literal truth of express representations made on the 

Products such as the representation made on some products that royalties were paid to the Aboriginal artist whose work had 

been reproduced on those products. 

I will add that no complaints were ever made by the ACCC against me personally. That concludes my opening 

statement. Thank you. 

CHAIR:  Thank you very much, Mr Wooster and Ms Moore. I will go first to Senator Dodson, in Western 

Australia. 

Senator DODSON:  Thanks for those opening statements. How many organisations have been sent cease-and-

desist letters asking them not to use the Aboriginal flag design? 

Ms Moore:  That would be confidential. I don't have access to the files, in any event. 

Senator DODSON:  You don't know how many letters of cease and desist have been sent? 

Ms Moore:  Not of the top of my head. No, I don't, sorry. 

CHAIR:  Can I step in there, Ms Moore. With our inquiries for the Senate, to give you and Mr Wooster some 

understanding of our process, you are also very welcome to provide further information in written detail for any 

questions that you may not have answers to now. We have what are called questions on notice. If you're able to 

respond to the committee by 18 September, that would greatly assist us in our deliberations. 

Ms Moore:  Negotiations are ongoing between a number of parties. We wouldn't intend to put in any further 

information on those matters. 

Senator DODSON:  So you have no knowledge of how many Aboriginal or community organisations have 

been subject to cease-and-desist letters—is that what you're telling me? 

Ms Moore:  I've already answered that question. 

Senator DODSON:  You don't know? 

Ms Moore:  I do not have the files in front of me, I'm sorry. 

Senator DODSON:  How many organisations have paid to continue using the flag design? 

Ms Moore:  How many organisations have paid us to use the flag? 

Senator DODSON:  Yes. 

Ms Moore:  Again, I don't have that material in front of me, I'm sorry. 
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Senator DODSON:  Have you had a reduction to the number of people using the flag in your business? 

Ms Moore:  What's the question? 

Senator DODSON:  Has there been a reduction of the number of people using the flag recognised in your 

business? 

Ms Moore:  I really don't understand the point of the question or how you expect me to answer it. Do you 

mean in reduction from when? Are you asking for a comparable—I don't have any information, I'm sorry, which 

can assist in answering that question. 

Senator DODSON:  Maybe for the last financial year. 

Ms Moore:  It's not in front of me, I'm sorry. I can't answer the question. 

CHAIR:  Would you like to take that question on notice, Ms Moore? As comparisons from the previous 

financial year? 

Ms Moore:  I don't have the information, and no I don't intend to submit it. 

Senator DODSON:  Do you intend to answer any questions? 

Ms Moore:  I do. I'm happy to answer questions. However, the questions that you're asking me— 

Senator DODSON:  I would have thought that, operating a business, you'd have these sorts of details at your 

fingertips. 

Ms Moore:  I don't have the files, I'm sorry. I don't have my laptop in front of me. I can't answer the question. 

Senator DODSON:  Do you know what the turnover and profit of WAM Clothing and Gifts Mate was in the 

2019-20 financial year? 

Ms Moore:  With respect, Senator, we are a proprietary limited company and our financials are absolutely 

confidential. 

CHAIR:  Could I step in there, Senator Dodson? Ms Moore and Mr Wooster, as we've outlined at the outset, 

you also have the capability to appear in camera, which would not be a public hearing. If there's information there 

that you would like to share, we can certainly do that as well. 

Ms Moore:  I don't think there's any need, but thank you for the invitation. 

Senator DODSON:  My last question, given the erudite answers I'm getting: why did you buy the right to the 

Aboriginal flag design? 

Senator Stoker interjecting— 

Ms Moore:  Thank you for that question. I welcome the invitation to answer. 

CHAIR:  I can see that Senator Stoker is trying to say something. Can I ask you to wait until we get the 

microphone up for Senator Stoker so I can hear what Senator Stoker is saying. 

Senator STOKER:  I have a point of order, Madam Chair. 

CHAIR:  We couldn't hear you, unfortunately. I'm not sure why. We can hear you now. 

Senator STOKER:  That's somewhat reassuring. I was concerned, because it was not like you to ignore a 

point of order! My point of order is this: there is a real concern here that the matters being sought by Senator 

Dodson from this witness go directly to matters that are relevant to that which has been the subject of a claim of 

public interest immunity. It's not appropriate that we are delving into the business arrangements between Mr 

Thomas and WAM, or, quite frankly, anybody else with whom Mr Thomas might choose to exercise his rights as 

a private property holder. Those are a matter for him. The purpose of this inquiry is to deal with the more 

complex and big-picture issue of how we ensure that the importance of this symbol is given significance whilst 

respecting an individual's private property rights. I'd ask you to direct Senator Dodson to confine himself to 

matters that are not the subject of a public interest immunity claim and that are truly relevant to this inquiry. 

CHAIR:  Senator Stoker, thank you for your point of order. As we've not yet met as a committee to discuss 

that, it is not before the committee, but I do hear what you're saying. Senator Dodson, you're on your final 

question? 

Senator DODSON:  Yes. I was asking why WAM or Gifts Mate bought the Aboriginal flag design. 

Ms Moore:  Senator, and the committee in general—and the public in general—one thing we really do need to 

clarify is that WAM Clothing did not buy the rights to the Aboriginal flag. It is a licence for a certain period of 

time, for certain uses. Harold Thomas is the owner of the copyright. 
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CHAIR:  Can I just clarify there, Ms Moore, that you did not buy the rights of the Aboriginal flag; you have a 

licence. Would you like to let the committee know the time frame of your licence? 

Ms Moore:  That's a confidential term of our agreement. However, I would refer you back to my opening 

statement where I explain what our licence is for. 

Senator THORPE:  My question is very simple. I know you talked about the flag being unifying, but what 

does that mean to you, and do you know what the Aboriginal flag actually means to Aboriginal people? 

Ms Moore:  I'll let Ben answer that question. 

Mr Wooster:  We're all very aware of the importance of the Australian Aboriginal flag to the entire Australian 

community and the very important place it finds itself in history. 

Ms Moore:  We understand that people identify with the flag. When things fall apart, it brings people back 

together. That's the intention, of what it was for, for people. 

Senator THORPE:  You called it the Australian Aboriginal flag. Is that WAM's position, that it is called the 

'Australian Aboriginal flag'? From my knowledge, it's the 'Aboriginal flag'? 

Mr Wooster:  Correct. 

Senator THORPE:  Which one is it? Is it the 'Australian Aboriginal flag' or the 'Aboriginal flag'? 

Mr Wooster:  It is the Aboriginal flag. 

Senator THORPE:  Thank you. The other question— 

Mr Wooster:  I'm not seeing the point of this— 

Senator THORPE:  I have is how many community organisations or Aboriginal— 

CHAIR:  I beg your pardon, Senator Thorpe. Mr Wooster, did you just add something there? We did not hear 

it properly. 

Mr Wooster:  No, I didn't. 

CHAIR:  Okay. Senator Thorpe. 

Senator THORPE:  Thank you. How many community Aboriginal organisations and Aboriginal community 

members have access and are currently allowed to use the flag without fees? You mentioned two, earlier, but how 

many in total can use our flag for free? 

Ms Moore:  One of the things we need to clarify here is that under the Copyright Act any person can 

reproduce the flag for their own use. We have acted consistently, in regard to that. But if you're referring to 

organisations that's different, and we don't know. 

Senator THORPE:  To give you an example, the Aboriginal health service has an elders' group. They want to 

produce T-shirts for the elders. They want to put the Aboriginal flag on there. Do they need to seek permission to 

do that, given that the copyright holder has said that Aboriginal health services and legal services, where the flag 

was commonly used in the early days—do they now need to go through this process so that elders can have the 

flag on their new T-shirts? 

Ms Moore:  If it's Aboriginal medical or legal, yes, they would need to come through us, because they're an 

organisation not an individual. However, an example that I can give you is a couple of weeks ago there was a 

group of people in Cherbourg who wanted to give some hoodies with the Aboriginal flag through their elders in 

the community. They, of course, could simply purchase those from WAM or we would have been happy to 

donate them. Of course they were able to do that, because that again is consistent with the Copyright Act: 

individuals using it for individual use. And we absolutely support that in any event. 

Senator THORPE:  If the Aboriginal organisation comes through WAM for the production of these jumpers, 

does that mean that you just use your own supplier to produce them? 

Ms Moore:  Not necessarily. 

Senator THORPE:  Where do you purchase your jumpers? Do you buy them from overseas, or are the 

jumpers made locally here in Australia? 

Ms Moore:  There are a couple of options. One is: if it's something that we manufacture—say, hoodies with 

the Aboriginal flag—yes, they could simply purchase those at wholesale prices from WAM. If it's not something 

we manufacture ourselves, then we have options in place for third-party manufacturers to manufacture them. 

Senator THORPE:  The actual raw material, the actual jumpers—are they made here in Australia or are they 

purchased from overseas? 
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Ms Moore:  Are you referring to third parties or our manufacturing? 

Senator THORPE:  Your manufacturing—both. 

Ms Moore:  Our manufacturing is done in Bali and it's all printed in Bali as well. But for third parties who are 

manufacturing it's a matter for them. Would you like to know why we presently manufacture in Bali? 

Senator THORPE:  Yes, sure. 

Ms Moore:  It simply comes down to costs. We are, however, looking at options to manufacture in Australia. 

Senator THORPE:  On your website, you say you are proud to be chosen as the copyright holder. How were 

you chosen; and can you please talk us through the process that led to you holding the copyright? 

Ms Moore:  It was due to an already existing relationship with Harold Thomas. 

Senator THORPE:  Could you elaborate on that? 

Ms Moore:  No. 

Senator THORPE:  Perhaps it could be put on notice? 

CHAIR:  Sorry, Senator Thorpe, are you asking for that question to be put on notice? 

Senator THORPE:  Yes, Chair. 

CHAIR:  Ms Moore, Senator Thorpe's asked for that question to be taken on notice— 

Senator STOKER:  Point of order.  

CHAIR:  Senator Stoker, yes? 

Senator STOKER:  A point of order: while the witnesses may not be able to articulate it in this way, the 

nature of the information that's being sought by Senator Thorpe is in the nature of the information that's covered 

by the PII claim. That means that it goes to the sensitive commercial rights associated with this that are the 

subject of negotiations through Mr Thomas with the Commonwealth. That directly affects the ability of the 

Commonwealth to make this important symbol available to Indigenous Australians. It is not in the public interest 

that it be ventilated in this forum, and the witness is entitled to decline to answer that without further difficulty. 

CHAIR:  Well, how about we let Ms Moore do that, Senator Stoker? And I just remind the committee that we 

have not yet had that deliberation in relation to the contents of that PII. So, I will go to you next, Senator Stoker. 

But, Ms Moore, do you want to just conclude with the request from Senator Thorpe? 

Ms Moore:  No, we will choose to decline, thank you. 

Senator STOKER:  I'm really concerned to see that Indigenous artists are able to make a living from their art. 

I think it's really important to their ability to manifest their culture, to be financially independent, to start 

businesses and to be active and successful in our economy. What would it mean to your commitment to Mr 

Thomas as an artist if for some reason the Commonwealth were to take away, in a sense, his rights to the 

intellectual property associated with the Aboriginal flag? 

Mr Wooster:  I think, quite clearly, that it would have a fairly negative effect overall. 

Ms Moore:  On all artists. 

Mr Wooster:  Yes, on all artists and any licensees, any commercial-type licensees, that those artists may 

engage. 

Senator STOKER:  And why do you say it would be negative? 

Mr Wooster:  There are lots of artists, both Indigenous and non, around Australia who license their artwork 

through companies who are capable of reproducing it on to a huge array of products that, obviously, those 

companies specialise in either manufacturing and/or the sale of. It creates an income stream for them. 

Senator STOKER:  I wanted to clarify some evidence we heard earlier about when permission has been 

granted for the use of the flag without fee. I had understood that Mr Thomas was on the record as saying health 

services could use and display the flag without fee with approval. Am I right about that? 

Ms Moore:  I'm not sure—on anything prior to our licence—what's been said, I'm sorry. 

Senator STOKER:  What about now that your licence is in place: is that consistent with the arrangements you 

have? 

Ms Moore:  I think, in answer to that, it's that we still need to speak to those organisations. If it's not 

individuals in the community and for personal use, then they need to speak with us, and then, obviously, the 

nature of our discussions with them is, as always, on a case-by-case basis. 
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Senator STOKER:  Finally, because the matters raised by Senator Thorpe earlier about the proper name for 

the flag piqued my interest, I've whipped up this advice for my reference: the proper name for what we are talking 

about today is the Australian Aboriginal Flag, and that's pursuant to a proclamation made in 2008 under the Flags 

Act 1953. 

Senator O'SULLIVAN:  Totally respecting your rights to commercial confidentiality, can I ask: are you able 

to tell us of other Indigenous artists that you have arrangements with? Who are they or, if you can't tell us that, 

can you just tell us whether you do have other arrangements? 

Ms Moore:  With respect to WAM, our only arrangements are with Mr Harold Thomas. We don't reproduce or 

work with anything other than the Aboriginal flag. Ben, on behalf of Gifts Mate, might be able to elaborate from 

that side of things. 

Mr Wooster:  Yes, I'm happy to elaborate with Gifts Mate. We deal with a range of Indigenous artists from 

around Australia, currently numbering around a dozen or so, all receiving financial royalties. Those arrangements 

are ongoing. 

Senator O'SULLIVAN:  How seriously do you take your rights with those arrangements to ensure that those 

other artists' products are not reproduced without permission and without due compensation? 

Mr Wooster:  Of course we're very aware of those individual artists' rights. We take every step to produce a 

complementary product, and obviously we protect that artist's copyright. We will obviously enforce where we 

need to, to protect that artist's copyright. 

Senator O'SULLIVAN:  Have you seen the economic benefit directly? Do you recognise the quite significant 

impact of the arts sector, particularly for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people across Australia, upon 

economic development and opportunity, job creation and these sort of things? Do you have a view on that and 

how important it is? With regards to protecting copyright and protecting property rights, it is also ensuring that we 

actually foster and develop further opportunity through the arts. 

Mr Wooster:  I think it's not only the financial benefits that these kinds of arrangements can bring but also a 

sense of self-worth and confidence-building. I've always been a huge advocate of the reproduction of Aboriginal 

art because obviously there is a finite amount of artwork that one particular artist can produce with their own two 

hands. Obviously, in a modern world, there is vast opportunity to reproduce an enormous amount of products and 

have that beautiful artwork be shown around the world. 

Senator O'SULLIVAN:  Thanks. 

Senator BRAGG:  I just wanted to put to you the same question I put to the group of legal experts, which is: 

how do you see this committee's work helping Mr Thomas? 

Mr Wooster:  That wasn't a question for us, was it? That was for the legal experts? 

Senator BRAGG:  No, I just wanted to know whether you had a view on that. 

Ms Moore:  I guess the issue at large—what we can say is that we are in discussions with NIAA around those 

matters outside of this process here. 

Senator BRAGG:  I'll take that as a no. Just to run through it quickly, individuals are able to use and fly the 

flag—correct? 

Ms Moore:  Pursuant to the Copyright Act and the Flags Act, yes. 

Senator BRAGG:  What about Indigenous charities, for example? 

Ms Moore:  If they're an organisation, they still need to contact us, and then we assess it on a case-by-case 

basis. 

Senator BRAGG:  And businesses who want to use the flag for commercial use would then need to engage 

with you and/or make a payment? 

Ms Moore:  Yes, they would. 

Senator BRAGG:  What about the AFL and the issue of wanting to use the flag on the playing surface? Can 

you give us your view on that? 

Ms Moore:  There are obviously some matters of confidentiality around that. However, an agreement was 

reached, in essence, but the AFL chose to not proceed. That's really all I can say on it presently. 

Senator BRAGG:  So, in respect of the commercial arrangements, you can't say anything else about the AFL 

matter? 

Ms Moore:  No, I don't feel that I can. I'm sorry.  
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Senator BRAGG:  Okay.  

CHAIR:  Just following on from that, Ms Moore, have you had any examples, other than the AFL, of 

organisations who have had a relationship with WAM and now no longer have that relationship?  

Ms Moore:  No. I don't really want to delve into the discussions that we had with the AFL, because they are 

confidential, and that's with any other parties it affects. 

CHAIR:  We've already heard your response with regards to the AFL. It's just a general question about other 

sporting codes as well. 

Ms Moore:  No. 

CHAIR:  In the short time that we have left, I'm just going to go back over some of the evidence that you have 

provided. In relation to your timeline on your agreement with Mr Thomas, that was a categorical 'no'—you're not 

giving response to that? I just wanted to clarify some of the points I've got here.  

Ms Moore:  It's confidential—so no.  

CHAIR:  Mr Wooster, you responded to Senator Thorpe—I think it was you, or perhaps it was Ms Moore—

when she was asking about the manufacture of jumpers. Did you say that was in Indonesia?  

Mr Wooster:  Are you directing that question to me, or— 

Ms Moore:  WAM's manufacturing of this clothing range itself happens in Bali.  

CHAIR:  So all of your manufacturing takes place there, Ms Moore? For WAM?  

Mr Wooster:  All of our in-house product currently is produced in Indonesia, yes.  

CHAIR:  Would you like to just— 

Mr Wooster:  If I can just clarify, the third-party manufacturing arrangements that Semele has alluded to 

previously, that is really up to— 

Ms Moore:  The third party. 

Mr Wooster:   the third party as to where those products are produced. Often, we find they are produced here 

in Australia. 

CHAIR:  What are the in-house products that are made in Bali?  

Mr Wooster:  We have a broad range of products, featuring— 

Ms Moore:  In answer to that— 

CHAIR:  By all means, take that on notice if you've got a long list. 

Ms Moore:  Our licence, in terms of products, is limited to clothing, and that's what we are permitted under 

our licence to reproduce. We sublicense to others, which is limited to clothing which is manufactured by WAM 

entirely.  

CHAIR:  So this is actually shirts, jumpers, scarves? It's not a trick question, Ms Moore; I just want to get an 

understanding of what the in-house products are that are made in Bali? 

Mr Wooster:  There's a variety of products that we make ourselves for our stock designs. This is what you're 

referring to—is that right? I'm just trying to make sure that we can answer accurately for you.  

CHAIR:  Mr Wooster, you're spot on.  

Mr Wooster:  We make a range—everything from singlets, T-shirts, hoodies, long-sleeve shirts and so on—

through a factory in Indonesia, and we hold them in our warehouse here in Australia.  

CHAIR:  Thank you very much for that. If there's anything else you'd like to add to that, you're very welcome 

to send further information by 18 September. Ms Moore and Mr Wooster, we do appreciate your time this 

morning. Clearly, there were issues there that were difficult, or that you did not wish to respond to, so we take 

note of that. We possibly may have further questions for you, but you will see them in a written form provided to 

you later on. Thank you both very much for your time this morning. We  will adjourn for lunch. 

Proceedings suspended from 12:29 to 13:37  
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GREGORY, Mr Wayne, Managing Director, Carroll & Richardson Flagworld 

Evidence was taken via teleconference—  

CHAIR:  Welcome. Thank you for taking the time to give evidence today. Information about parliamentary 

privilege has been provided to you and is available from the secretariat. The committee has received your 

submission as submission 1. Do you wish to make any corrections to it? 

Mr Gregory:  No. 

CHAIR:  I invite you to make a brief opening statement if you have one there. 

Mr Gregory:  [Inaudible] Carroll & Richardson is based here in Melbourne and has been here for about 60 

years. We employ 23 people at our manufacturing facility here in Melbourne and a further [inaudible] at a related 

company up in Brisbane, where they manufacture pulleys. 

CHAIR:  We've lost Mr Gregory. 

Mr Gregory:  We make anything from the hand waver to the ones on your desks in your offices right through 

to the flag that flies [inaudible]. 

CHAIR:  Could you pause for a moment? We've having some difficulty. We're going to pause for a few 

minutes until we get this correct. 

Mr Gregory:  My apologies for the internet issues. Before I start, I'd like to respectfully acknowledge the 

Yalukit Willam clan of the Boon Wurrung. I would like to pay my respect to their elders, past, present and 

emerging, and acknowledge and respect their continuing culture and relationship to the land on which I am 

present today. Committee members, my company has been in operation for over 60 years. It started in the early 

1960s. We currently employ 23 people here in Melbourne, at our printing and finishing factory, and we have a 

further 11 employees at a related company we own up in Brisbane, which manufactures fully sewn flags. We're 

very proudly Australian made and owned, and we are a quality accredited company. We make everything from a 

hand waver, which you may have on the shelves in your offices, to the flag that flies over Parliament House each 

day. We also have one of the largest stockholdings of flags of all types, including the Aboriginal flag and flags of 

other nations. Finally, we are the manufacturer of the flags that senators and members of parliament give to their 

constituents. 

With regard to the licence, I was listening in this morning and there are a couple of things about which I'd like 

to clarify any possible misunderstands. As you would probably be aware, it has been almost 50 years since Harold 

Thomas designed the Aboriginal flag, which first flew in Adelaide back in 1972, and it's only been 23 years since 

the Federal Court made its landmark decision to award the ownership of the design of the flag to Mr Thomas, 

back in April 1997. Twenty-two years ago, one year after the Federal Court decision, Mr Barry Richardson, who 

was the original owner of this company, reached an agreement with Mr Thomas on an exclusive licence to 

reproduce or authorise the reproduction of the design of the flag on flags, pennants, banners and buntings. In 

those last 22 years we have been responsible for the manufacture, promotion, advertising, distribution and sale, 

either directly or through resellers, of a product range of over 75 different Aboriginal products, in the form of 

flags, pennants, banners and bunting. 

We have a very strong and enduring partnership with Mr Thomas. In fact I was talking to him yesterday and 

we were discussing the 50-year anniversary of the design and the thoughts that he has for that. It's a very 

important landmark for both Mr Thomas and, I'm sure, the Aboriginal community as a whole as well as all 

Australians. We have jealously protected the flag from overseas suppliers to maintain its integrity, look and 

design, and that's something that we're very proud of. The fact that, of all the Australian flags, it is the one where 

the real flag is made here in Australia and not overseas. 

With those opening remarks, I'm more than happy to take questions from the committee. 

CHAIR:  Thank you very much, Mr Gregory. Senator Dodson. 

Senator DODSON:  Thanks for that opening comment. Can you tell us, how many Aboriginal flags Flagworld 

manufactures and sells in a year? 

Mr Gregory:  It's a very large number and it's certainly in the thousands. I guess, if I declared the exact 

number, my competitors would love to know, but it is certainly many, many thousands of flags a year. 

Senator DODSON:  Do you think official flags like the Aboriginal flag are just an art form or do they have a 

special significance for groups and members of the community? 

Mr Gregory:  I think any flag represents a brand of some description. So the Australian flag, for example, the 

national flag, it's the brand mark of Australia. I guess in many ways the Australian Aboriginal flag is also a very 
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important brand and symbol for Indigenous Australians. So, no, they're more just a product that you can put on 

display; they do have significance to the broader community in many and varied different ways. 

Senator DODSON:  You mentioned in your opening statement some of the locations where we might see the 

flag—flying over Parliament House, for instance. Who are the main end users or purchasers of the Aboriginal 

flag? 

Mr Gregory:  There are many. There is probably no part of the Australian community that's not touched by 

the use of Aboriginal flags, whether it's small community groups, schools, individuals, certainly many businesses. 

We've noticed, in the last five years in particular, many more Australian businesses are now displaying all three 

Australian flags—the Australian national flag, the Aboriginal flag and the Torres Strait flag. We've certainly seen 

increasing interest right across the whole community. 

Senator DODSON:  The question of enforcing your licence, have you had to do that? 

Mr Gregory:  From time to time, yes, but normally not against individuals. The usual people that we find 

breach the licence are those who are often importing from overseas countries, from low-cost labour countries, 

who will bring in cheap and inferior products into Australia. So we will often contact those people and suggest 

that that's not a very good idea. More often than not, many of them, probably through ignorance, are not aware of 

the licensing arrangements and end up becoming re-sellers for the Aboriginal flag and buy the genuine product 

rather than buying cheap imports from overseas. 

Senator DODSON:  Acknowledging the legality of the agreement you have, do you understand the concerns 

in the community about some of the flag licensing arrangements? 

Mr Gregory:  I understand people are often concerned about matters on which they perhaps don't have 

information and that can lead to uncertainty. But one of the things I would say is the Australian Aboriginal flag 

can be freely flown by any individual in Australia. Where there are limitations is where it is produced and how it 

is manufactured. If people are in the business of making money then Mr Thomas is in the business of clearly 

taking advantage of his design and sharing with them the gains of the commercial exploitation of his design. For 

individuals, I think Mr Thomas and my company have always shared the view that if Senator Pat Dodson wanted 

to share the flag for his own personal use, go for it; that's quite a legitimate activity. We've never had any call or 

association with anybody doing that. 

Senator DODSON:  In this space you may not want to comment on this, but is it reasonable for the 

government to make a policy choice to try and make the flag available for free? 

Mr Gregory:  It depends on what do you mean by 'make the flag available for free'? It is freely available. It's 

just not freely available for anybody to reproduce because it has copyright over it. I guess the government will 

make whatever calls the government deem appropriate but, yes, it is a freely available product. You don't need a 

licence. You don't need permission to fly the flag, display the flag. You are completely free to do those sorts of 

activities. 

Senator DODSON:  I suppose the concern has arisen from some of the Aboriginal organisations that have 

been required to pay a fee as an organisation for the use of the flag under some other arrangements and that's led 

to concerns which, in part, has led to this committee's existence, and the activities of the government in its 

negotiations. So that's really where the question's coming from—the lack of a sense of freedom in the use of the 

flag by entities, particularly Aboriginal organisations. 

Mr Gregory:  I'm aware of what's been going on in the public domain. But with regards to the flags, banners 

and bunting that we make, that has not been an issue, except for those people who bring in fake or fraudulent 

unlicensed products from overseas. Other than that, there has not been an issue in 22 years with regards to the flag 

itself. 

Senator BRAGG:  Mr Gregory, just so I understand it correctly, you contract with WAM and separately with 

Mr Thomas? 

Mr Gregory:  We have no contracts or any arrangements with WAM. They're not a company that we normally 

deal with. They're in the clothing business; we're not. The only contractual arrangement we have is the licence 

agreement we have with Mr Thomas. 

Senator BRAGG:  Are you aware of the public commentary and some of the statements that have been put out 

there by the government in relation to the negotiations on the copyright? 

Mr Gregory:  Yes, we have had some preliminary discussions with the government through the National 

Indigenous agency, yes. 

Senator BRAGG:  And you spoke to Mr Thomas yesterday, did you say? 
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Mr Gregory:  I speak to Mr Thomas quite regularly at the moment. 

Senator BRAGG:  I'm just trying to work out how we can be constructive and helpful here. What, if anything, 

could we do through this parliamentary committee process that would be helpful to the negotiations and the 

general agenda here to try and deliver a more liberal approach so that this flag could be made more available to all 

entities in all contexts? 

Mr Gregory:  There are probably many things I'm sure your committee will be able to put forward but perhaps 

one I would touch on which may not get a lot of time is the fact that it would be good if an iconic flag such as the 

Aboriginal flag was to continue to be made in Australia. I think our flag loses its integrity progressively over time 

when it's not treated in the same way as one that is made here. By way of example, if you look at the Australian 

national flag, you can buy that in as many variations, colour, size, distortion as you want, depending on who 

brings it in and there's very little control over its integrity going forward. So if the committee were to also address 

the integrity and the ongoing desire to keep the design intact and not have it abused, that would be certainly a very 

good outcome. 

Senator THORPE:  Thank you, Mr Gregory. I presume you sell flags to Aboriginal people or organisations 

regularly. Do you charge the same amount for them as you do other customers from government or corporates? 

Mr Gregory:  Yes. We sell flags to many people directly, but we also sell flags to many resellers. I think at my 

last count we had about a hundred resellers across Australia who also buy Aboriginal flags as wholesalers and 

resell those to all sorts of customers, including individuals as well. While there may well be a list price for the 

flag, there is a market price, at the end of the day, that any seller can charge to anybody. There is a list price, but 

that's just a point of reference. That's not necessarily the price that any one individual might or might not pay. 

Senator THORPE:  As you mentioned, you have an agreement with the government where MPs and senators 

can provide flags to constituents for community use. 

Mr Gregory:  That's correct. 

Senator THORPE:  Approximately how many Aboriginal flags do you produce for that program? 

Mr Gregory:  Again, I haven't got the number in front of me. It's many thousands. And we supply them 

indirectly through another company from which MPs and senators order. We don't supply them directly to MPs 

per se; we effectively wholesale it to a distributor. So you'd probably need to ask them the exact number that is 

being sold, at the end of the day, if that's available. 

Senator THORPE:  You mentioned you have 23 people employed in the Melbourne part of your business. 

Mr Gregory:  Yes. 

Senator THORPE:  Do you have any Aboriginal people employed in your company? 

Mr Gregory:  Yes, we do. In fact, the man who prints the flag is an Aboriginal man. He's a Yorta Yorta man. 

He's been printing it for—guess what—23 years. I was speaking to him just a few weeks back, before we got 

locked down here in Melbourne, and he told me that every time he gets the screens out to print that flag it puts a 

lump in his throat. He's a man that's a very proud Aboriginal man. It's just luck that he happens to work for us, but 

it's nice that there is that connection, and it's a connection we also extend to many school children. In fact, we host 

a group of school children from Broome every second year. They come over to see the Aboriginal flag being 

made here in Australia for their and everybody else's use. That's a very special day when they come and meet 

Uncle Robbie. 

Senator THORPE:  Thank you, Mr Gregory. 

Mr Gregory:  My pleasure, Senator. 

CHAIR:  I want to pick up on a question that Senator Thorpe raised with you. The only reason I jump in, 

Senator Thorpe, is to get clarification on the answer Mr Gregory gave you. Mr Gregory, you said there were many 

thousands of flags for MPs and senators and they go through your wholesaler. In your submission you make 

mention of 'Carroll & Richardson Flagworld or any one of the many resellers across Australia'. Are they who 

you're referring to as a distributor, or is it someone completely separate? 

Mr Gregory:  The company that sells to MPs is effectively a reseller. They buy off us in bulk and then they 

would resell that through the Constituents Request Program. But they are one of hundreds that are out there in the 

market making sure that the flag is easily available, and also so that people don't feel that they can only buy it 

from Flagworld. They can buy it from any one of those many, many resellers. 

CHAIR:  Yes. The reason I'm asking, Mr Gregory, is that Senator Thorpe specifically asked around MPs and 

senators. Could we get the names, because we obviously would like to get the statistic in terms of how many flags 
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are provided to not only the federal parliament but, clearly, state and territory parliaments as well. Are you able to 

take that question on notice and provide further— 

Mr Gregory:  I could certainly take it on notice. I'd probably need to check with the actual reseller who does it 

as to whether I'm at liberty to disclose. All I can disclose is what I sell to them. 

CHAIR:  Sure. They would be in the best position, and I can let the committee know who they are then they 

can tell you more directly how many flags are actually bought by MPs. 

CHAIR:  Okay. We have a time line for our questions on notice to be received by the committee, which is 18 

September. Could you please provide a little more information around the question from Senator Thorpe? 

Mr Gregory:  Yes. 

CHAIR:  Thank you. Senator Davey? 

Senator DAVEY:  On the constituent flag request program: I just want to clarify that when we fulfil those 

requests we're not reselling, we're providing flags free of charge to those who request them and from a company 

who is a proper reseller. 

I want to come back to the difference between the Australian national flag and the Australian Aboriginal flag, 

and the way they're manufactured. You are the only licence holder for manufacturing the flag—is that correct? 

Mr Gregory:  That is correct. 

Senator DAVEY:  That therefore protects the integrity of the quality and maintains the design, ratios and all of 

that. And it is only manufactured here, onshore, at your company? 

Mr Gregory:  That's correct. 

Senator DAVEY:  So when I go to a shop and I see an Aboriginal flag for sale, that would have been 

manufactured by you. So I can be confident that it's manufactured to the highest quality and to the original design 

rather than anything compromised? 

Mr Gregory:  It would depend on which store you go into. If you go into certain travel stores which sell 

souvenirs there's a good chance that the flag is not made in Australia—it may well be imported. Or if you go onto 

eBay you will find that many of those flags are clearly unlicensed products. The best indicator of an authentic 

Australian-made Aboriginal flag is one that has a tag on it that says it is made in Australia and that it has the 

copyright for Harold Thomas. 

Senator DAVEY:  You mentioned earlier that some of the Australian national flags do not have the same level 

of integrity. Are you aware of licensing arrangements for the manufacture of the Australian national flag, or is 

that far more diluted? 

Mr Gregory:  'Diluted' may be a good word! Certainly, under the Flags Act we're aware of what the correct 

ratios are, what the correct Pantone colours to produce the flag are and what the correct layouts of the flags are. 

When a flag is made in Australia by a reputable company then we stick very closely to those specifications. 

I'll give you an example: I often have visitors from overseas come in. They'll offer me an Australian flag in 

whatever colour I want, whatever size I want and whatever look I want. They don't care; they're just happy to sell 

you flags. That's the risk you face when you don't have any control or integrity over the design and ongoing 

manufacturing of the product. 

Senator DAVEY:  Do you manufacture Australian flags as well? 

Mr Gregory:  Absolutely; that's one of our biggest sellers, of course, and the Aboriginal flag is No. 2. It's 

something we're very proud of, that we only manufacture Australian flags here in Australia—particularly for the 

government. 

Senator DAVEY:  But in the case of the Australian national flag, as opposed to the Australian Aboriginal flag, 

you don't pay royalties to anyone to produce it? Or am I incorrect about that? 

Mr Gregory:  No, there are no royalties associated with reproducing the Australian national flag. I'm not sure 

if anybody owns the intellectual property for it. 

Senator DAVEY:  In accordance with your licence arrangements with Mr Thomas, however, he gets royalties 

on the sale of the Australian Aboriginal flag, which is recognition of his copyright of that flag? 

Mr Gregory:  That is correct. 

CHAIR:  I might follow up on a couple of questions there. What is the general cost of the Aboriginal flag? 
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Mr Gregory:  It very much depends on the size. If you look at a normal 1,800 by 900 flag, which is the most 

commonly used flag, in a retail sense you could pay anywhere from $90 to $100, $105. It depends on who you're 

buying it from and how many you buy. 

CHAIR:  Would that be the same for the Torres Strait Islander flag? 

Mr Gregory:  That would be very similar pricing. Basically the prices are related to the number of colours 

involved in making the flag—the more colours, the more expensive it is. There are also other commercial costs 

associated with producing them that may make some flags a little more expensive than others, but there's not a 

huge difference. There may be a few dollars—again, depending on who you buy it from. 

CHAIR:  What about the cost of the Australian flag? 

Mr Gregory:  It's in the same ballpark. You'll pay anywhere from around $90 to $100—again, depending on 

how many and who you buy it from. 

CHAIR:  So what you're saying is that all those three flags are pretty much the same or similar in price? 

Mr Gregory:  Yes, they're similar in price. The list price for the Aboriginal flag is slightly higher, mainly 

because it's a three-colour flag, as against the national flag, which is two, and also there is a licence fee associated 

with that product, so it's in the costs. 

CHAIR:  So Flagworld has had the worldwide rights to make and sell flags, pennants, banners and bunting 

since 1998? 

Mr Gregory:  That's correct. 

CHAIR:  You have the right to go in camera to answer this question, but how much did Flagworld pay for the 

worldwide rights? 

Mr Gregory:  I don't have the information in front of me, and that would be certainly commercial-in-

confidence with Mr Thomas. I certainly wouldn't wish to declare any private information related to Mr Thomas. I 

think that wouldn't be appropriate. And it would have been done a long time ago, back in 1998 or thereabouts. 

CHAIR:  So that would also go to the value of the royalty paid to Mr Thomas for each flag? 

Mr Gregory:  Yes. That would be subject to the same commercial-in-confidence arrangements we have with 

Mr Thomas. I don't think he would appreciate me giving that information out. 

CHAIR:  That's fine. These are just standard questions that we need to ask as a committee. 

Mr Gregory:  I fully understand. 

CHAIR:  Thank you. Are there are examples where you've had to enforce your licence rights, and has the 

outcome been satisfactory in terms of particular laws today? 

Mr Gregory:  In the 11 years I've been with the company, I think there has only been one case where I've 

taken action through the courts, and that was an eBay seller. Despite repeated requests to do the right thing and to 

respect Mr Thomas's intellectual property, that individual failed to do it. So we were obliged to take action as 

required under the licence we had with Mr Thomas. I think, from my history lessons, if I go back before my time, 

there was one other commercial company in the very early days that sought to challenge the licence, and I think 

that was also contested, but that was probably back in the late 1990s, and I was not around then, so I don't have 

those details. 

CHAIR:  Sure. Feel free to take that question on notice if you want to, if you feel that is something you'd like 

to expand upon. September 18 is the time line for that question on notice if you'd prefer to provide some more 

detail to the committee on that. 

Mr Gregory:  Yes, I understand. 

CHAIR:  Just bear with me, Mr Gregory, while I check a couple of things in your submission. I might take 

you back to a response you gave to Senator Davey, in terms of the integrity of the flag and the manufacture of it. 

You were talking more broadly about all flags—and correct me if I am wrong—because the Aboriginal flag is 

already only made here, the flag that is licensed as opposed to those that are not supposed to be made without the 

express permission of Flagworld. 

Mr Gregory:  Yes. It's certainly easy when you hold the licence to manufacture to maintain that integrity, 

because the responsibility rests on one company to ensure the colours are correct and the sizing is correct. That's 

easy to do when you've only got one supplier. But the moment you open that up to multiple manufacturers there's 

a much higher risk, and, in particular, a higher risk if it involves imported products, which inevitably it could lead 

to. 
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CHAIR:  Thank you, Mr Gregory. On that note, as there are no senators who have further questions, we will 

let you go. Thank you so much for your time this afternoon, and feel free to respond to a couple of those questions 

on notice. 

Mr Gregory:  It was a pleasure. Thank you for the opportunity to speak to you and your committee. 
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BRADY, Ms Leah, Artist, APY Art Centre Collective 

HEFFERNAN, Ms Yaritji, APY Art Centre Collective 

KATONA, Ms Jacqui, Private capacity 

MORAN, Mr Nathan, Chief Executive Officer, Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land Council 

O'MEARA, Ms Skye, Manager, APY Art Centre Collective 

SCALES, Ms Sally, Chairperson, Anangu Pitjantjatjara Yankunytjatjara Lands Executive Board 

SPEARIM, Mr Boe, Private capacity 

WELDON, Ms Ann, Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land Council 

WELDON, Ms Yvonne, Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land Council 

Evidence was taken via teleconference— 

[14:23] 

CHAIR:  Welcome. Thank you for taking the time to give evidence today. Information about parliamentary 

privilege has been provided to you and is available from the secretariat. For the Hansard record, I will get each of 

you to state your full name and the capacity in which you appear today. If you have a brief opening statement, 

please feel free to read that. I'll go to the Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land Council first. 

Ms Y Weldon:  I am a Wiradjuri woman from Cowra in New South Wales. I would like to acknowledge the 

Ngunawal people, who are a clan of the Wiradjuri. I know that there are some different views on that but, from 

my perspective culturally, the way I have been raised is that this is Wiradjuri country. I would like to pay my 

respects to all elders past and present. This is a significant day for my family. It is the birthday of my great aunty, 

Isabel Coe. She was a powerhouse, to say the least. She made many differences for everyone to be here today—

not just me as a Wiradjuri but every woman in this room and beyond in this country. Also on this day four years 

ago a significant and powerful Yuin woman made her speech. So I would like to acknowledge that. I will now 

hand over to my mum, who is an elder representing Wiradjuri people and also the Metropolitan Local Aboriginal 

Land Council. 

Ms A Weldon:  Thank you very much for allowing me the opportunity to come before you and have my say in 

reference to the inquiry into our flag. The key to it is that it is an Aboriginal flag. The dreamings and the creation 

of it came from the forefathers, who certainly gave their blessing to the chap who ended up painting the colours 

and the symbolism on a piece of canvas that became known worldwide as a symbol of our rights and our 

sovereignty to our country. I was around as a younger, far healthier person in 1971 as part of the revolution that 

hit the streets of Redfern where the flag was born and created. It's a symbol that certainly represents Aboriginal 

people. 

Our essence as Aboriginal people is not about money and greed; it's about sharing and giving. Sadly, what's 

happened to the flag is about greed and about other people making money from a symbol that certainly represents 

Aboriginal people. First and foremost, this country has to acknowledge that this is our flag. It belongs to 

Aboriginal people across our country. Australia has only been known as Australia for the 230-odd years since the 

English decided to name it Australia. You are on the land of Aboriginal people. More importantly, here today, 

you are on the land of the mighty Wiradjuri people and the clan group of Ngunawal people. They are my people 

as well. It's my grandfather's country, it's my mum's dad's country. The sad reality of this country is that, yet 

again, Aboriginal people's intellectual property and, more importantly, our flag has been commercialised to take 

away the symbolism and the fact that we as Aboriginal people are distinct and a sovereign race in our own 

country. 

Mr Moran:  I am the CEO of Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land Council. I'm also a Biripi and Dunghutti 

Koori from the Mid North Coast of New South Wales. I'm here today to give a perspective on how the flag has 

been carried by our community, as outlined by my elder Ann Weldon here today, as something that has 

symbolised our people since 1972. I acknowledge that we are gathered on Ngunawal country and Wiradjuri 

people's lands and I acknowledge all elders past and present who have travelled to what we call Canberra today to 

seek our justice, our fight for rights and equity. 

CHAIR:  Thank you. Jacqui Katona, can I go to you? Then I'll go to the APY. 

Ms Katona:  Good afternoon, Senator. Thank you to the committee for your invitation today. I am an 

Aboriginal woman whose family comes from the Northern Territory of Australia. My clan, the Djok clan, is 
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located within the territory now known as Kakadu National Park, but I have a long association here in Victoria on 

Kulin nation land, in Narrm, known as Melbourne. I am currently teaching at Victoria University as a 

lecturer/researcher but I appear at today's committee hearing in my capacity as a member of the Aboriginal 

community. 

CHAIR:  Thank you, Jacqui. The APY representatives are still trying to come in on the videoconference, so I'll 

begin with questions to the Metro and Jacqui Katona. Senator Dodson. 

Senator DODSON:  Thank you, everyone, for your attendance. In recent days you'd be aware that 

organisations have been sent letters saying cease and desist using the flag or else pay a fee. Have any of you 

received any such letters? 

Ms Y Weldon:  We haven't. Since the changeover happened, from Metro Land Council's perspective, we 

actually haven't purchased any further clothing as a result of the restriction. We certainly had tops and uniforms of 

our staff to have the Aboriginal flag. New South Wales is Aboriginal country and the birthplace, really, of the 

movement in land rights legislation. Certainly the land rights movement happened across the country, but 

predominantly when this flag started. Nathan's got a poster to represent that in 1971. So the movement that 

happened in Redfern is certainly close to our heart, and certainly we continue that struggle, as we do the struggle 

that started on the lawns of Old Parliament House and at the Aboriginal tent embassy, where this flag was flown.  

In terms of us purchasing, we refuse to purchase and pay dollars to a non-Aboriginal company. We certainly 

support any Aboriginal community controlled organisations where that money goes back to the benefit of 

Aboriginal community rather than those that actually utilise the money at the expense of Aboriginal community. 

So we haven't purchased any further flags. It's quite the insult for our body to have to pay for any of our symbols, 

as was stated, to non-Aboriginal companies for them to benefit and make profit off us. 

The flag is symbolic for all Aboriginal nations across the continent. There are hundreds of nations, tribes and 

clans, and we are very diverse in our views and in our practices. In terms of that diversity, one of the common 

themes, or common symbols, that we do have is the colours of the black, yellow and red. Those black, yellow and 

red colours were formulated by Harold Thomas as a teacher, but his views were collected from the students that 

he taught in his teaching days, and that's what we have in terms of this symbol. It is our connection to each other. 

It certainly is our connection and our respect for all that we come across. And actually, for those people who want 

to engage with Aboriginal people, it's a significant symbol—just as the Australian flag is for others, and that isn't 

a profit-making symbolic gesture for everyone else. I suppose, when you talk about symbols, when they sailed on 

into the cove in Sydney they put up a flag there. That flag doesn't represent my people, but this one certainly does. 

When I think about our journey in terms of the struggle in Redfern as a child of the movement and with my 

mum, who's here today, and many of my elders—Paul Coe, Aunty Isabel Coe, Billy Craigie and so many others—

the struggle and the movement was through this flag but also through these colours, because it is what we 

represent and what we've always pulled together for. When that struggle happened, no-one wanted to copyright it; 

no-one wanted to make a profit off it because there wasn't profit making in Aboriginal business. It appears today 

that the profit is actually for those that want to do it off our misery for the benefit of themselves. If I go back to 

some of those marches, I remember when we used to march from Redfern down to Town Hall when that struggle, 

when that movement happened. It continues across the country, but certainly, in the first movements that took 

place in the seventies and in the riots that took place here on the lawns of Old Parliament House, those that fought 

for our rights didn't fight for any of the beliefs of what could be made a profit of but for our inherent rights of our 

sovereign rights. 

I recall when I took place in some of these marches that there were placards and the like that said, 'We want 

land rights now.' In particular, I recall the '88 march when we weren't a part of any of the celebrations; we were 

actually excluded from that, but so many included us across the country by coming together and marching 

together down to look at a re-enactment of the death of so many of our people that took place. There was a 

symbol back then, and that flag was that unifying symbol. But there was a placard in those days and it said, 

'60,000 years BC', and that BC was 'before Cook'. I'd like to say to the Senate committee that it's still 60,000 years 

but now it becomes 'before WAM'. We need to think about that. It's no longer 'before Cook'. We seem to be 

'before WAM'. We've been here, and we haven't swayed away from our commitment to our country and our 

causes; we continue to fight for the rights of our people. But do we actually have to fight for the right to have our 

symbol, the symbol of who we are and who we will continue to be here today and beyond today? 

As I mentioned when I introduced myself, I came here four years ago for Senator McCarthy's maiden speech. 

If people want to listen to that speech, as you listen to it think about how she actually spoke after Senator Hanson 

and the hatred that Senator Hanson continues to perpetuate in this country. Do we need to have that same hatred 
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towards us and within us because someone else wants to make a profit at the expense of us that continue to live 

our life, not the life that they want to represent, on the products that they produce and sell at profit? 

CHAIR:  Would the other participants like to respond as well? 

Ms Katona:  Yes. If it's possible I'd like to just bring to the attention of the committee and echo in solidarity 

the statement made by the metropolitan Aboriginal land council. At the time the flag was created by Harold 

Thomas, Aboriginal people were subjected to various levels of legalised discrimination in Australia. The country 

had just voted overwhelmingly to ask the federal government to change that, yet we're still waiting now for the 

Australian government to totally recognise Indigenous rights. Our experiences of dispossession have united us 

behind the flag as a strong political movement in Australia. Many Aboriginal people are not aware that the flag 

has recognition as a Commonwealth flag. In fact, the small number of people that I've spoken to are quite shocked 

that it can receive some acknowledgement, in that sense, by the Commonwealth government when, in effect, we 

see successive governments angling to return to lawful discrimination against Aboriginal people. 

I think there are tremendous difficulties experienced by Aboriginal people in having to approach a group of 

non-Aboriginal people to ask permission as to whether they may wear the symbol that unites us in our 

dispossession, either on our clothing or during our marches. This represents, and reproduces, the powerlessness 

that Aboriginal people face on a daily basis. It is these issues that Aboriginal people are responding to. 

Aboriginal people don't want to the right to be taken away from Harold as the flag's creator, but we need a fair 

process and a process that recognises the immense difficulties that Aboriginal people still experience as second-

class, third-class, citizens in Australia. 

CHAIR:  Thank you, Jacqui. I will go to APY now. Do we have you on the line? 

Ms Scales:  We're here, and I'm sitting here with Leah Brady and Yaritji Heffernan, two of the artists from the 

APY art centre galleries. I just want to say first of all: thank you for allowing us to be here and present to you 

guys—Leah is waving, and so is Yaritji. 

First off, this is a huge issue. Obviously, there's lots of contention and a lot of issues around this flag and how 

people feel about it. As artists and as desert artists, we're here about the intellectual property and the support of 

that for artists across Australia. As it's been said, Harold Thomas is the copyright owner of the Aboriginal flag. He 

is an empowered Indigenous man. This is his work. It is his IP. And if Harold was an artist that was represented 

by an arts centre and he was on the APY Lands, the APY Arts Centre Collective would be supporting him with all 

the legal support and expertise necessary for him to make decisions that he wants. 

This issue has actually received significant media attention, driven by various industries including the football, 

which has given this issue the immediate government attention and a call for action from various parties. We just 

wish that the challenges for remote Indigenous artists would be regarded with the same importance by 

government. My elders want for Indigenous artists to be provided the same attention and sense of urgency in 

regards to government support and protection for artists' rights and IP. 

My elders and senior artists on the APY Lands have been asking for better industry regulation to protect 

vulnerable artists and Indigenous businesses from carpetbaggers based in Alice Springs. This issue has required 

attention—urgent attention—and action from government for over 10 years. The Senate inquiry into this was 

actually in 2007. Remote Indigenous art continues to be exploited and ripped off. Too much fake art is still being 

produced. While Harold is in a position to make empowered decisions in regards to his work and his IP, there are 

far too many remote Indigenous artists who aren't. This is the issue which should be prioritised by government. 

Also, a lot is being said about Mr Thomas's responsibility to Indigenous businesses and industry. This is for Mr 

Thomas to determine. I've also heard significant commentary that Indigenous pride should be valued over profit. 

This seems really unfair. Indigenous artists shouldn't be put in this position. Indigenous artists should be 

supported to harness the full economic benefits of their artwork in the same way non-Indigenous artists are able to 

enjoy their businesses and the return on their work. 

Again, I wish that a lot of the issues that are prevalent in our Indigenous communities are given the quick 

turnaround and support that this issue has been given. This is about Indigenous voices and this is about making 

sure that it's all being heard. We thank you for allowing us to be here and to give our point across. But we need to 

make sure that the rights of all Indigenous artists are protected and that we can get substantial change about 

carpetbaggers, who continue to hurt my elders and my communities. Since we brought up the issue with Minister 

Wyatt and the government last year, we've had at least two artists being taken into community. So this is an issue 

[inaudible]. But thank you so much for everything, and I hope you come to a conclusion that is supported by all. 

CHAIR:  Thank you. Senator Dodson, you may ask one more question, then we will move to other senators.  
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Senator DODSON:  I'm just wondering whether people want the Commonwealth government to step in and 

resolve the issue in relation to the flag but also the other matters raised by Ms Scales, I think. 

CHAIR:  Is that question addressed to any particular witness, Senator Dodson? 

Senator DODSON:  No, it's an open question. 

Ms Katona:  To make a quick response, I think this is a matter of considerable public interest. Aboriginal 

people have an indelible relationship with this symbol. I think it would be wrong if the Commonwealth were to be 

the organisation that administered approvals, that gave permission for the use of the flag. I think the current 

licence holder had has shown that they have limitations, to put it mildly, as to how they can deal with this in a 

way that continues to be beneficial to Aboriginal people. The reason why Harold designed the flag was that it 

would bring about a benefit—that it would strengthen the image of Aboriginal people and the political statements 

made by Aboriginal people—and I don't think the licence holder take that into account at all, if they are 

continuously refusing not-for-profit Aboriginal organisations permission for use of the flag. It is the not-for-profit 

groups, and we've heard about use of the flag by schoolchildren, by Aboriginal elders—we're talking about people 

who in no way are going to receive a monetary benefit as a result of expressing their united strength and their 

challenge to dispossession. It is these factors that the current licence holder seem unable to integrate in their 

decision-making. I think the matter is of public interest and about the rights of Harold Thomas. Rather than 

forming an attack on him as a copyright holder, there should be some positive negotiations undertaken with 

Harold to ensure that processing request for permissions in the future is carried out in a culturally sensitive and 

politically appropriate manner.  

Mr Moran:  Firstly, I acknowledge that I've carried these colours my entire life. As a baby of 1974, I was born 

into a period of time when the flag was representative of all of our people and all of our struggles. What I bring 

with me today is a commemoration, ironically;  in 1991 there was a 20-year anniversary celebrating the flag. In 

the words of Harold himself, he talks about it being symbolic of all Aboriginal people, something that represents 

us all. If only we could achieve what its original intentions were. I would agree with the earlier comments of 

Jacqui; I believe it is the government's task to ensure the flag is appropriately able to be used by Aboriginal 

people and Aboriginal communities. That is the primary issue I would like to see occur. 

I'm particularly upset from the questions earlier about Aboriginal communities not being able to use the flag. 

As my chair stated earlier, the local land council I represent, Metropolitan, one of the first land councils of 

Australia, made a decision not to use the flag, because we did not want to submit a request to a non-Aboriginal 

business for the right to use a symbol that's been us since all of us have been here. Today I hope the government 

can see the community benefit. But I'd like to cut to the chase and say that I would like our flag, the Aboriginal 

flag, to be the same as the Australian flag and the same as the Torres Strait Islander flag. It's an actual community 

asset, not something that's traded for commercial purposes. 

Ms Scales:  I would like to say that I would wish that Harold be involved massively in these conversations. 

The last time government got involved in a copyright issue, it was around Albert Namatjira. Albert Namatjira's 

family were left in the dust for decades. We need to make sure of the protections of Harold, and that Mr Thomas 

is here as well and is part of this conversation. Whatever happens, I wish that this can be acted on quickly instead 

of the can being kicked down the road for further governments and further issues. 

Ms A Weldon:  I believe in copyright. I certainly believe that people's creation is an individual creation they 

were blessed with or had the Dreaming to create or the ability to create. But this flag is different. It has different 

meaning. You can talk about copyright and you can talk about plagiarism. Let's look at what's been done with dot 

art in this country. It came from other nations. It was their Dreaming, their creation. When they sit down and they 

create a piece of a story, that's about that individual or that particular era of time. The symbolism of the flag is 

something that was born and has continued through the decades for all Aboriginal people in this country, and it 

belongs to all Aboriginal people. The symbolism is something that we base our identity on. I think that's what's 

got to be looked at. 

Let's cut to the chase: these people have certainly made money, again. It is always on our back and our misery 

as Aboriginal people, and enough is enough. For this to happen to our flag is one of the greatest injustices in this 

country. I don't disagree with Sally saying that individual copyright is an individual right for those individuals—

so be it. But at the same time, Sally, there is so much appropriation of our art, culture, dance and music. It is an 

absolute disgrace in this country. 

Ms Scales:  I would like to respond to that. I think it all deserves attention, and remote Indigenous artists 

shouldn't be forgotten in that. This is an issue that comes up continuously around copyright and around protection 

of artists. 
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CHAIR:  Is Boe Spearim on the line? 

Mr Spearim:  I'm Gamilaraay, Kooma and Muruwari, based here in Brisbane on Yuggera and Turrbal country. 

I'd like to add is from the perspective of a younger person, an activist who has organised with Warriors of the 

Aboriginal Resistance here in Brisbane and BASE over the last six years. One of the things that have stood out to 

me in the last six years has been the rise of political issues. We see at the forefront of our movement things 

getting massive for us, the numbers of people starting to access rallies and these different things. One of the main 

things that they're coming under is the banner of the Aboriginal flag. It is one of the only, if not the only, and one 

of the most uniting images we've had on this continent in the last 250 years. There are many things that unite 

Aboriginal people on this continent. There is language, connection, culture, ceremony—many different things—

but when we think of the Aboriginal flag, it takes it to another level in terms of connection and who we are and 

how we exist on this continent. 

I was very fortunate in 2014 to go on an international trip to Turtle Island, to Canada. If there was one thing we 

wanted to gift other indigenous communities it was the Aboriginal flag. It was a symbol of who we are. When I 

speak to these people again, they say they proudly have it on their wall or they take it to their rallies as well. As a 

younger person adding to the conversation, and respecting the conversation about ownership and also the rights to 

the flag, one thing that I've seen in the 31 years that I've been on Earth is that anywhere that I go, any community 

I've been to, any house that I've been to, any funeral I've attended, any birthing ceremony I've attended, one thing 

that's always been with our people is the Aboriginal flag. 

When talking about our flag—I'm sure many other speakers have mentioned the importance of the flag—we 

think of 1988, the bicentennial, and the Aboriginal flag hanging down off the cliffs while the Endeavour sailed 

past, the stark reminder of this history. In 1988 it was 200 years. That flag was draped over these cliffs. It was a 

harsh reminder to anybody celebrating the arrival that we're still here and we have always been here. It has been 

and always will be a flag that represents, that feels more so ours than anything else, I think, any physical thing on 

this continent. Whatever happens in the future, I'm still going to have this flag hanging up in my house. I'm going 

to still wear the shirt with the Aboriginal flag on it on certain days. It's sad that it's gotten to the point where it is 

now, in this sort of debate. Is there a winner? At the end of this conversation, at the end of where this debate goes, 

there is a committee put together and there is something given to the respected owner or to the people who have 

the licence as well. I'm very conscious that I haven't mentioned the licensee, the people who own the flag now. 

I'm not going to talk to who they are but I'll talk to the experience and what the flag has meant to me. 

I'm fortunate that in my 31 years I've met many different Aboriginal people from different parts of the country 

and I've been fortunate enough to study history. If there one thing that has always been [inaudible] I want to say 

thanks for giving me some space and time to have the conversation about the importance of the flag. 

CHAIR:  Thanks, Mr Spearim. The question Senator Dodson was asking was: do you want the government to 

step in and resolve the issue? I think that's really where— 

Mr Spearim:  Yes. That's the funny part, isn't it? The government's— 

CHAIR:  I'm just mindful of time; sorry, Boe. Keep going, and then I'll quickly go to the chairperson of Metro. 

Mr Spearim:  I'll just finish off. It's a funny thing; at the end of the day, if we do get the flag back, is 

somebody going to be compensated for that? That's the contentious issue about this. But, at the end of the day, 

that's where we have to go to. I think that's a broader discussion that would involve more people as well. 

CHAIR:  Okay. Thank you, Boe. Ms Weldon? 

Ms Y Weldon:  As I said earlier, we have many different nations, clans and tribes across this continent. There 

isn't any one voice or one language or one practice. What I see here, and what I understand of what Sally has 

stated here today, talking about art and IP, is that no-one is taking away the IP of Harold Thomas. But just as with 

the other symbols across the country, there aren't many symbols that unify. There is a commonality for all 

Aboriginal people, which is this flag. When we talk about practice, when we talk about ceremony and when we 

talk about our art, it's quite specific to region, quite specific to that artist and quite specific to the people that it 

represents. But, when we talk about this flag, it is a symbol. Yes, it was an artist, a person, who was part of that 

creation process, but it transferred from a piece of art to become a flag and the symbol for the movement of 

Aboriginal people. If I were to go to different caves and look at different creation stories that have been 

documented, or even when you go to ceremony and the documentation of our practice is painted on our skin, that 

practice, from one part of the country to the next, is significant to that local people. 

Yes, this flag was born out of a process, but it moved beyond that to be a symbol of so many across this 

country. So what I would like to ask the senators, for your consideration, is: when the rights were purchased by 

the Commonwealth under ATSIC previously, why did they lapse when there was an opportunity for it to become 
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a symbol for people? In the ATSIC days, the colours of this flag were used in the ATSIC symbol. So why was 

this allowed by the government, and the governments since then, through the people elected and all of the IP 

experts and copyright people that are employed by the government? Why didn't they look at this symbol for my 

people, for me, for my children and for my grandchildren? Why was it allowed to lapse, allowing the situation we 

are in today? Is it because we want only one symbol in this country, the Union Jack sitting with the southern 

stars? Or is it because we don't want this to be a part of the Australian public awareness and free for all of our 

people—your people? So I'll leave that with you. Why isn't it common, from the Commonwealth, that this be 

accepted for us and, by the Commonwealth, for all of us? 

CHAIR:  Thanks, Ms Weldon. 

Senator DAVEY:  I just have a couple of questions regarding the time line. I acknowledge that the flag was 

first flown in 1971 and that, over the ensuing years, it became a widely recognised symbol amongst our 

Indigenous nations, to the point that it was then declared an official flag by the Keating government in 1995, 

which we heard earlier today. Then Mr Harold Thomas established his ownership of the copyright through court 

proceedings in 1997. From there, there has been a licensing arrangement over time. As you quite rightly point out, 

there was a licence between Mr Thomas and ATSIC at one point in time. I'm not sure about the timeline that was 

established there. There have been other licensing arrangements. I'd be interested in understanding your view of 

how the flag may be used to this day if Mr Thomas had not established that copyright action. 

Ms Y Weldon:  Sorry, what was the question? 

Mr Moran:  If Harold had not fought and won copyright, what would have been the position of our people in 

regard to the use of the flag? 

Ms Y Weldon:  We'd still be using it. Before it became a commercial venture, I refused to pay for the flag. I 

painted it myself for the last protest march that I participated in, like we did in the seventies. In the seventies, no-

one would print T-shirts with the Aboriginal flag, because this country was too racist. It would only be printed it 

on stickers. We would put the stickers on our T-shirts. Not only did we do that, we also had lots of 

competitions—not openly spoken about—on who had the best-looking black, yellow and red colours at every 

march that we went to. My grandmothers and my aunties knitted scarves and caps for us to wear. That wasn't 

because Harold Thomas didn't license it; it was because they're the colours of my people. So we have continually 

displayed that not because we couldn't get it printed but because we had it made in various forms. 

CHAIR:  Thank you, Ms Weldon. Senator Davey, did you have another or question, or will I go to Senator 

Thorpe? 

Senator DAVEY:  You can go to Senator Thorpe. That's fine. I'm conscious of time. 

Senator THORPE:  Thank you, everyone, for your statements. I too would like to acknowledge Aunty Anne 

and Aunty Isabel Coe and the fact that it's her birthday today. I feel very strongly about those sentiments as well. 

What model of licensing or use would you say is the most appropriate for grassroots communities? Have you got 

an idea of a model that we could use? Obviously the model that's out there now is not working. What is a model, 

do you think, that would work? 

Ms Y Weldon:  I think one of the greatest issues for Aboriginal people is that so many people make a benefit 

off our lives. Government in the past, through ATSIC, could have purchased the rights for it to be used. But in 

terms of the products that have been able to be produced, it would be a different thing if Aboriginal people were 

benefitting from WAM in producing local resources in our local communities, because it actually represents those 

people. The symbol of the flag is for us, for the benefit of us. Who will the people stand up at the front with the 

flag represent? They're not representing me. They're representing the people that profited off it. It's similar to our 

Aboriginal organisations, and particularly Metro. 

What we have seen of the appropriation of the lived experience of Aboriginal culture has been captured in a 

monetary sense for personal gain beyond community. We do our cultural services to give back to community, 

because that's all we've ever known. We don't exist in isolation; we only exist with each other. So any model 

would be about the benefit. If 100 per cent of the profits or a percentage of the profits went back to community to 

make changes for Aboriginal community, isn't that the point of it? Isn't that the point of why this was displayed in 

the first instance? Isn't it the collective or the symbol of what we all stand for and what we continue to fight for 

because the rights aren't the same? So, if we were to have a model, it would actually be about giving back to who 

it's for rather than taking it away from who it's about. 

CHAIR:  Can I go to Sally Scales and the APY collective? Would you like to respond to Senator Thorpe as 

well? Then I'll go to Jacqui Katona. 
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Ms Scales:  Whatever model is then going to be done, I would say that Harold needs to be supported, to be 

empowered. He needs to be part of the process here. The copyright and IP issues sit with him and whatever the 

government decides to do, he needs to be supported in these steps to get to an amicable decision that will be 

supportive of whatever. But it needs to be supportive of Harold, as an artist and as an Aboriginal man. I think 

that's what is being forgotten as well: Harold is an Aboriginal man and he has a right in this conversation. He is a 

Luritja man who needs to be supported to get the best outcome for himself and for the community. 

CHAIR:  Jacqui Katona? 

Ms Katona:  I'd like to echo agreement with Sally's comments about the need to ensure that Harold 

participates as fully as possible in any process that's going to determine the future use of it. He has the copyright 

in Australian law, but I think there needs to be consideration given as to who the licence holder should be and 

what conditions the licence holder should demonstrate. It shouldn't be controversial to negotiate fair use, for a 

nominal fee or no fee, for a range of uses of the Aboriginal flag by Aboriginal people for Aboriginal people. 

These shouldn't be issues that are causing controversy. 

The flag is used in our challenge to overcome dispossession and the lack of recognition of Indigenous rights in 

Australia by all levels of government. But to see the Aboriginal flag flown, for example, in front of a police 

station is a cause for concern for many Aboriginal people—especially for those families who have experienced 

deaths in custody of their people. To see the Aboriginal flag flown, perhaps, in the precincts of the local council 

may be a cause of controversy because that local council isn't advocating for Aboriginal rights—the land rights of 

Aboriginal people. That local council may not be advocating for Indigenous rights. 

We need to have a process that clearly defines what the Aboriginal flag means to Aboriginal people and to 

empower Aboriginal people in the way that Harold Thomas saw it. 

CHAIR:  Thanks. Senator Thorpe, do you have any further questions? 

Senator THORPE:  Yes. Hypothetically, and with respect to Harold Thomas—I hear what you're saying 

there—would you see value in community controlled Aboriginal organisations managing a licensing system for 

anyone who wanted to use the flag in a business or commercial way? 

Mr Moran:  If I may, I would suggest that's a yes. I can't foresee why it's such a big issue. I loved how Jacqui 

spoke there, that we have rates which acknowledge Aboriginal people and genuine Aboriginal communities. I 

acknowledge that I too have issues with the Crown—be that state, local or Commonwealth—using our flag. I 

think that sometimes comes across as very disrespectful, knowing that some of those bodies are not engaging with 

us respectfully. 

I believe that just as most companies and insurance bodies have rates for associate members and rates for full 

members and long-term members, we could be creative and at least come up with exemptions for verified 

Aboriginal people, Aboriginal land councils or Aboriginal native title holders. Then we could similarly have 

different fees applying to corporatised arrangements, leading all the way to the government paying a different fee 

to what GIO, say, or some insurance company would. So yes, I think it's very doable. I look forward to hopefully 

getting Harold involved to get back what he would like to see, as he espoused when he created it—how we can 

access it and also how other non-Aboriginal people can use it for an appropriate fee. 

Ms Y Weldon:  Can I just add that I think one of the difficulties with that as well is we need to have some 

honest, open, frank conversations around Aboriginality. I know it's a contentious issue. I also would like to say 

that the fact that we don't have an Aboriginal voice in this country—you had ATSIC. We've had some 

conversations around the Uluru statement, although I don't stand for that statement at all and the process for how 

that undertaken, because it wasn't inclusive of all Aboriginal nations; there were a select few that provided that 

view. But I think if you had a true Aboriginal agency that had the voices of Aboriginal people included across this 

country, then there could be some open dialogue around these significant issues. 

CHAIR:  Thanks, Ms Weldon. 

Senator BRAGG:  Thanks very much for your time today and for giving your evidence. It's been very, very 

helpful. I guess I'm just wanting to nail your position. You mentioned before that you'd like to see the Aboriginal 

flag treated like the Australian flag—that is, available for anyone to use. Is that a correct characterisation of your 

position? 

Mr Moran:  For myself personally, absolutely. I believe, for the members of the Metropolitan Local 

Aboriginal Land Council, we would like it to have the same respect as the Torres Strait Islander flag and, indeed, 

the Australian flag. I believe there's a lot to be learned from the Torres Strait Islander flag, when listening to the 

creator of that flag talking about it being a gift to his society and people and culture. I hope we can get that 

reflected in a new arrangement for our flag. 
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Senator BRAGG:  Thank you. 

Senator O'SULLIVAN:  Can I just thank everyone for their time today. It's on the public record that Minister 

Wyatt is in discussion at the moment with various stakeholders here. What advice would you be giving the 

government at the moment? I'm hearing lots of different feelings about it, which are all very valid, I've got to say. 

But what specifically should we be doing to make sure we are protecting the interests and the rights of Mr 

Thomas whilst also achieving some of the outcomes that you'd like to see? I'm happy for anyone to answer that. 

CHAIR:  We'll give each group a chance. I might just go to APY first, and then to Boe and then Jacqui, and 

then let Metro have the final say. Sally, are you able to respond to Senator O'Sullivan? 

Ms Scales:  My point would be that Harold needs to be involved in all of these processes. Again I would say 

that all Aboriginal artists across the country should be afforded the same support that Harold has in this space. As 

I said, we've got huge issues of carpet bagging and also huge issues of fake art. As I said, the last time that was a 

part of the conversation was in the 2007 Senate inquiry. This is a massive issue, especially for Central Australian 

artists. So I would say that, again, Harold should be supported in all of this and so should all Indigenous artists 

with their IPAs and copyright issues. 

Senator O'SULLIVAN:  Sorry to interrupt, but what do you mean by 'Harold should be supported'? Can you 

articulate that a bit more? 

Ms Scales:  The conversations that we're hearing are from our stakeholders and also from—we had a massive 

media turnout, especially with the AFL being involved. The last time Harold was heard from was last year, 

around this issue, so Harold needs to be a part of this conversation. He needs to be empowered to make sure that 

his rights are protected, as the holder of the IPA, as a holder of the copyright, and supported—as every Aboriginal 

artist should be, to get the best outcome for themselves. 

Senator O'SULLIVAN:  Okay. Others? 

CHAIR:  Boe? 

Mr Spearim:  Reiterating what Sally said, definitely, Harold needs to be involved in this conversation. It's 

been a long time—almost over a year, I think—that the conversation of the flag has been happening. From my 

recollection, I think Uncle has only spoken out a handful of times, which is obvious as well with how important 

this conversation is. We would definitely love to hear more from him and other people in the community. Thanks 

for that. 

CHAIR:  Jacqui Katona? 

Ms Katona:  I think it's pretty well agreed that we don't want to see any copyright protection diminished for 

any copyright holder, given the difficulty there is in maintaining protections, generally, for Aboriginal art and 

Aboriginal artists. Harold being central to any process, going forward, is something that everybody is agreed 

upon. But the nature of fair use by Aboriginal people—that is, non-commercial use—I think, is really at the heart 

of the problem. Commercial use can be problematic where organisations are engaged in profit making, yet they're 

not prepared to financially acknowledge the holder rights. That's a problem with very basic Australian law not just 

the moral issue that it carries for Aboriginal people.  

We have heard way too much about the AFL and its insistence or its refusal to pay a fee. It's a real shame. One 

would have thought that the AFL would try to rehabilitate their reputation, in relation to Aboriginal issues, but 

apparently not. Aboriginal people are extremely sensitive to whomever non-Aboriginal entity wants to use the 

flag. Frankly, we have a continued [inaudible] about non-Aboriginal entities and their intentions for using the 

flag, given our experience, over more than three generations, of the discrimination in our communities 

experienced by our people. This flag stands for our strength and our unity, and the non-commercial use for the 

strengthening of Aboriginal peoples and communities is something that we seek to preserve. It's certainly the 

reason why I'm contributing to this forum today. 

CHAIR:  Thank you, Jacqui. I'll go to Metro with the final say. 

Mr Moran:  I'm speaking on behalf of our chair—who apologises; she's got to step out to attend a meeting on 

behalf of our land council back at home—acknowledging that, for us, Mr Thomas must be involved. It's 

paramount. We never disrespect the artist, as you've heard from all of us today. But, at the same time, we'd like it 

acknowledged what he himself wrote in 1971, that this was a bit bigger than an individual artistic design or an 

individual design; it was for a collective, as a symbol for all of us. So it's about that balance. We acknowledge that 

the artist has rights, but we, as the community it was designed for, feel that we too have rights to access and use it. 

We don't feel that we should be treated like commercial users. Again, I would ask that the government look into 
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the possibility of having a discussion with Mr Thomas about getting appropriate users to pay appropriate fees and, 

more importantly, about us, the individuals who it's about, being exempt. 

CHAIR:  I thank the representatives from the APY for their attendance this afternoon. We've really 

appreciated hearing from you. To Boe Spearim, thank you for your attendance. Jacqui Katona, it's good to hear 

from you, and also representatives from the Metro Local Aboriginal Land Council: Nathan Moran, Aunty Anne 

Weldon and Yvonne Weldon. Thank you all very much for your time this afternoon. 

Mr Moran:  It's too deadly to have three of our mob involved on this. We're so proud of you all—Malarndirri, 

Lidia and Mr Dodson. We love the fact that we're involved in the conversation at all levels. 

CHAIR:  Thank you. 
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THOMPSON, Ms Laura, Managing Director, Spark Health Australia 

Evidence was taken via teleconference— 

[15:26] 

CHAIR:  I welcome representatives from Spark Health Australia. Thank you for taking the time to give 

evidence today. Information about parliamentary privilege has been provided to you and is available from the 

secretariat. I invite you to make a brief opening statement. 

Ms Thompson:  I'm here today on Wurundjeri country as a Gunditjmara woman and as a member of the 

Victorian Aboriginal community. I'm a Free the Flag campaigner and I'm co-founder and managing director of 

Spark Health and Clothing the Gap. We're an Aboriginal social enterprise and we reinvest 100 per cent of our 

profits back into the community to add to people's lives. Eighteen months ago, at Spark Health, we started selling 

clothes, like this one, and we wanted to put the Aboriginal flag on them. I loved the Aboriginal flag so much I 

didn't just put one on; I put three on. I sent Harold Thomas two letters, because I wanted to get his permission to 

use the flag, but I never heard back from Harold, and I knew nothing of WAM. Like many other people, I chose 

to still use my flag, just as we have all done for the last 49 years. In June 2019, I received a cease-and-desist letter 

from WAM Clothing, informing me that WAM has the worldwide exclusive licence to reproduce the Aboriginal 

flag on clothing, that I had three days to stop selling my products and that time was of the essence. We complied. 

Thanks to community, we sold out of our illegal flag products, but we didn't sell out on our values. We've been 

campaigning to free the flag ever since. 

In August 2019 I received another email from WAM, who were acting as a litigation agent on behalf of Harold 

Thomas, demanding to see the financial records for sales and use of the Aboriginal flag on products. Not for one 

moment did I consider entering into a licensing agreement with WAM to use the flag, nor would I dream of 

asking them for permission. The thought of them further asserting their newfound power by assessing my 

financial records made me feel nauseous and it felt like an invasion of my privacy. The audacity of this from Ben 

Wooster was shocking, given his history in exploiting Aboriginal culture for profit and his outstanding $2.3 

million fine from the ACCC. 

If I was making these same products with the Australian flag on them, I wouldn't be standing here today. 

Anyone can reproduce the Australian flag respectfully and with integrity any way they choose. If Aboriginal 

people had known that Harold Thomas would end up receiving these private ownership rights over the flag and 

appointing non-Indigenous licensees to shut down its use unless a fee was paid, I don't think anyone would have 

adopted it. 

Flags should always be about pride and not profit, so we started a petition, and today nearly 150,000 people 

have signed the petition and supported what has become a movement to free the flag for all people. By my side 

I've had Nova Peris, former senator and Olympian; Michael Connolly, managing director of Dreamtime Kullilla-

Art; my pro bono lawyer Peter Francis, from FAL Lawyers; and my Clothing the Gap fam. We've heard countless 

stories from people—individuals, businesses and companies—who have been impacted. I want to make it really 

clear—and we've heard this from Ben Wooster himself—that this copyright licence is not just affecting people 

who are selling the flag for commercial use; it goes far beyond that. Select Committee, I want you to ask 

yourselves: where has the flag gone from this year's NAIDOC poster? Why is it disappearing from our email 

signatures? Can you spot the flag on the Deadly Choices health check shirt? And why is it missing from our 

Aboriginal grassroots sports teams' uniforms, knockouts and carnivals? Let me tell you about Melbourne Warriors 

and Aunty Rieo Ellis. They fundraise tirelessly for deadly new uniforms every year. This year they were slugged 

an extra 20 per cent on top of their invoice because they wanted to include a little flag on the sleeve. It was too 

expensive for them, and Aunty Rieo didn't want to pay to use the flag on principle, because she believes the flag 

belongs to the people, to her and to the players. 

This copyright and licence is putting an invisibility cloak over our Aboriginal flag. I reflected on this issue with 

Aunty Muriel Bamblett, CEO of the Victorian Aboriginal Child Care Agency, and she shared that many 

vulnerable kids in out-of-home care aren't strong in culture, confident in who they are or connected to their 

Aboriginal community, and the flag becomes even more important to them. It's everything to who they are as an 

Aboriginal child. When support staff ask these kids to draw something that makes them feel safe, so many of 

them reach for their red, black and yellow pencils and draw a flag. It is so much more than just a flag. For these 

vulnerable kids, like many of us, the flag is our safety blanket. It's our protection. It's our sense of belonging. 

When we're thinking about creating culturally safe environments, one of the first things we often do is display the 

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander flags. We heard from Wayne, from Flagworld, that you can display and fly 

these flags for free. That's correct, but we've already paid a premium price for the privilege, for the years of 
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additional costs for the Aboriginal flag, compared to the Australian flag, to cover the licensing fees and the 

royalties, and we shouldn't have to pay more for our flag than any other nationality. 

Since this copyright dispute has come to light, the community have stopped using the Aboriginal flag like they 

used to, for three key reasons—to avoid possible legal action, to avoid paying to do so and on principle. No-one 

wants to have to ask to use their flag, from non-Indigenous people. As Aboriginal people, we're now being forced 

to adapt the way we express our Aboriginality by creating different versions of the flag to show our pride and 

unity. The creativity of the Aboriginal community in trying to sidestep and avoid the copyright issue in the last 12 

months has been incredible. We've even used the sky. However, we shouldn't have to go to these lengths. It is yet 

another example of hardship and a reminder of the oppression that Aboriginal people still face. 

The value of the flag is only equal to the pride and passion of the people it represents. Without the people 

adopting it and using it, like we saw with Cathy Freeman on the international sporting stage, it's no more than a 

piece of coloured cloth. When we think about the flag and what it's worth, I want you to take a moment and ask 

yourselves who created the value. Without Aboriginal people's endorsement and love of this symbol, the flag is 

meaningless, and it's losing value every day. Many people are talking about retiring the Aboriginal flag and 

creating a new one. Let us remember: the Aboriginal flag was always created to be a flag, to be flown on 

flagpoles and to be displayed with pride, not to be a piece of framed artwork to be put on the wall. 

I want to see more black flags in the world and not fewer. The reality is, though, when I see a little flag pin—

maybe some of you senators wear them—I ask myself: 'Did we make that? Is that from Giftsmate or Birubi Arts? 

Are they profiting from it?' When I see the Aboriginal flag on clothes now, I wonder if a deal has been done with 

WAM. And just look what happened with Buddy Franklin and the community outrage when they discovered that 

Buddy had an agreement with WAM. It was public pressure that saw Buddy revoke his agreement and stop 

selling the Aboriginal flag products from his online store. 

Take a moment to imagine if we lifted this invisibility cloak, this copyright, and everyone had an opportunity 

to make Aboriginal flag products and you could choose if you wanted to buy a $20 tee made in China from the 

Vic Market or a $50 tee made in Melbourne from an Aboriginal business. All Australians should be entitled to 

choice as consumers. I can't wait until I walk down the supermarket aisle on Survival Day and there are 

Aboriginal plates, napkins and bunting. This won't happen until there is a public licence for all people, and 

wouldn't this be an incredible step towards reconciliation in this country? 

In closing, I want to see flag equality for the Aboriginal flag to be equal to the Australian flag. I want all 

Australians, all Australians, to have free public licence to the Aboriginal flag in the same way we do to the 

Australian flag. This is the ultimate in community control. Given his moral rights, Harold will be forever 

acknowledged as the flag's creator, but I believe the flag and its copyright should rest in one camp, not two, and 

be administered safely under the Flags Act. The Flags Act offers all the protection the Aboriginal flag will ever 

need. The introduction of another administrative body to hold the flag would perhaps offer no additional 

protection and would only add further layers of administration around its usage. 

Select committee, I ask you to do whatever it takes to bring Harold Thomas's vision for the flag to be a simple 

beautification to life and to maintain its integrity. Let's remove the shackles in which the flag is being held, find a 

fair and equitable resolution to ensure the Aboriginal flag remains just that, an official flag of Australia, protected 

under the Flags Act, where the commercial exploitation and control of copyright does not impact on everyday 

Australians and the Aboriginal community. The symbol holds too much national significance to be owned and 

controlled by one person. It will be less open to exploitation and greed. I urge the committee, before we celebrate 

the Aboriginal flag's 50th birthday next year in July let it be free and remain as a representation of pride, and 

resistance and a celebration of culture and identity. Time is of the essence and now it's your time to free the flag 

for the people. 

CHAIR:  Thank you very much, Ms Thompson. I will go to Senator Davey and then to Senator Lines. 

Senator DAVEY:  Thank you, Chair. Ms Thompson, thank you for your very passionate opening statement. 

Currently Mr Harold Thompson is the recognised copyright holder and he has entered these licensed agreements 

with others. It has not been at the Commonwealth's instigation. This has been at Mr Thomas's instigation. How 

can we continue to respect Mr Thomas's role as the artist, the author of the flag, the current copyright holder 

while, as you describe, and allowing free public licence? 

Ms Thompson:  I'm not a lawyer. But I have been informed by my lawyer that Harold will always maintain his 

moral rights to the flag. He will always be recognised as the flag's creator. There's a right to prevent any 

derogatory treatment of the flag, so I feel like that's it. 
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Senator DAVEY:  Hypothetically, if we were to go down the path that you described in your opening 

statement he would no longer get compensation for the use of his artwork? 

Ms Thompson:  I understand that the government is already in delicate negotiations with Harold, and I would 

hope that they would be able to reach some fair and respectful financial compensation in acknowledgement of an 

amazing symbol that we've all loved and adopted. There would be some agreement with Harold and the licences. I 

guess the question, if the government was unable to reach a mutual agreement with Harold, is whether or not 

compulsory acquisition would be on the table. 

Senator DAVEY:  I want to understand what has changed. Mr Thomas has had the recognised copyright since 

1997. There have been licensing arrangements in one form or another ever since. In fact, the flag has always been 

under a licensed arrangement, and my understanding is that clothing and merchandise have also been under 

licensed arrangements. Why do these arrangements need to change now? What has significantly changed recently 

that has let to this push? 

Ms Thompson:  My understanding is that there was a clothing licensee before WAM, called Gooses Clothing, 

and they produced the Aboriginal flag on clothing. They paid a licensing fee and royalties to Harold but they 

didn't actively pursue other people in communities that were also using the flag. I think that's been the real 

difference since Ben Wooster and Semele came on board—it's them actively looking to see who's using the flag 

and then issuing them a cease and desist. It's hard to find everyone who's reproducing the flag on clothing, so 

they'll often go to manufacturers and issue the manufacturer with a cease and desist, and, in some ways, ensure 

that the manufacturer is passing on the message to Aboriginal communities about who to go to to produce stuff. 

It's never really been an issue with Flagworld, because not many of us want to actually produce flags that go on 

flagpoles. So we haven't seen it playing out. It's more that the mob want to use it on clothes, and that's when we've 

seen it play out. 

Senator DAVEY:  Thank you. 

CHAIR:  Senator Lines. 

Senator LINES:  Thank you very much, Ms Thompson, for your powerful contribution. I acknowledge that 

I'm speaking to you from the lands of Wajuk people of the Noongar nation. You said in your submission that you 

had been sent cease-and-desist letters. How many of those have you received, and who have they been from? 

Ms Thompson:  I've received two from WAM Clothing for my business at Spark Health and Clothing the Gap. 

I also have another business, called The Koorie Circle, and I make little Aboriginal flag pins. I think I might be on 

their radar, but it also received a cease and desist from Gifts Mate for producing those. Our direct messages on 

our Instagram are full of other people who've received cease and desists, and also people saying, 'Am I allowed? 

Do I have to pay? Can I use it for this?' There's a massive question mark over how people can use the Aboriginal 

flag right now. 

Senator LINES:  Would you be comfortable with the committee receiving copies of those cease-and-desist 

letters? 

Ms Thompson:  Yes, absolutely. I can send those through. 

Senator LINES:  Thank you. Can you quantify what the cost to your company has been to date? 

Ms Thompson:  I don't know of anyone who has received a cease and desist who hasn't actually been 

compliant. When we received a letter we just stopped selling products from them, so there have been no costs to 

us. We've been lucky that we've had pro bono legal support from the very beginning. 

Senator LINES:  You started off by showing us your beautiful sweater. In terms of your design ability, what 

has the overall impact been on your company? Is that something you can tell us about? 

Ms Thompson:  Our business doesn't solely rely on selling the Aboriginal flag, so it's neither here nor there for 

us. But I will say that this jumper that I'm wearing also has all the different Aboriginal language groups in the 

background. Dare I say it, I don't think Wooster's going to put that on his T-shirt. He doesn't care about the flag 

that much; it's not his flag. 

The thing about the worldwide exclusive agreement is that it's a complete monopoly on what we're able to buy. 

It's the same with Flagworld. It sounds like they're doing a better job than Wooster, but I want to be able to buy 

my flag not just off an Aboriginal man who makes it but from an Aboriginal business. The way this is set up at 

the moment, it's not an open market. I think all Australians deserve to choose who they buy their stuff from. It 

means that I'm only ever going to get an Aboriginal flag tee from Bali. I've seen them, and they're not very great 

quality if I buy them at WAM. I'd like to choose who I buy my tee from. If I want it to be made in Australia and I 

can afford that then I want to be able to choose to buy that too. 
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Senator LINES:  I think you did cover this in your opening submission. Do you think it's unfair to stop people 

using the flag now, after it's been used by so many organisations without any impediments for decades? 

Ms Thompson:  Yes, and I think that's why the community is outraged by it. Just my take on it and having 

campaigned for a bit, I feel like the Aboriginal community still feels like it's a flag worth fighting for. That's 

because they've buried loved ones with it tattooed on their body. They don't want to change flags, but I don't 

know how much longer they will continue to hold the flag in such high regard. Honestly, with the creativity 

around people using the colours, it raises a bigger question about how much is a deviation or a variation of the 

flag that passes the copyright issue. I know there's an example with Flagworld: recently they purchased from a 

company called Free the Flag a deviation on a flag, which was the Aboriginal flag. They replaced the circle with a 

map of Australia, and that was a deviation that Flagworld wanted to pursue them legally for. No-one really knows 

where the line is of what's enough of a deviation. 

Senator LINES:  For how many years, Ms Thompson, were you in business and using the flag prior to any 

cease and desist notices that you received? 

Ms Thompson:  I was pretty excited about this job when I got it. I think I shared it on social media and within 

days I got my cease and desist. I haven't been profiting from the Aboriginal flag at all, but I have been using it, 

right? We haven't spoken about it, but WAM also have the digital licence. I've had the flag on my email signature. 

I've put it on my posters. You have to pay for the right to do that now. If you put an image of the flag on your 

website, you have to pay WAM. I can submit that as evidence too, but the digital component and annual 

subscriptions that you have to sign up for are also real things. 

Senator LINES:  It would be good for us to receive that. You talked in your opening statement about the 

petition. How many people have signed the Free the Flag petition? I think you did tell us—just remind me again? 

Ms Thompson:  It would be 140,000-plus. 

Senator LINES:  Wow! Is there a general community sentiment when people sign that petition that you can 

tell the committee about? 

Ms Thompson:  The statement Free the Flag was trending for a bit. I think it really speaks to people. They just 

want to be able to use it, as I said before, freely without asking for permission. I guess the Free the Flag 

movement is about seeing more Aboriginal flags in the world, not fewer. Essentially, when we started the 

campaign, we just wanted to raise awareness about the impact of the Aboriginal flag copyright. I don't have the 

answers on how to fix it; I just want to make sure that people knew that this was an issue that was impacting on 

lots of people. 

Senator LINES:  I certainly appreciate that I met with you and former Senator Nova Peris when we were 

allowed to have visitors in the parliament quite some time ago. We talked about this at the time. You're wanting 

the government to step in and resolve this issue?  

Ms Thompson:  Yes, I hope that the government can do that respectfully with Harold. I don't know how you 

do that. I feel like there are lots of ways you can do that through the Constitution and legislation. I don't know 

anyone who's had to go to court yet for this, so that's good. That's what we'd like to see. I don't know how you 

will resolve that; I don't think I'm the best person to answer that. 

Senator LINES:  Apart from suggesting legislation or using the Constitution, do you have any other strategies 

you think the government should pursue to resolve this issue? 

Ms Thompson:  My points are really about what do I think a free flag looks like. And that's really the public 

licence, non-conditional use, that anyone can use it. I know there's been lots of talk about just Aboriginal people 

being able to use it. I think what we will see is that we'll want to use it because it's our symbol, but perhaps non-

Indigenous Australians won't pay to use it and that's going to impact on the overall vision to see more Aboriginal 

flags in the world that are not there. 

Senator LINES:  I think this is my last question: if the government can't resolve this issue, do you think it 

should be compulsorily acquired with consultation? 

Ms Thompson:  I feel like the flag is a significant national symbol and that it's worth acquiring. In that 

process, it's not nice but the government acquires things of national significance all the time. In that process 

Harold will still be fairly compensated and so will the licensees, and, again, he'll maintain his moral rights. 

Senator LINES:  Thank you, Ms Thompson. 

Senator SIEWERT:  Taking note of what you just said: what would you think if there were a licence fee for 

where the flag was used in a for-profit situation and the copyright were held by an Aboriginal organisation? 
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Ms Thompson:  If the process were really clear about how to use it I wouldn't be against it. I spoke about the 

flag being a struggle and this whole process of utilising the flag being a struggle—writing to Harold, sending a 

letter to his PO box, him never responding. I think if it were a clear, simple process then that would be okay. I still 

think it would limit the amount of flags we see and the amount of times it's used. I think it would be useful—I 

don't know the answer to this question—to ask the Torres Strait Islander commission how many times they've 

actually said no to people using the flag. I've never known of that. It seems like it's an administrative process 

where the Torres Strait Islander commission generally says: 'Yes, you can use the flag. You just have to make 

sure that you use the right Pantone colours and acknowledge the artist.' If you do those things it's generally a yes. 

If the committee or the body is not going to offer any additional protection that the Flags Act doesn't already offer 

then I question what the purpose is other than for it to make profit to put towards its own social cause. 

Senator SIEWERT:  To follow that up a little bit further: you're concerned that an Aboriginal controlled 

organisation would use the licence fee, where there was a profit being made, for its own purposes? 

Ms Thompson:  I'm not concerned about that. I think that that's a real possibility, but that could be useful if it 

were reinvested in a cause for social benefit for Aboriginal people. If we went down that route then essentially the 

Australian flag isn't equal to the Aboriginal flag. 

Senator SIEWERT:  I see where you're coming from. On the answer you just gave to Senator Lines on 

compulsory acquisition and your comment about Mr Thomas: we've heard a lot today from people being very 

aware that Mr Thomas needs to be supported and treated appropriately. People felt very strongly about that. Do 

you see that compulsory acquisition would be treating Mr Thomas in a way that people have been saying they 

want him to be treated? 

Ms Thompson:  I agree. Harold Thomas's voice has been missing from this debate. I really hope that the 

government don't have to do that and are able to reach a fair and reasonable negotiation with Harold. I also feel 

that the government, when they proclaimed it as a national flag, perhaps should have thought this through. 

Essentially, when the flag was proclaimed it gave the flag more power and more value. I don't know the correct 

answer to that, because I don't know how the community would feel about the Aboriginal flag if it were 

compulsorily acquired versus not being able to reach a negotiated outcome with Harold. 

Senator SIEWERT:  Do I take it from that comment that you'd strongly prefer a negotiated outcome? 

Ms Thompson:  Yes. 

Senator SIEWERT:  Thank you. 

Senator O'SULLIVAN:  Ms Thompson, thank you very much for your time today. You've raised some very 

interesting points. One of the things you said was that we should respect Mr Thomas's moral right. Can you make 

the distinction between what you mean by moral rights versus his intellectual property rights over the artwork and 

the design? 

Ms Thompson:  I'm not a lawyer, but my lawyer told me that the moral right—I don't want to answer that. I 

think a lawyer can. My understanding is that his moral rights will be maintained if— 

Senator O'SULLIVAN:  Well, what's the feeling that you're trying to convey when you say that? You're not 

held to it. 

Ms Thompson:  If Harold didn't have the copyright, if the copyright didn't sit with Harold, if the copyright sat 

somewhere else or if Harold held the copyright and essentially everyone had a public license to that, Harold 

would always be remembered, celebrated and acknowledged as the creator of that. The protection under the Flags 

Act would ensure that the flag is always used respectfully and with integrity. 

Senator O'SULLIVAN:  He's not engaging in any public debate about this, but he is having private 

discussions, as you pointed to at the beginning. Isn't it his right to do that rather than have his negotiations aired 

out through the public? 

Ms Thompson:  Absolutely. At some point, though, I would expect the public would have to be aware of the 

outcome because of the significance of the flag for everyone who uses it. 

Senator O'SULLIVAN:  When we talk about compulsory acquisition, if we went down that route, what 

would that be doing? What would that be conveying to not only Mr Thomas but also any other Aboriginal artist—

in fact, any other artist who has intellectual property—that just because something becomes significant you might 

actually lose your right over it one day. We hope that every artist, if their product becomes significant— 

Ms Thompson:  I think it's really different because it's a flag. That the government proclaimed it as an official 

flag of Australia really separates it from being any other piece of Aboriginal art. I don't see the flag as a piece of 

art; I see it as an official flag of Australia. 
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Senator O'SULLIVAN:  It is. In fact, the government recognised that in 1995. Ultimately, there is an artwork. 

There's intellectual property that has gone into that. As you've pointed out, because it has been recognised and 

because it does mean so much to Aboriginal people—and I would say, as a non-Indigenous person myself, that it 

means a lot to non-Indigenous people too. I appreciate there's a higher level of significance for Indigenous people. 

Aren't those property rights, though, just because it has become significant, and the consideration of that still 

important for the original artist? 

Ms Thompson:  Absolutely. I think what's so difficult and complex about this case is that Harold has his own 

private right yet it's a national public icon. It's that conflict and the fact that we talk about the flag being part of 

the private Copyright Act but also being part of the Flags Act and flags being the most public assets of any 

country. It's that conflict. I don't have the answer on how you resolve it, but it's certainly that conflict that has us 

in this debate and in this inquiry right now. 

Senator O'SULLIVAN:  Thanks. 

CHAIR:  I understand that some of your questions were also questions that were going to be asked by Senator 

Thorpe. Senator Thorpe doesn't need to ask any more questions. Firstly, to follow some of the questions earlier: 

have you been sent a bill in any way to pay for the use of the flag? 

Ms Thompson:  No, because I was compliant and ceased selling within three days. 

CHAIR:  Thank you for your time this afternoon. I also note you were asked a question on notice by Senator 

Lines about cease-and-desist letters you've received. We have a time frame of 18 September; it's very short. If 

you're able to provide copies of those letters, as you agreed to in your response to Senator Lines, that's the date we 

would appreciate receiving them by, if that's okay, Ms Thompson. 

Ms Thompson:  Yes, no worries. 

CHAIR:  Thank you again for your time this afternoon. I will just point out to senators that we will adjourn for 

a short break and then we'll come back to hear from the Australian Football League. 

Proceedings suspended from 16:00 to 16:14 
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HOSCH, Ms Tanya, General Manager, Inclusion and Social Policy, Australian Football League 

MEADE, Mr Stephen, Head of Legal and Regulatory, Australian Football League 

Evidence was taken via teleconference— 

CHAIR:  I welcome representatives from the Australian Football League: thank you for taking the time to give 

evidence today. Information about parliamentary privilege has been provided to you and is available from the 

secretariat. Would you like to add anything about the capacity in which you're appearing today or to make a brief 

opening statement before we go to questions? 

Ms Hosch:  I'm coming to you from Kaurna land in Adelaide. I'll hand over to Stephen Meade, who will make 

our opening statement. 

Mr Meade:  I'd like to begin by acknowledging the Wurundjeri people, traditional custodians of the land on 

which I make this statement on behalf of the AFL today, and pay my respects to their elders past and present, and 

I extend that respect to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples participating in this hearing, including 

senators. My colleague Tanya Hosch, as she's just noted, joins the hearing from Kaurna land. 

For those of you not familiar with the Australian Football League, it's the national sporting organisation and 

governing body of Australian Football. It organises, conducts, promotes and manages the elite men's competition 

known as the AFL, with 18 clubs, and the AFLW, which is the elite women's competition, that has 14 clubs. 

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people share a long heritage in our game and are known as some of the most 

skilled, exciting and popular players in the AFL and AFLW. 

Over 10 per cent of the players in the AFL competition today are Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander players. 

Australian Football has played a part in positive social change for many people in communities. AFL invests in a 

range of programs, such as leadership and development programs for young Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 

footballers; education and training opportunities; and running football competitions in remote communities. AFL 

recognises that racism on and off the field has a traumatic effect and damaging impacts on Aboriginal and Torres 

Strait Islander people. To combat such acts and ongoing challenges, the AFL has for many years sought to 

highlight and celebrate the extraordinary contribution of past and present Indigenous players and other 

participants in our game. 

Since 2005, the AFL has played annually the Dreamtime at the 'G match between Richmond and Essendon and 

since 2007 has played an Indigenous Round of matches. That round of matches is now named the Sir Doug 

Nicholls Round, in honour of the former player and former Governor of South Australia. Those matches are 

played before massive crowds and incorporate various cultural activities that focus on the contribution of 

Indigenous people to our game and to Australian society more generally. From next year there will be an 

Indigenous round in the AFLW. An important feature of the Sir Doug Nicholls Round and the forthcoming 

AFLW Indigenous Round is and will be the proud demonstration of celebrating the contributions of Aboriginal 

and Torres Strait Islander people across the code at all levels, and this occurs through the prominent display of the 

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander flags on the playing surface of all grounds hosting matches over the round 

and through the clubs donning unique jumpers that feature Indigenous designs that often bear representations of 

the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander flags. The depiction of the Aboriginal flag on the centre circle in 

particular has become closely associated with the Sir Doug Nicholls Round and is fondly regarded by Indigenous 

and non-Indigenous supporters alike. 

The AFL recognises that the Aboriginal flag is a globally recognised symbol of the Aboriginal people of this 

country and their struggle for rights, recognition and respect in this country over many generations. The AFL 

further recognises and respects that Aboriginal artist Harold Thomas is the author of the design of the Aboriginal 

flag and is the owner of the copyright subsisting in that artistic work. The AFL observes that Mr Thomas is 

legally entitled to commercialise the use of the Aboriginal flag, including by requiring persons using the 

Aboriginal flag to pay a fee to him or to persons whom he has granted a licence to. The AFL understands that Mr 

Thomas has currently granted licences in particular to Carroll & Richardson and to WAM Clothing, and we 

understand the committee has heard from representatives of those companies today. 

Having been made aware of those licences, the AFL is committed to not acting contrary to the rights held by 

Mr Thomas and his licensees in relation to the Aboriginal flag copyright. In that regard, the AFL agreed to the 

terms of a commercial licence for the depiction of the Aboriginal flag in the centre circle of grounds hosting 

matches over the 2019 Sir Doug Nicholls round with Carroll & Richardson, who were the relevant licensee at that 

time last year. The AFL previously pursued commercial negotiations with WAM Clothing in relation to the AFL's 

use of the Aboriginal flag on six guernseys for the 2019 Sir Doug Nicholls round. Those negotiations did not 

result in any agreement between the parties and are not actively pursued by either party at the present time. Earlier 
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this year, the AFL initiated discussions with WAM Clothing, which by that time was the relevant licensee, in 

respect of the depiction of the Aboriginal flag in the centre circle of grounds hosting matches over the 2020 Sir 

Doug Nicholls round, which was played in recent weeks. WAM Clothing was amenable to a commercial licence 

on the same terms as previously agreed with Carroll & Richardson in 2019; however, the AFL did not pursue 

those negotiations for reasons that I will come to. 

AFL has agreed that it will purchase all depictions of the Aboriginal flag in flag form from Carroll & 

Richardson Flagworld Pty Ltd. As the Aboriginal flag was proclaimed as a flag of Australia under the Flags Act 

1953, we understand that any person can display the Aboriginal flag in flag form without permission of the 

copyright owner, and the AFL has no concerns or complaints with the arrangements that apply as to the use of the 

Aboriginal flag in flag form. In contrast, the AFL does have concerns with respect to the current situation that 

exists with the use of the Aboriginal flag in other respects—say, on apparel and other items. The AFL is a not-for-

profit organisation and is currently facing financial challenges as a result of the impacts of COVID-19. However, 

in general terms, the AFL is financially able to enter into such arrangements, so long as reasonable commercial 

terms can be agreed to. The AFL is concerned that the commercial terms sought by WAM Clothing with respect 

to the use of the Aboriginal flag by potential users of it may not be reasonable, or may not be affordable by many 

persons in the community, in particular Aboriginal people and enterprises who seek to celebrate their Indigeneity 

through the proud display of the Aboriginal flag in many forms. 

The AFL recognises that, by entering into commercial arrangements with WAM for the use of the Aboriginal 

flag, such arrangements may facilitate the AFL's own use of the Aboriginal flag but may ultimately support the 

general operation of those arrangements and, by doing so, may preclude the use of the Aboriginal flag by many 

persons, in particular Aboriginal people and enterprises. To that end, for the 2020 Sir Doug Nicholls round that 

was played recently, AFL determined not to enter into commercial arrangements with WAM Clothing, so the 

Aboriginal flag was not displayed in the centre circle of grounds hosting matches, and Indigenous jumpers worn 

by the players did not display the Aboriginal flag either. To some extent, the AFL highly regrets this outcome. 

The Aboriginal flag is noted as a source of pride and is of immense symbolic significance to Aboriginal people 

and in the broader community. Its absence, in particular in the centre of the ground, was felt heavily, given that 

the Dreamtime match was, for this year, and for the first time, played in Darwin in front of many Indigenous 

people who would not otherwise have had an opportunity to be present for such a special match. However, the 

AFL took that step in order to draw attention to this situation, with such focus heightened by the involvement of 

most AFL clubs in support of the Free The Flag movement. 

Without a change in present arrangements that apply to the use of the Aboriginal flag, the AFL is concerned 

that there will be ongoing decreased use of the Aboriginal flag. The AFL sadly acknowledges that it will not use 

the Aboriginal flag, other than in flag form, absent a change in these arrangements. AFL welcomes change that 

will facilitate the use of the Aboriginal flag, particularly by Aboriginal people and enterprises, without cost or on 

reasonable terms. Further, the AFL welcomes change that would facilitate non-commercial use of the Aboriginal 

flag—say, the celebration of Aboriginal culture, as occurs in the AFL over the Sir Doug Nicholls round and the 

forthcoming AFL Indigenous round—without cost or on reasonable terms; however, the AFL does not make any 

submission to this committee as to the appropriate means by which such use on those terms can be facilitated. 

That concludes this statement on behalf of the AFL. 

CHAIR:  Thank you, Mr Meade. Just to let you and Ms Hosch know, we do have quite a number of senators 

who'd like to ask questions. Senator Thorpe, over to you. 

Senator THORPE:  My question is: what model of licensing or usage would you see as benefiting the 

Aboriginal community and Aboriginal owned businesses? Second to that: if, hypothetically, the licensing went to 

an Aboriginal community controlled organisation, would the AFL be prepared to pay an Aboriginal community 

controlled organisation for the use? 

Ms Hosch:  Consistent with its processes, the AFL does have an Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander advisory 

council, and it would seek their guidance, direction and advice in relation to considering such a matter. I think if 

an Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander owned entity had the licence, there may well be further consideration. 

But I think that the current view of the council is that, as an official flag of the country, it should be freely 

available to all. 

Senator THORPE:  Thank you. 

Senator DAVEY:  You mentioned that in 2019 you negotiated with the licence holders—and my 

understanding is that in 2019 the licence holders were WAM—for the use of the flag on apparel and for it to be 

printed on the fields, but in 2020 you decided not to negotiate for the use. Can you explain to us what changed 

between 2019 and 2020? 
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Ms Hosch:  I'll hand over to Stephen, in large part, to answer your question. In short, what I can offer is that 

we were made aware of the need to cover the cost of having the flag on the ground very late before those games 

commenced. There was a practical inability for us to remove the flag from the ground, and we also didn't have 

enough time to effectively communicate the sudden change of not having the flag on the ground, under the time 

frame that this was presented to us as an issue. Stephen, I'll hand over to you to talk about the technical issues 

there more fully. 

Mr Meade:  In 2019 the relevant licence for the depiction of the flag in the centre circle of the ground was 

with Carroll & Richardson, and, yes, we did enter into a commercial arrangement with them. In 2019 six of the 

Indigenous jumpers featured a small representation of both the Aboriginal flag and the Torres Strait Islander flag. 

It was in the period after that occurred that we were contacted by WAM Clothing, and we had a number of 

discussions with WAM Clothing with respect to the use of the Aboriginal flag on those jumpers. Those 

discussions have effectively concluded, but there's been no agreement reached as to the terms on which the 

financial compensation would be paid to them as licensee. I just note that, in the current year, none of the 

Indigenous jumpers worn by the 18 clubs for the recent Sir Doug Nicholls Round featured the Aboriginal flag. 

Senator DAVEY:  Yes. On that, I note that there was a report in The Age in which WAM Clothing provided a 

comment that they would have been open to reaching the same agreement, where players could wear the 

Aboriginal flag on their jerseys on the field. I think the question comes in with the merchandising and profit-

making of the clubs from selling those jerseys after the fact. That's where a licence fee may have been applicable. 

Do you have a comment about that? 

Mr Meade:  Only to say that the AFL runs a consolidated intellectual property scheme for the clubs. 

Essentially the AFL owns the intellectual property and controls the merchandise and whatnot that comes with 

that. With the royalty that the AFL receives in respect of the sale of the Indigenous round jumpers, the AFL 

directs 100 per cent of that royalty into Indigenous programs. 

Senator DAVEY:  I know the jerseys that are designed for that round are designed by Indigenous artists. 

They're quite remarkable and very attractive jerseys. As part of your agreements with those artists, do you pay 

them a royalty for the merchandising of those jerseys? 

Mr Meade:  I'm not privy to the specific arrangements we have with those artists, but we can provide that 

answer on notice, if that would assist. 

Senator DAVEY:  Yes, that would be appreciated. 

Mr Meade:  Subject to disclosing the commercial-in-confidence terms of those agreements. 

Senator DAVEY:  I totally appreciate that. We don't need to know the dollar detail or anything like that, just 

whether there is an ongoing licensing arrangement with the individual artists that design the various jerseys. On 

that, and understanding copyright, my understanding is that when the AFL uses other copyrighted material for 

their promotions and game days, such as copyrighted music, you pay copyright licence fees to the copyright 

holders. Is that correct? 

Mr Meade:  Yes, we do. I guess I would observe that the difference here is that, when we are considering 

music, if reasonable commercial terms can't be agreed to we have the option to select a different piece of music or 

other piece of intellectual property. There's not another Aboriginal flag. There are of course other Aboriginal and 

Indigenous symbols and motifs that can be used, but there is only one Aboriginal flag. 

Ms Hosch:  If I may, I would refer back to the advice that we sought from the AFL Aboriginal and Torres 

Strait Islander Advisory Council. They did not want us to repeat in 2020 what we did in 2019 while this issue 

with the free and available use of the Aboriginal flag is not resolved. 

Senator DAVEY:  What would you like to see happen to ensure that we continue to respect the intellectual 

property and the copyright of the artist Harold Thomas while also meeting a desire for free access, use and 

reproduction of his copyrighted product? 

Mr Meade:  We don't make any submission on that matter. That is a difficulty that exists here, and, 

respectfully, we don't have a solution to that. 

Senator DAVEY:  Thank you. 

CHAIR:  Just for your information, Mr Meade and Ms Hosch, answers to questions on notice are due in by 18 

September. I'll go to Senator Lines next. 

Senator LINES:  Welcome, Ms Hosch and Mr Meade. I acknowledge that I am speaking to you from the 

lands of the Wajuk people of the Noongar nation, and I pay my respects to their elders, past and present. Mr 

Meade, you did mention some of the information I am going to ask you about in your opening statement, but I am 
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just after specifics. Since the introduction of the Indigenous round, I think you said it's been normal practice for 

clubs to include an image of the Aboriginal flag in their jumpers. 

Mr Meade:  I think the practice has varied over time. Most recently, in 2019, when last Aboriginal flags were 

displayed, there were six club clubs that wore them, but on other occasions I think there have been more. They 

generally appear on the back of the jumpers. On one side would be the Aboriginal flag, with the Torres Strait 

Islander flag beside it, in a relatively small representation—three centimetres by 2½ centimetres or something to 

that effect. 

Senator LINES:  As you know, Mr Meade, WA is an AFL state, so I'm very familiar with the jumpers! 

Mr Meade:  My apologies. 

Senator LINES:  You mentioned 2019, but, since the introduction of the Indigenous round, has there been a 

year when clubs had jumpers designed that didn't include the flag, that made that decision not to include the flag, 

apart from the references you just made? 

Mr Meade:  I don't know the answer to that question, but I will get that answer for you. 

Senator LINES:  Thank you. I appreciate that. What does the Aboriginal flag mean to the AFL and 

specifically for the significance of the Indigenous round? 

Ms Hosch:  Certainly the AFL understand the importance of the flag to so many of our fans and, increasingly, 

more and more Australians. We're in the very fortunate situation where, for a long time now, the game of AFL, 

the men's game at the elite level, has had the strong contribution and participation of Aboriginal players—around 

10 to 11 per cent. Given that we're 3.3 per cent of the Australian population, to be represented at that level in this 

really large national game for such an extended period of time is significant. I think that has really been what has 

been behind the AFL's understanding and appreciation of the importance of the Aboriginal flag and who it 

represents, and the AFL has obviously wanted to respond appropriately. You will find at AFL House in 

Melbourne that the Australian flag, the Aboriginal flag and the Torres Strait Islander flag fly outside our 

headquarters. You will find it at most of the stadia where we play. Certainly we have communicated to any stadia 

where we play that we expect to see at least the Aboriginal flag flown alongside the Australian flag. It's important 

to us because it's an important symbolic piece of respect for the First Australians and Aboriginal people in 

particular who not just are represented highly in our game but are a very important part of the Australian nation. 

It's our responsibility to demonstrate that we respect and understand that. 

Senator LINES:  I don't know the overall statistics, but I know that West Australian First Nations young men 

are prominent players not only for the West Coast Eagles and the Dockers but across the AFL clubs in general. 

Ms Hosch:  The majority of Aboriginal players have come from Western Australia—absolutely correct. 

Senator LINES:  Really? Wow! 

Ms Hosch:  That is correct. 

Senator LINES:  There you go! What would the consequences be if the AFL were forced to continue to pay 

for the flag? What would it mean for clubs and players if you were to stop using the flag? I know, Ms Hosch, that 

you talked about the importance of it, and I'm really pleased to hear that you've asked that it be flown at stadiums 

that you use, but I wonder if there's anything else you wanted to contribute around that question. 

Ms Hosch:  I think we would continue to seek the counsel of the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander advisory 

council. As Stephen Meade said in our opening statement, even though we were saddened that we couldn't have 

the flag presented on the ground this year in the Sir Doug Nicholls Round, it is very clear that the sentiment of our 

playing group and also of the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander advisory council is that, until the flag is freely 

available to be represented in a number of different forms outside an actual flag itself, we'd probably cease to use 

the flag. We certainly were moved by representations made to us in conversations with players and the advisory 

council that our ability to enter into a licensing agreement could disenfranchise actual Aboriginal people from 

using the flag who are not in the same position, and we don't want to contribute to that situation in any way at all. 

Senator LINES:  And we've certainly heard that today. I think you've kind of answered this question, but do 

you think it's unfair to stop sporting codes using the flag now, particularly as it's been used by so many 

organisations without impediments for decades? 

Ms Hosch:  I think that when you consider how sport can contribute to the social fabric of society, the way that 

sport brings people together and can be unifying for Australians from all different walks of life, and the ability for 

sporting codes to keep reminding our fans and spectators that Aboriginal people are here, always have been and 

always will be, the general symbol of the flag and what it stands for is only a small part of the contributions that I 

hope people understand sport makes to bringing people together and how important it is for us to show the kind of 
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leadership based on the number of eyes and ears that are on our collective sports every weekend. If you look at 

our broadcast numbers and the people who watch our game on television or mobile phones as well as the millions 

of people that come through the gates every year we have a responsibility to be very clear about our respect for 

First Peoples, and the flag is one way that we can demonstrate that. To cease doing that I think could send a very 

confusing signal to many people who are starting to understand what the flag stands for. Certainly I know I still 

get a lot of questions about what the Torres Strait Islander flag stands for by comparison. I think partly because of 

the way the flag has been embraced by many facets of society, including sporting codes, so many Australians are 

much more cognisant of what the flag is and what it stands for. 

Senator LINES:  As you know the government's currently negotiating with the rights holders. If the 

government can't negotiate a solution, do you think it should be compulsorily acquired with consultation? 

Mr Meade:  I don't think we have an answer to that. As Tanya has noted, we'd need to take advice. At the 

moment the AFL has no position on that. 

Senator LINES:  Thank you. 

Senator BRAGG:  I might place on record my appreciation for what the AFL has done over many years in 

support of Indigenous Australians. It's something that I've seen firsthand, and I think you've generally done a good 

job on this. I make that comment as a non-Indigenous person, but I think a lot of your work has been good and 

much appreciated. To put some context on where we are at the moment, I expect the AFL is looking at a loss this 

year; is that right? 

Ms Hosch:  Correct. 

Mr Meade:  Yes, the AFL will suffer quite a significant reduction in revenue this year as a result of the 

COVID impacts on our season. 

Senator BRAGG:  So what sort of a loss are you expecting in broad terms? 

Mr Meade:  I don't have that information today—I can get that for you. 

Senator BRAGG:  I just want to make sure that we've correctly characterised your position. Effectively, you 

sought to use the Aboriginal flag on the grounds and on some apparel as part of the Doug Nicholls round this 

year, as you have in prior years. Effectively, the position of the league was that you were unprepared to pay for 

that under these new arrangements that have been put together. 

Mr Meade:  Just to clarify, in 2019 we did pay for the licence to put the Aboriginal flag in the centre circle. As 

I understand it, WAM, the new licensee, which took over that relevant licence in 2020, was amenable to a licence 

on similar terms for the centre circle Aboriginal flag depiction, but the AFL made a decision to not pursue that 

arrangement for the reason that I outlined in my statement, which is essentially that the AFL is concerned that, 

whilst entering into commercial arrangements with WAM may facilitate our use of the Aboriginal flag, whether 

that be on the centre circle or on jumpers, those arrangements may ultimately prevent other persons—in 

particular, Aboriginal persons and enterprises—from being able to use the Aboriginal flag as they would like and 

to celebrate their Indigeneity. 

Senator BRAGG:  There are two points you are making. I just want to make sure that I'm correctly 

understanding your position. One, you wanted to make a statement that this was not a position that you were 

comfortable with and, two, you didn't want to pay for that arrangement. 

Mr Meade:  I think I would agree with your first statement but not necessarily your second. The AFL is not 

here to say that we can't afford to pay, so long as there are reasonable commercial arrangements. The AFL is 

saying that it has chosen not to enter those commercial arrangements, because we think the consequence of that is 

that others who should be able to use it will not be able to. 

Senator BRAGG:  This is an important point, because, effectively, you've helped bring together, I think, quite 

an important discussion. I think many Australians would be surprised about the legal arrangements that sit behind 

the flag. That's fine; it's a legitimate thing for you to use your position to bring this issue to a head. That is your 

principal objective here; is that right? 

Mr Meade:  I might be repeating myself. I'm sorry if I am. The AFL is not claiming that it can't afford to pay 

or won't pay, provided there can be reasonable commercial arrangements entered into. But the AFL determined 

that it wouldn't, given that it understands the arrangements that are being sought by WAM generally have the 

consequence that people who want to use it, particularly Aboriginal people and enterprises, can't. 

Senator BRAGG:  So you're making a statement. 

Mr Meade:  We've taken a position. Yes, I agree with that. 
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Senator BRAGG:  Effectively, your position is that you don't think that a community organisation like the 

AFL should be captured in an environment where it can't freely use the Aboriginal flag as a significant flag of 

Australia. 

Mr Meade:  Again, whilst it is the AFL, obviously, that is appearing before the tribunal, we're not really just 

talking about the AFL. 

Senator BRAGG:  This is not a tribunal; this is a Senate inquiry. 

Mr Meade:  Sorry; my apologies. 

Senator BRAGG:  We're much nicer here than the tribunal. We won't give you 10 weeks! 

Mr Meade:  Old habits die hard; I apologise. The AFL can afford to pay licence fees, so long as commercial 

and reasonable arrangements are entered into. But we've determined not to here, for the reasons that I've 

explained. 

Ms Hosch:  May I add something to that, Senator? 

Senator BRAGG:  Yes. 

Ms Hosch:  This position we've taken was informed by great council in consideration of the Aboriginal and 

Torres Strait Islander Advisory Council and also taking into account the views of Aboriginal and Torres Strait 

Islander players, who felt that an entity such as the AFL entering into a licence agreement would disenfranchise 

other people. So it's not really about freeing the flag for our purposes; it's about not contributing to making it 

harder for others to reach that outcome, given that the entity of the AFL would be seen to be validating a process 

that could actively disenfranchise others and we didn't want to participate in that. The fact that this issue came to 

so much public attention in our Sir Doug Nicholls Round was not by our design, but because of the number of 

eyes on what we do it captured a lot more attention. Our intention was to celebrate the contribution of Aboriginal 

and Torres Strait Islander peoples to the game of Australian rules football and to celebrate Sydney Jackson, who 

was our honouree for 2020. Beyond that, it was to see some cracking good football. That was our intention for the 

Sir Doug Nicholls Round. 

Senator BRAGG:  I think you've done a good job in highlighting this important issue. My last question is a bit 

of a summary. The straw man, if you like, that's been put to this committee today by various witnesses is that it 

would be wholly desirable if this significant flag of Aboriginal Australia, and Australia more broadly, would be 

made available to all organisations, including organisations like the Australian Football League, for broad use 

with the protections of the Australian flag. Effectively, it would be giving it the same legal status as the Australian 

flag—although I note that it already is sitting in the Flags Act of sorts. That is the straw man that's been put to this 

committee today. Does that sound reasonable to you? 

Mr Meade:  The position the AFL supports is one whereby people, in particular, Aboriginal people and 

enterprises, can use the flag on reasonable terms. It may be those reasonable terms being without cost. So, yes, 

that's consistent with the position we're putting. 

CHAIR:  Could I just note, Ms Hosch, you mentioned your Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander council a 

couple of times. For the benefit of the Senate committee, if we're able to get a list of your council advisers, given 

they're obviously very influential in the decisions that the AFL has made, especially more recently. 

Ms Hosch:  Certainly. 

CHAIR:  Thank you. Again, just to repeat that 18 September is our time line for any outstanding questions or 

further information you may like to provide. I take this opportunity as well just to thank the AFL for the game in 

the Northern Territory on Larrakia country. It was outstanding for the people of the Northern Territory to have it 

up there, despite some of the obvious concerns that we're discussing today. It was a wonderful event—I hear. 

Unfortunately, I couldn't make it—I was covering the election at the time—but I certainly heard some very good 

feedback. 

Ms Hosch:  We missed you. 

CHAIR:  On that note, thank you both very much. We will proceed to our next witnesses.  
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GRIGGS, Mr Ray, Chief Executive Officer, National Indigenous Australians Agency  

JACOMB, Mr Brendan, Branch Manager, Legal Services Branch, National Indigenous Australians 

Agency  

LEWIS, Mr David, General Counsel, Constitutional, Attorney-General's Department 

[16:54] 

CHAIR:  Welcome. We're going to start a bit earlier, and I think you're all here. That's good. Good to see you, 

Mr Griggs, instead of on the telephone, on teleconferences. I'll just go through the formalities for our Senate 

select committee. Thank you for taking the time to give evidence today. Information about parliamentary 

privilege has been provided to you and is available from the secretariat. I remind senators and witnesses that the 

Senate has resolved that an officer of a department of the Commonwealth or of a state or territory shall not be 

asked to give opinions on matters of policy and shall be given reasonable opportunity to refer questions asked of 

the officer to superior officers or to a minister. This resolution prohibits only questions asking for opinions on 

matters of policy and does not preclude questions asking for explanations of policies or factual questions about 

when and how policies were adopted. I invite you, if you would like, to make a brief opening statement before we 

go to questions. 

Mr Griggs:  Dhawura nguna dhawura Ngoonawal. Yanggu ngalamanyin dhunimanyin, Ngoonawalwari 

dhawurawari Dindi wanggiralidjinyin. This is Ngunawal country and today we are all meeting on Ngunawal 

country. We acknowledge and pay our respects to elders, and can I extend that respect to all Aboriginal and 

Torres Strait Islander senators and witnesses appearing before the inquiry. 

As you are aware, Chair, this morning the Minister for Indigenous Australians made a claim of public interest 

immunity in relation to the conduct of and approach to the negotiations underway to revolve the divisiveness 

around the Aboriginal flag. This claim has been made to ensure there is the highest possibility of resolving this 

matter in a timely, fair and reasonable manner, which will result in the flag being able to be used more freely and 

in a way that not only respects the artist of the flag, Mr Harold Thomas, and those with legitimate commercial 

interests but also takes into account the broader public interest matters that both senators and witnesses have 

raised today. That is the resolution we are seeking to achieve. 

These negotiations are delicate, sensitive and, as we've heard this morning and throughout the day, complex. 

The NIAA is acutely aware of the sensitivity and complexity surrounding this issue in both the Aboriginal and 

broader Australian community. The importance of the flag as a unifying symbol for Aboriginal Australians and 

more broadly in the community is the position that all parties seek to preserve. 

These negotiations are based on goodwill and trust. The minister has made a particular point relating to the 

importance of upholding Mr Thomas's rights and desires in relation to this matter. I can assure the committee and 

those witnesses who have expressed concerns around this today that Mr Harold Thomas is central to these 

negotiations. 

At this point, there is exceptional goodwill and trust being displayed. This must be preserved if we are to reach 

an outcome that will achieve the aim. Confidentiality around these discussions has been a consistent and 

understandable desire for Mr Thomas throughout. The NIAA believes ventilating details of negotiations and 

discussions in the public domain at this time has the real potential to jeopardise the outcome that I think we all 

seek. 

Can I just clarify something that was mentioned in earlier evidence, about the notion that ATSIC at some point 

acquired the rights to the flag. At no stage did ATSIC acquire the rights to the flag. It did enter into a licence 

agreement in 2001 for non-commercial use by ATSIC of the flag. 

CHAIR:  Are you able to table that document? 

Mr Griggs:  We can. We did table it last year at estimates, but we will table it again. 

CHAIR:  If you could, thank you, Mr Griggs. It will be helpful for the current senators on this committee. I 

will go to Senator Dodson, and then go to other senators for further questions. 

Senator DODSON:  Good afternoon. I have a couple of questions for the Attorney-General's Department. Mr 

Lewis, has the Attorney-General's Department been requested to provide advice on the government acquiring the 

Aboriginal flag? 

Mr Lewis:  As you would be aware, Senator Dodson, the usual position of the legal advisers to government is 

that they shouldn't disclose, including to committees, where they've provided legal advice on a confidential basis 

to clients. Indeed, it would be up to the relevant agencies who have sought advice to decide whether or not to 
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disclose that advice. So, unfortunately, I'm not in a position to say whether advice has been sought of us about 

compulsorily acquiring interests in Mr Thomas's copyright in the Aboriginal flag. 

Senator DODSON:  Are you able to provide any advice as to which minister may have made such a request? 

Mr Lewis:  If there had been such a request, I think that the duty of confidentiality would extend to keeping 

confidential who had requested that advice; so no, unfortunately. 

Senator DODSON: And what about any suggestion as to when it might have been requested, if such advice 

was requested? 

Mr Lewis:  Again, if we'd been requested to provide advice, I wouldn't ordinarily be able to disclose when 

we'd provided that advice. I can say, if it's of any assistance, that the Attorney-General's Department hasn't itself 

sought any advice. And that might sound like a little bit of an odd point, but, for example, sometimes the 

Attorney-General's Department might seek advice from the Australian Government Solicitor in relation to a 

matter. And, if we had sought that advice, we would usually be able to disclose the fact that we'd sought it, 

although not the content of that advice. And we haven't sought any of that advice. 

Senator DODSON:  What steps did the Commonwealth take after the Federal Court decision in April 1997 

that decided Mr Thomas owned the copyright of the Aboriginal flag? 

Mr Lewis:  I'm sorry, Senator Dodson, I'm not aware of what, if any, steps the Commonwealth took after that 

decision of the Federal Court. It may well be, if the Commonwealth did take any steps, that it wouldn't necessarily 

have been the Attorney-General's Department who would have taken those steps. It might have been a 

predecessor of NIAA, or it might have been some other agency. But I'm not aware of any particular steps that the 

Commonwealth took in relation to the copyright in the flag. 

Mr Griggs:  I think I can assist a little bit. 

Senator DODSON:  Yes, that would be helpful. 

Mr Griggs:  There were three what I'd consider actions that were taken following the court case. In June 1998 

the Commonwealth entered into an agreement with Mr Thomas for a sum of money which remains a confidential 

amount, and that was to discharge all of its past copyright obligations to Mr Thomas—that is, from 1971 through 

to 1998. ATSIC also entered into a deed in April 1999 for all of its past use of the flag. And then at the end of 

2001 Mr Thomas executed a licence with ATSIC—it was a non-exclusive, worldwide licence to reproduce the 

flag design for any non-commercial use by ATSIC or any of its bodies. So they were the three, I think what you 

would call actions, that flowed as a result of the 1997 case. 

Senator DODSON:  Could you just walk me through the last one, in 2001? 

Mr Griggs:  The April 1999 agreement was the ATSIC one for past use—prior to the case. And then there was 

an agreement struck in December 2001 for a non-exclusive worldwide licence to reproduce the flag design for 

any non-commercial use by ATSIC or any of its representative bodies. That's the one we just tabled. 

Senator DODSON:  Those agreements have fallen inept now that ATSIC is no longer about, I presume? 

Mr Jacomb:  In relation to the last licence agreement, 17 December 2001, which was the one given to 

ATSIC—the non-commercial use of the Aboriginal flag for the purposes of ATSIC's functions—I think there is 

potentially some argument that it may still have some effect. It would be limited to the functions that you might 

say were done by ATSIC, which are now done by the NIAA. We take the view that we don't rely on it. Mr Griggs 

read out clause 2, which is that reference to ATSIC and the regional councils established by the Aboriginal and 

Torres Strait Islander Act and any bodies of elected Indigenous representatives that may succeed them. There is 

some argument, but our position is that we don't rely on that licence. 

Senator DODSON:  I take it that there have been discussions with Mr Thomas or his agents taking place? 

Mr Griggs:  That's correct. 

Senator DODSON:  And I think you outlined your aspirations for what the government hopes to achieve, 

earlier. When and where have those discussions been taking place? 

Mr Griggs:  They've been taking place since the middle of last year, at various times and locations. It's been an 

ongoing discussion, particularly with Mr Thomas. 

Senator DODSON:  Okay. Can you add anything further to the purpose of those meetings? 

Mr Griggs:  The purpose of the discussions has always been to understand Mr Thomas's position, because the 

minister, I think, has made it clear on a number of occasions that the government respects, above everything in 

this, Mr Thomas's rights and does not want to do anything that would adversely impact on his rights. That's why I 

made the point earlier that he's central to these negotiations. 
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Senator DODSON:  Have you had any meetings with WAM? 

Mr Griggs:  Yes, we have. 

Senator DODSON:  How many meetings have you had with them? 

Mr Griggs:  A number. We've met them in conjunction with other licence holders as well as separately. 

Senator DODSON:  What other licence holders? 

Mr Griggs:  The three licence holders that appeared today: WAM, Gifts Mate, and Flagworld. 

Senator DODSON:  Has there been any resolution from those discussions with either one of them? 

Mr Griggs:  Our negotiations are ongoing, and, as I said earlier, they remain confidential, particularly at the 

request of Mr Thomas. I'd prefer not to go any further than that. 

Senator DODSON:  Is there any terminus to these discussions? Do you have some sort of time frame within 

which you hope there could be some resolution? 

Mr Griggs:  As soon as is practical. I can't give you a more definitive answer than that. These are a fairly 

unique set of discussions and negotiations. There is no clear time frame, other than the desire by all parties to, 

frankly, resolve this as soon as possible. 

Senator DODSON:  Thank you. 

CHAIR:  Can I just ask, along with those questions: have there been any meetings with community 

organisations as part of this process, Mr Griggs, or with individuals other than the ones you've mentioned? 

Mr Griggs:  Not at this stage. We've focused on understanding Mr Thomas's desire and how he wants to 

proceed with this process, and that's the way we're doing it. 

CHAIR:  Thank you. I'll go to Senator Thorpe. 

Senator THORPE:  My questions are around consultation. Has the government already consulted, or will the 

government consult in future, with the Aboriginal community as part of your negotiations? 

Mr Griggs:  Thanks, Senator, and congratulations on your appointment. 

Senator THORPE:  Thank you. 

Mr Griggs:  As I just said, our primary focus to date has been to understand Mr Thomas's position and to 

conduct the negotiations in accordance with his wishes. So at this point in time there has not been broader 

consultation. But, of course, we are very highly attuned to the feedback that is clearly coming from right across 

both the Aboriginal community and the broader Australian community, as evidenced by a number of witnesses 

today. 

Senator THORPE:  Thank you for your answer. As a follow-up to that: would the government consider 

having community controlled Aboriginal organisations participate in the management of the flag? 

Mr Griggs:  I think that really does depend on Mr Thomas's position. He clearly has to have some influence on 

how he wants to see this managed going forward. 

Senator THORPE:  Given Aboriginal people also see this flag as a representation of Indigenous sovereignty, 

does the government also see this as a representation? 

Mr Griggs:  The government sees the flag as a unifying flag for Aboriginal people. The government 

acknowledges it is a flag that represents struggle, that represents the fight against racism and discrimination, but it 

also recognises it as a unifying symbol for the broader community. 

Senator THORPE:  Just going back to that question around sovereignty, a lot of Aboriginal people, 

community people, also see that flag as a form of sovereignty. Does the government share that notion? 

Mr Griggs:  I understand the question, and my previous answer stands. 

Senator THORPE:  My final question is: what are the goals of these discussions and negotiations for the 

government? Does the government have any interest in owning the Aboriginal flag? 

Mr Griggs:  The government's interest is to end the divisiveness around this issue—that's the primary 

objective—and, as I articulated in the opening statement, to enable the flag to be used more freely in a way that 

respects Harold, respects the legitimate commercial interests, and takes into account those broader public interest 

issues that a number of witnesses have raised today. Nothing we heard today has gone outside of what we were 

thinking and what we were hearing from across the country, in terms of where our objectives are, and we think 

they're very much aligned. 

CHAIR:  Senator O'Sullivan. 
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Senator O'SULLIVAN:  Mr Griggs, thank you for your time. I want to go back over a few of the answers 

you've given just so I've got them very clear. I'm not wanting you necessarily to repeat all you've said; I just want 

to make sure I've got it clear. Did you say that you have been negotiating with Mr Thomas for over 12 months? Is 

there a date that you commenced negotiations? 

Mr Griggs:  The minister met with Mr Thomas, I think, in June of last year. I can get you the exact date—

there was a press release the minister put out following the meeting. 

Senator O'SULLIVAN:  So it was circa June 2019. The AFL Indigenous Round was, I think, originally 

scheduled for March of this year, but due to COVID it was postponed and occurred sometime in August. Has 

anything changed as a result of the increased awareness of the issue by the public? Has that advanced the 

discussions at all? Obviously, there's much more public awareness of it, but did that change anything to do with 

the government's interest in pursuing this course? 

Mr Griggs:  Not particularly. We have been engaged pretty steadily since mid-last year. During the early part 

of the COVID pandemic, we didn't stop working on the issue but it obviously went on the back-burner a little bit. 

But I think— 

Senator O'SULLIVAN:  Is that due to COVID and the focus on other things? 

Mr Griggs:  Yes, we were focused on other issues in the agency. I think you're right: certainly, the AFL 

position has brought a much greater public awareness and brought that to the fore. But it hasn't changed what the 

government's objectives were or the process that we were going through. We were stepping through a process 

which, obviously, I'd prefer not to go into the details of, but it has been an ongoing process. It didn't stop and then 

only restart because of the AFL. 

Senator O'SULLIVAN:  And is that then the same for the establishment of this committee and this process 

that we're going through now? 

Mr Griggs:  Yes; well, the— 

Senator O'SULLIVAN:  It's the same answer? 

Mr Griggs:  The process was under way before the committee was formed. 

Senator O'SULLIVAN:  What was it that prompted the discussion with Mr Thomas and other stakeholders? 

Mr Griggs:  I think it was, if you recall, mid-last year there was a fair bit of media at the time around Spark 

Health—and there's Ms Thompson's evidence that she gave today—and the minister wanted to reach out to 

Harold so that he could understand what Harold's position was, because he felt it was important that Harold's 

position was central to any action that the government might take. 

Senator O'SULLIVAN:  There's been a view expressed today by a number of witnesses that they really want 

to make sure that Harold's views are really taken into account and that he is respected. From what we can tell 

through the public domain and through some of the answers given here now, he's chosen to do that very privately 

with the NIAA and also with the minister. Respecting his wish to deal with it in a private way, what's the 

government's view on that? 

Mr Griggs:  Well, I think if you take the view that if it was—and I'm not saying it is, because it isn't—any 

other copyright matter, it would inherently be done privately. This isn't just any copyright matter. It's a far more 

complex issue than that. But Mr Thomas is a fairly private person, and has been for many years. And I think it's in 

keeping with his nature that he wants to be able to make his decision based on how he sees things going, rather 

than having a decision made for him in the court of public opinion. 

Senator LINES:  Mr Griggs, you have said a couple of times in answers to questions from senators that you 

are seeking to understand, and want to understand, the wishes of Mr Thomas. Do you think you now understand 

Mr Thomas's wishes, given that you've had a number of meetings since June of last year? 

Mr Griggs:  Yes, we do. 

Senator LINES:  In answer to some questions from other senators, you indicated to us that you'd met with the 

licence holders who have appeared before the Senate committee today. Can you send us, on notice, everyone that 

you've met with in relation to this matter? 

Mr Griggs:  I'll take that on notice and see what I can do, in relation to the PII claim. 

Senator LINES:  You've indicated that you've met with the licence holders. Have you met with other groups 

or individuals? 

Mr Griggs:  No. As I said to, I think, Senator McCarthy earlier, our focus has been on conducting these 

negotiations in accordance with Harold's wishes. At the moment, that hasn't involved any broader consultation. 
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Senator LINES:  When I asked you to send us a list of who you'd met with, what are you claiming you need to 

check, on the PII claim, given that you've told us who you've met with today? 

Mr Griggs:  I don't anticipate an issue but I just want to check, that's all. 

Senator LINES:  Given that you've met a number of times with Mr Thomas and others, are you close to a 

resolution on this issue? 

Mr Griggs:  As I said earlier, I don't want to put time lines or time frames on this. This is a fairly unique 

situation to work through, and we are working through it— 

Senator LINES:  Yes, and we certainly appreciate— 

Mr Griggs:  but we are acutely aware of the public interest and the desire for this to be resolved as quickly as 

possible. 

Senator LINES:  Perhaps if I put it another way. You've indicated to a number of senators, in relation to 

questions, that you understand Mr Thomas's wishes. Given that you understand Mr Thomas's wishes, are you 

closer to a resolution now than you were in June of last year? 

Mr Griggs:  Yes, I think that follows—that, if we understand his position, we're working on a process towards 

that position. 

Senator LINES:  Do you think you're going to have a final position shortly, even though I appreciate you don't 

want to put a time frame around that? 

Mr Griggs:  I just can't put a time frame. I can't, I'm sorry. 

Senator LINES:  That's fine. I want to go back—I think Mr Lewis—to an answer in response to a question 

asked by Senator Dodson. Senator Dodson asked if the A-G's office had been asked to provide advice to ministers 

or the government about acquiring the flag. What was your answer, in relation to that question? 

Mr Lewis:  My answer was that, in accordance with the usual practice of the government's legal advisers, we 

don't disclose when we've provided advice to our clients. It's up to an agency who's asked for advice to decide 

what to disclose about the advice that they've sought. 

Senator LINES:  I'm asking you: has the A-G's office been asked to provide advice to government about the 

flag issue? I'm not asking you to describe the advice. On what basis are you claiming you can't answer that 

question? 

Mr Lewis:  I'm just referring to the usual position of a legal adviser, that legal advice is provided in 

confidence, and it's usually the client's confidence to decide whether to disclose whether advice has been 

provided. 

Senator LINES:  I'm asking you: as the A-G's office, have you been asked to provide advice? You're not being 

very clear about why you can't answer that question. I'm asking you, as a witness at this hearing from the A-G's 

office, if you've been asked to provide advice. I'm simply asking for a yes or no. 

Mr Lewis:  I'm indicating to you that, in accordance with the usual position of the government's legal advisers, 

it's up to the recipient of the legal advice to disclose whether they've sought advice rather than— 

Senator LINES:  Mr Lewis, I'm not interested in the usual position. I've asked you a question—either you're 

saying it's privileged or I think you're required to answer that question. You haven't given me a sufficient answer 

as to why you can't answer that question. I'm not asking for the legal advice. I'm simply asking if you've been 

asked, as the A-G's office, for that advice. It's a yes or no answer unless you think it goes to the issue of privileged 

advice, and you haven't claimed that. 

Mr Lewis:  If it would assist, I could take that on notice and see if I can provide an answer, or, if advice has 

been sought, whether someone wants to make it a PII claim. 

Senator LINES:  If you will, I think that's a cop-out. I'm asking you a process question, not a content question. 

I'm simply asking you if you have been asked, as the A-G's office, to provide advice. It's a process question. I 

have not asked you for content and nor did Senator Dodson. I can't see why you can't answer that today. 

Mr Lewis:  Chair, I think I'm just repeating myself if I provide the same answer again. I don't feel I'm able to 

provide anything more by way of response to that question. 

CHAIR:  Okay. Senator Lines— 

Senator LINES:  I've just got one more follow-up question. So that I'm clear, Mr Lewis, what are you 

claiming is the reason that you can't answer my question on process today? 
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Mr Lewis:  Just that the usual position of a legal adviser, as reflected in the government guidelines for official 

witnesses before committees, is that advisers don't disclose whether they provide advice to a client; it's up to a 

client to disclose whether they have sought advice. But I can take that question on notice for you. 

Senator LINES:  Sure. You've taken it on notice. Thank you. 

CHAIR:  Mr Lewis, you have until 18 September to respond, if there's further information you can provide to 

the committee. 

Senator STOKER:  I have a couple of questions. There have been some comparisons made in the course of 

today between the difficulties surrounding community ownership of the Aboriginal flag as compared to the 

arrangements in place for the Torres Strait Islander flag. Can you say something to us about the history of the 

Torres Strait Islander flag that can help us understand why its position is different today? 

Mr Griggs:  I'm not deep expert on the Torres Strait Islander flag. My understanding is that it came about as a 

result of a competition. It was not just created, as Mr Thomas created the flag. It was a competition for a purpose. 

On notice, I'll get you the chronology. It went to one of the bodies in the Torres Strait and then it went to the 

Torres Strait Island Regional Council, who currently administer the Torres Strait Islander flag. Of course, the 

Torres Strait Island Regional Council is the creation of a Queensland government act, under the local government 

system in Queensland. But it is an Indigenous council. 

Senator STOKER:  But, a bit like the Australian national flag, it was the product of a competition for it to be 

designed by the people who were to have ownership of it, and there was an opportunity to set the terms and 

conditions about how it could be used and who would hold the rights around it at the time of its creation. Broadly 

speaking, is that true to say? 

Mr Griggs:  I think that's accurate. I will make sure that is accurate and get back to you on notice.  

Senator STOKER:  And that stands it in stark contrast to a flag that has emerged almost as an evolution of a 

particular artwork's success?  

Mr Griggs:  I think they are very different circumstances, because obviously the copyright issue with the 

Aboriginal flag is vested in an individual, not in a body, as it is in Torres Strait. 

Senator STOKER:  We've had a number of witnesses today speak to what they'd like to see, in practical 

terms, without necessarily having an appreciation of the significance of the private property rights of an artist in 

circumstances where that art touches so closely upon something of great cultural significance. In trying to 

reconcile those matters in the negotiations that are taking place, has the question of compulsory acquisition of the 

intellectual property associated with the Aboriginal flag been an option on the table? 

Mr Griggs:  That would go to the substance of the PII claim, so I would respectfully decline to answer that. 

Senator STOKER:  I'll frame it one more way before I give up. Has the NIAA been instructed by the minister 

to look at compulsory acquisition as an option for resolving this matter? 

Mr Griggs:  I'll give you the same answer, Senator. 

Senator STOKER:  Okay. Thank you very much. Chair, that's all from me. 

CHAIR:  Thank you, Senator Stoker. I think you asked my question there. Mr Griggs, could I just check on a 

couple of your responses. If you don't get an outcome, what consideration is given to that possibility? 

Mr Griggs:  I don't really want to enter into a hypothetical around that, because clearly that could impact on 

the negotiation. 

CHAIR:  Mr Griggs, has anyone in your agency or any of the agencies discussed the possibility of another 

flag? 

Mr Griggs:  No. Obviously I have been watching social media and that sort of traffic, but no. 

CHAIR:  Okay. There are no further questions from senators, so I will take this opportunity to thank each of 

you from the agencies that you represent for appearing here this afternoon.  

I now seek a motion from a member of the committee to accept any tabled documents from the day's 

proceedings. Thank you, Senator Davey. That concludes today's proceedings. The committee has agreed that 

answers to questions taken on notice at today's hearing should be returned by Friday 18 September 2020. I thank 

all witnesses for their evidence today. I also thank Hansard, Broadcasting and the secretariat. I declare the hearing 

today adjourned. 

Committee adjourned at 17:33 
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